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Transformative year

The Australian Museum (AM) has had a transformative 
year building on the past and looking boldly towards the 
future. The Annual Report outlines an impressive year of 
science and research, cultural engagement and learning 
activities that celebrates the AM’s extraordinary 190 years 
strengthening the AM’s reputation for the future. 

To mark the 190th milestone, one of the year’s highlights 
was undoubtedly the opening of the Westpac Long 
Gallery following a $9 million refurbishment. This 
significant infrastructure project was supported by the 
NSW Government, Westpac and the Australian Museum 
Foundation and was opened by NSW Premier, the Hon 
Gladys Berejiklian MP, in October 2017. The magnificently 
restored, historic gallery unveiled the new permanent 
exhibition 200 Treasures of the Australian Museum 
featuring 100 objects and 100 people that have influenced 
the Museum, nation and region and reveals their 
unexpected stories. In 2018 the restoration was publicly 
recognised receiving awards for heritage conservation 
at the NSW Architecture Awards and the National Trust 
Heritage Awards. 

Strategic science

With the mission of being a valued global leader in 
scientific discovery and conservation, the Australian 
Museum Research Institute (AMRI) launched their 2017-
2021 Science Strategy, a vision that underpins all AMRI 
research activities and aims to improve the value and 
impact of Australian Museum science. 

This year AMRI scientists described 123 new species – an 
incredible achievement given AMRI’s relative size to major 
international scientific institutions. 

As part of the 190th celebrations, the AM’s Centre 
for Citizen Science also launched its national flagship 
initiative, FrogID, which aims to understand Australia’s 
national frog health and distribution. 

Engaging exhibitions 

Nearly 150,000 visitors experienced the magnificent 
Mammoths – Giants of the Ice Age exhibition that featured 
the 42,000-year-old baby mammoth, Lyuba, from Siberia. 
The exhibition from the Field Museum in Chicago also 
featured interactive games and life-size models that 
proved extremely popular with visitors. 

The Level 1 gallery hosted two wonderful exhibitions: 
Australian Geographic Nature Photographer of the Year 
featuring over 100 stunning photographs showcasing 
nature throughout our region; and Gadi, the ground-
breaking, community-led exhibition telling the story of 
Sydney through the eyes of Gadigal people. Gadi was the 
centre piece for Weave: Festival of Aboriginal and Pacific 
Cultures. Through a series of exhibitions, talks, workshops 
and drop-in activities, visitors joined respected Elders, 
talented artisans and community groups to engage in 
unique and significant cultural experiences.  

Education and learning

The AM continues to deliver educator-led school programs 
in alignment with the Australian curriculum. The AM 
connected with over 177,000 school students and teachers 
in 2017-18, inspiring an interest in STEAM learning, 
natural history and culture through a variety of outreach 
programs, onsite education workshops and the annual 
Sydney Science Festival. 

President’s report
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Appreciation for the Museum community

The many achievements of this year can be attributed 
to the passion and dedication of the AM community. 
I would like to thank Australian Museum Members for 
their support throughout the year and the significant 
contribution of AM volunteers, who are growing in number 
each year.

I particularly would like to thank the NSW Government 
for their continued support of the Australian Museum, 
particularly in light of the $50.5 million cultural 
infrastructure investment announced by Minister for Arts, 
the Hon Don Harwin MLC and NSW Treasurer, the Hon 
Dominic Perrottet MP in June 2018. The investment will 
see the AM significantly expand its public spaces, building 
new touring exhibition halls, education and learning 
facilities and important public amenity improvements.  

The AM’s significant role as an iconic and ground-breaking 
scientific and cultural institution for NSW is in large part 
due to the dedication of staff, past and present. Under  
the leadership of Kim McKay AO and the executive 
leadership team, the focus on building international 
recognition, enhancing the visitor experience and 
delivering immersive and engaging programs has 
continued to increase visitation and lay a strong 
foundation for future development. 

The Chairs and Trustees of the Australian Museum 
Foundation (AMF) and the Lizard Island Reef Research 
Foundation (LIRRF) continue to notably support the AM’s 
scientific research, collection acquisitions, education 
programs and cultural connections. I particularly want to 
thank their respective chairmen, Diccon Loxton and David 
Shannon. Through our foundations, our donor base and 
corporate partnerships continue to grow. 

I would finally like to thank my fellow Trustees. Their 
enthusiasm and commitment are invaluable as the 
Museum heads towards unprecedented transformation 
through the delivery of the Master Plan.

David Armstrong 
President, Australian Museum Trust

The year’s highlight was undoubtedly the 
opening of the Westpac Long Gallery.
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Future building

It’s been another year at the Australian Museum (AM)  
filled with new science discoveries, exciting exhibitions, 
engaging education and enticing programming. We are 
consistently improving our visitor experience both onsite 
and across the state, around Australia and the world.  
The work undertaken during the past year has built  
upon our stellar international reputation in museum 
research science, providing a strong foundation for  
our future development. 

The ongoing transformation of the AM was highlighted 
with the opening of the Westpac Long Gallery and 200 
Treasures of the Australian Museum exhibition, in October 
2017, marking the milestone of the AM’s 190th year and 
our major partner Westpac’s 200th anniversary. The 
award-winning restoration of Australia’s first gallery 
and extraordinary showcase of treasures continues to 
receive both critical and public acclaim, with visitors 
flocking to see the AM’s rich scientific and cultural objects 
and specimens from around the world. The permanent 
exhibition also features 100 people who have helped 
shape the nation, bringing the stories of many unsung 
heroes along with those we know well, to the fore. 
Immersive layers of programming and digital content in 
the gallery encourage deeper engagement and help reveal 
many previously hidden stories. The AM will continue to 
build on this experience in the Westpac Long Gallery, 
encouraging audiences to re-visit this culturally significant 
‘must see’ gallery.

Master Plan

The announcement in June 2018 of the NSW Government’s 
support of a $50.5 million cultural infrastructure grant 
to expand the AM’s touring exhibition halls, educational 
facilities and public amenities was a significant 
achievement for the AM. This first stage of the AM’s 
Master Plan, known as ‘Project Discover’, will deliver a new 
experience for visitors, ensuring world-class exhibition 
spaces for Australia’s premier city.

The funding enables the Australian Museum to repurpose 
existing storage space to significantly expand the touring 
exhibition halls to 1500m² across two levels – allowing 
the AM to host either one big blockbuster or two major 
exhibitions simultaneously.

As well as the transformed exhibition spaces, the 
refurbishment will also create new education facilities, 
enabling school student visitors to double to 100,000 a 
year, and space for a new museum shop, café, member’s 
lounge and other amenities. To cater for the increased 
number of visitors, the Australian Museum’s award-
winning Crystal Hall entrance will be further extended 
along the William Street façade.

These upgrades will be completed by 2021 in time to 
host the first of many major international blockbuster 
exhibitions. Tutankhamun: Treasures of the Golden 
Pharaoh – the largest and most impressive Tutankhamun 
exhibition to ever leave Egypt, is exclusive to Sydney, the 
fifth city of a 10-city world tour to mark the centenary of 
the discovery of Tutankhamun’s tomb in 1922 by British 
archaeologist Howard Carter.

Visitation 

Visitation to the AM continued to increase even though 
some galleries were closed for restoration. Over 473,000 
people visited the AM in 2017–18 with a further 462,000 
people directly engaged with AM touring exhibitions and 
education and cultural outreach programs. 

Since the Kids Free initiative was launched in 2015 the 
AM is well on track to exceed the State Priority target of 
increasing visitation by 15% by 2019. The increases are 
also attributed to improved visitor amenity, high-quality 
exhibitions and a rise in international tourism especially 
from China. 

Director & CEO’s report
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Citizen Science 

Through its commitment to science, education and 
communication, the AM is ideally placed to design and 
deliver ground-breaking citizen science programs. The 
Australian Museum Centre for Citizen Science currently 
oversees a number of programs that address challenges 
from ocean warming to bird habitat and adaptation. The 
programs support the scientific mission of the AM and 
we were delighted to launch the new flagship citizen 
science initiative FrogID in November 2017. FrogID is 
a national citizen science project that is helping us to 
learn more about what is happening to Australia’s frogs. 
Using smartphone technology, our citizen scientists 
record frog calls, “audio dna” that provides data about 
frog populations around the nation. With the support 
of IBM and an Inspiring Australia grant, we are learning 
how different frog species are responding to a changing 
environment – information that is crucial to saving 
Australia’s frogs. Download the free FrogID app now – it’s 
also great fun!

The DigiVol citizen science project continues to play 
a critical role in making the AM collections accessible 
to everyone. Driven by an army of volunteers, the AM’s 
natural science and cultural collection of over 21 million 
specimens and objects is being painstakingly digitised, for 
future generations. 

Outreach

While we have many AM-created exhibitions touring NSW, 
Australia and North America, one I’m passionate about 
is the Scott Sisters – a stunningly beautiful collection of 
the scientific illustrations of Harriet and Helena Scott 
who worked with the AM in the 1860’s and 1870’s. Their 
detailed, scientifically accurate depictions of moths and 
butterflies not only toured NSW, but were also reproduced 
as prints through the Fairfax Store, with the proceeds 

funding a scholarship for two young science illustrators 
at Newcastle University. One of the winners, Samantha 
Bayly used the scholarship to continue her studies and has 
now been commissioned to illustrate a children’s book on 
Australia’s animals. I know Harriet and Helena Scott would 
be incredibly proud of her achievements, as am I.

Thanks

Working at the AM is a privilege and each day I learn 
something knew – mostly from our dedicated and 
skilled staff whose knowledge about the natural 
world and cultures knows no bounds. The Australian 
Museum Research Institute has some of the leading 
research scientists, curators, collections managers and 
conservators in the nation; our exhibitions, programming 
and education teams push boundaries and achieve 
remarkable outputs under many constraints; while 
our marketing, communications and development and 
partnerships teams help communicate the AM’s message 
to our audiences and raise much-needed funds. Those 
who work in administration pull their weight too – whether 
in finance, building services, security or people and 
culture – we have a team working towards a common goal 
– to deliver the best museum experience in Australia and 
our region.

Caring for the collections should never be underestimated 
– the value of these collections to the nation and the 
world is extraordinary as they help define who we are. 
We were reminded of the irreplaceable value of museum 
collections recently when the devastating fire at the Museu 
Nationale in Rio de Janeiro destroyed some 200 years of 
collecting and hundreds of thousands of years of history 
of the South American continent. Our team at the AM 
works diligently to protect and conserve our 21 million 
objects and specimens – the largest collection in the 
Southern Hemisphere.

Over 473,000 people visited the AM in 2017-18 
with a further 462,000 people engaged with 
AM touring exhibitions and education and 
cultural outreach programs.
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We have a renewed executive leadership team and 
I cannot thank them enough for their dedication, 
professionalism and support and look forward to working 
with them and our entire AM team on the transformation 
challenges ahead.

Our staff are backed by the remarkable efforts of some 
700 volunteers – these dedicated, passionate and skilled 
people contribute so much of their time and energy to 
the AM – whether as guides on the floor of the museum or 
assisting with collections.

This past year has also seen a change of leadership in the 
AM Trust. Catherine Livingstone AO, who was President 
of the Trust since 2012 stepped down after having made 
a lasting contribution to the AM’s future. Catherine’s 
leadership of the AM’s first stage transformation provided 
all of us with inspiration and a clear focus on our goals. I 
cannot thank her enough for her service to the AM and 
STEM education and the support she has provided to me 
during my first years at the helm of this extraordinary 
museum. Our new AM Trust President David Armstrong 
has served on the Trust for the past 4 ½ years and brings a 
lifetime of business leadership and finance experience to 
the AM.  

His commitment to the AM’s future development is rock-
solid and he had brought new perspectives to the AM Trust 
– a group of 11 people who give their time and expertise 
freely to benefit the AM and NSW. Their support of the AM 
is inestimable.

Adequate funding is always a challenge for a cultural 
and science institution like the Australian Museum and 
I am very grateful for the support of the AM Foundation 
led by Diccon Loxton and its generous and committed 
Foundation board members, as well as the Lizard Island 
Reef Research Foundation led by David Shannon and his 
team of enthusiastic and dedicated trustees. 

Which brings me to the role of the NSW Government and 
our Minister for the Arts, Hon Don Harwin MLC. Every time 
we’ve brought an idea or need forward, the Department of 
Environment and Planning and our Minister have heard us 
out and supported us in so many ways – both financially 
and with sound advice. Securing the new Project Discover 
transformation funding was supported by the Premier, the 
Treasurer and our Minister and I sincerely thank them for 
their commitment to the Australian Museum’s future to 
build an improved Museum for the city, state and  
our nation.

Kim McKay AO  
Director & CEO
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Restoration work of a Sunfish (Mola tecta) specimen. Photograph by Stuart Humphreys
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Financial summary

Figure 1.1  
Sources of revenue , 2017-18 ($ million)

Figure 1.2 
Sources of self-generated revenue 2017-18 ($ million)

The Australian Museum (AM) is principally funded by the 
NSW Government and strives to achieve a balance of 
revenue from government, philanthropic and commercial 
sources. Total revenue in 2017-18 was $43.0 million, which 
is $0.1 million less than the prior year.  
Total revenue comprised:

 · NSW Government grants of $27.2 million ($27.1 million  
in 2016-17), incorporating capital grants of $4.0 million 
($3.3 million in 2016-17); and 

 · Self-generated revenues of $15.8 million ($14.1 million  
in 2016-17), a decrease of $0.2 million or 1% despite  
from increased visitation, donations and greater  
research activity.

These results show that the Australian Museum self-
generated 37% of its total revenue for the financial year 
(37% in 2016-17).
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Expenses

The AM has experienced considerable pressure on salaries 
and other expenses during the year. The AM successfully 
filled a number of vacancies that existed during 2016-
17 and continues to operate within the Workforce plan 
developed in 2015. Other expenses have increased in line 
with expectations associated with increased visitations, 
scientific activities, and the creation of new exhibitions.

Financial Position

The AM’s financial position was considerably strengthened 
during the year by the revaluation of the Collections asset, 
which resulted in an increase in value of $284 million. 

Cash Flows

The AM’s cash flows show a significant improvement on 
prior years. This outcome has been driven by revenue 
improvements and additional NSW Government grants 
received during the year.
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Highlights & snapshots

students engaged with AM  
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fish images verified 1900 species in the AM led, Australasian 
Fishes citizen science project
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125,
people engaged with AM cultural outreach programs

000

41,736
School students
visited the AM

engaged with an AM exhibition  
or educational program

 
PEOPLE

..?..

..!..

935,000people visited an AM  
touring exhibition in  

Australia or overseas

000
++++++

 

326,
objects in the AM collection
MILLION
21.924,000
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grant funded research projects
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Model of a Funerary Boat, on display in the Westpac Long Gallery. Photograph by Stuart Humphreys
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The Australian Museum’s (AM) mission is to make nature, 
indigenous cultures and science accessible and relevant. 

The Museum is a dynamic source of scientific information 
and a touchstone for informed debate about some of the 
most pressing environmental and social challenges facing 
our region: the loss of biodiversity, a changing climate and 
the search for cultural identity.

Underpinning the research is an irreplaceable collection 
of international standing – with 21 million objects 
representing a timeline of the environmental and cultural 
histories of Australia and our region.

The Corporate Strategic Plan 2017-2020 (CSP) is directly 
connected to our mission with several flagship projects 
launched this year. Under each of the seven key strategic 
areas the objectives and timeframes are on track after the 
first year of implementation. The CSP also aligns with the 
Master Plan work that will deliver a world-class Museum to 
the people of NSW and beyond.

This page: Details of the Kipuka cape displayed  
in the Westpac Long Gallery. Photograph by Abram Powell

Facing Page (Clockwise): An owl from the Collection Cases on Level 1 
of the Long Gallery. Photograph by Abram Powell.

Children exploring the Dinosaur gallery.  
Photograph by Daniel Boud.

Lifting the lid on facts in the First Australians gallery.  
Photograph by Daniel Boud.

Visitors exploring Wild Planet.  
Photograph by Daniel Boud.

Corporate  
Strategic Plan
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At the end of 2015, the AM announced a comprehensive 
Master Plan, an overarching vision for the AM’s 
transformation to deliver a world class natural history  
and cultural museum for NSW. The Master Plan progressed 
through Infrastructure NSW’s Gateway process and in 
June 2018, the NSW Government announced a cultural 
infrastructure grant of $50.5M for the redevelopment  
of existing storage space. The Australian Museum’s 
extraordinary collection establishes it as one the world’s 
great museums, but the AM has been held back by the 
restrictions of its existing floor space and the ability  
to host large-scale international blockbuster exhibitions 
for Sydney. 

Named, “Project Discover”, this game-changing capital 
infrastructure project will enable the Australian Museum 
to repurpose existing storage space to significantly 
expand the touring exhibition halls to 1500 square metres 
across two levels – allowing the AM to host either one big 
blockbuster or two exhibitions simultaneously.

Master Plan –
Project Discover

As well as the transformed exhibition spaces, the 
refurbishment will also create new education facilities, 
enabling school student visitors to double to 100,000 a 
year, and space for a new museum shop and café and other 
amenities. To cater for the increased number of visitors, 
the Australian Museum’s award-winning Crystal Hall 
entrance will be further extended along the William Street 
façade.

The first exhibition to open in the new facility will the 
exclusive blockbuster exhibition, Tutankhamun: Treasures 
of the Golden Pharaoh – the largest and most impressive 
Tutankhamun exhibition to ever leave Egypt. Opening in 
early 2021 for a six-month run, the Australian Museum 
will be the fifth city to host the exhibition, part of a 10-
city world tour to mark the centenary of the discovery 
of Tutankhamun’s tomb in 1922 by British archaeologist 
Howard Carter. The expanded touring exhibition halls 
will be able to accommodate more than 800,000 visitors 
during a blockbuster the size and scale of Tutankhamun. 
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Below: Artist impression of the AM’s William St façade at the completion of Project Discover.



Below: Museum Visitors enjoying the First Australians Gallery. Photography by Daniel Boud
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A new era for  
Australian Museum science
An exciting new chapter for Australian Museum (AM) 
science began as the Australian Museum Research 
Institute (AMRI’s) 2017-2021 Science Strategy was launched 
following its’ endorsement by the AM Trust and AMRI 
Science Advisory Board. Guiding research priorities for 
the next four years at the Museum, the Science Strategy 
outlines the vision for AMRI to be a valued global leader 
in scientific discovery and conservation with the goals of 
increasing the impact and value of AM science through the 
development of flagship initiatives.

Through this vision, AMRI’s goal is to anticipate and 
position the AM to answer major scientific questions by 
drawing on our knowledge from the past. This will be 
done through ongoing maintenance, and protection and 
development of the collection, by providing access for 
high-quality and high-impact science and community 
engagement, and by developing community knowledge of 
and engagement with science.

AM science is channeled through a multidisciplinary, 
cloud-based structure that will drive research and 
collection excellence and public engagement at the AM. 

The Science Clouds are: 

• Contemporary discovery, 

• Impacts of change, 

• Supporting Australian industry; and 

• Cultural connections 

AM science and research infrastructure, proven leadership 
in citizen science, research expeditions, external 
partnerships and talent management will act as  
support in striving towards these goals.

Right: Butterfly images from the John Landy Lepidoptera Collection, 
donated to the Australian Museum
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Flagship initiatives and world-class collection

Multidisciplinary scientific expeditions were a prominent 
feature for AMRI in 2017-18. Members of our Ichthyology, 
Malacology and Marine Invertebrates teams embarked 
on a voyage of discovery to survey and sample marine 
life on remote islands of the South Pacific. Terrestrial 
Vertebrates and Ichthyology staff members visited Coolah 
Tops to sample an area of NSW that has been historically 
poorly collected. The AM is a partner in the Australian 
Government’s Bush Blitz project, this year undertaking 
an expedition that surveyed reptiles, frogs, insects and 
molluscs of Mungo National Park – all adding important 
content to the AM collection.

Scientific discoveries from the 2017 Lord Howe Island (LHI) 
expedition, are still emerging as researchers at the AM and 
around the world work through the material collected. The 
first scientific results of this 2017 expedition have been 
published in a special issue of the Technical Reports of the 
Australian Museum (online). 

“Vanessa” the female Lord Howe Island Phasmid (LHIP) 
brought back from Balls Pyramid, laid 135 eggs at 
Melbourne Zoo as part of the captive breeding program. 
With the LHI rat eradication project planned for 2019, the 
knowledge obtained from the 2017 expedition regarding 
the LHIP population distribution on Balls Pyramid will be 
crucial to plans to reintroduce the LHIP to LHI after the 
rats eradication.

The comprehensive count of the AM collection in 2017-18 
saw total specimen numbers increase to over 20 million 
specimens, confirming the AM’s position as the largest 
and most extensive natural history collection in the nation 
and a significant element of research infrastructure for 
the Australian scientific community. Separate to the 
total count, last year the AM’s Frozen Tissue Collection 
exceeded 85,000 specimens stored within the Australian 
Centre for Wildlife Genomics - 80°C biobank freezers. 
The Frozen Tissue Collection represents the Australian 
Museum’s “frozen ark” for innovative conservation and 
discovery-based research led by generations of Australian 
and international scientists. In addition, the AM was the 
only southern hemisphere museum invited to participate 
in the ‘One World’ collections initiative, which looks to 
measure global natural history collections.

Scientific discovery in our own backyard

In November 2017, the AM launched its pioneering flagship 
citizen science project, FrogID. In its first nine months, 
FrogID has generated over 24,000 recordings of frog calls 
from 161 species thanks to enthusiastic citizen scientists 
and experts identifying the data they have collected. It is 
the hoped that data generated from this project will assist 
in the conservation of highly vulnerable Australian frog 
species. FrogID has been an outstanding example of the 

collaborative capacity of the AM, with partners  
including Inspiring Australia, IBM Australia, Bunnings  
and Fyna Foods.

Further, Australasian Fishes, the online, citizen science-
driven observational recording hub (a website for citizens 
to contribute fish observations) continues it’s strong 
success in engaging the public with fish records and 
identifications. In less than two years, the iNaturalist-
based website has seen 33,000 observations uploaded by 
over 1,100 people and has resulted in over 200 discoveries 
that include significant range extensions, recording of fish 
species new to Australian waters as well as possible new 
fish species.

Top: The Australian Musuem expidition to survey marine life in remote 
islands and reefs surrounding Fiji, Tonga, New Caledonia and Vanuatu, 
including places few scientists have ever ventured before.

The voyage funded by AMRI and the AM Foundation built on previous 
work recording the area’s biodiversity and determining the influence 
of oceanic currents on the biological connectivity across the  
South Pacific. Photography by Mark McGrouther.
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Recognising scientific excellence 

The 2017-18 AMRI Lifetime Achievement Award was 
awarded to the AM research team, led by Dr Harry Recher,  
who contributed to the 1971 Lord Howe Island 
Environmental Survey that led to the island being  
listed as a UNESCO World Heritage site.

The 2017-18 AMRI Medal, awarded annually as part of the 
Australian Museum Eureka Prizes, was presented to Dr 
Anne Hoggett and Dr Lyle Vail, Directors of the Australian 
Museum’s Lizard Island Research Station.

Not only was AMRI accepted as an affiliate member of 
Science and Technology Australia (STA), esteemed AMRI 
Director, Dr Rebecca Johnson, was named one of STA’s 
’30 Superstars of STEM’, a highly prestigious award that 
recognises women in STEM who have made significant 
contribution to their fields and actively engage in inspiring 
and developing young science, technology, engineering 
and mathematics students.

Above: Dr Anne Hoggett of the Lizard Island Research Station accepts 
the AMRI medal. Photograph Brendon Thorne/Getty Images

Below: Australian Museum and Frog ID staff joined with Bunnings for 
the launch of our frog pond partnership at Camdenville Public School 
in Newtown. Photograph by Nick Langley 
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Engaging  
Audiences
Cultural Connections

The 2017-18 year established the debut of the Weave: 
Festival of Aboriginal and Pacific Cultures, a series of 
workshops, talks and cultural engagements with speakers, 
performers and artisans to celebrate the Indigenous 
cultures of our region. 

One of the highlights of the Festival was Gadi, an exhibition 
telling the stories of the Gadigal people and the territory 
on which Sydney stands through their perspectivesz  
and narratives.

The project was built upon consultation with the 
community and featured a nawi (canoe) built within the 
gallery by Elders. Supported by the Australian Museum 
Foundation, the exhibition and the month of cultural 
events received extremely positive reviews from the 
media and visitors and its most important audience: the 
Aboriginal people living in the Sydney area. The Museum 
looks forward to building on this success with more 
exhibitions and programs that reflect the importance of 
the AM’s cultural commitment. 

Connecting Indigenous people with their cultural objects 
was a strong focus for the cultural team. Both the Pacific 
and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander collections saw 
a marked increase in community and VIP visits, along 
with visits by artists and researchers. The Archaeology 
Collection was the source of particular interest as it is now 
open again for research after several years of quiescence. 

The Pacific Collection team spent time in Papua New 
Guinea, working with communities in preparation for 
a major exhibition on body adornment. A set of newly-
commissioned works have been created and will come to 
the Museum next year.

Above: Launch of Weave: Festival of Aboriginal & Pacific Culture in the 
GADI exhibition March 2018. The GADI exhibition was co curated with 
Aboriginal community and explored the land of the Gadigal people, 
the area now known as the Sydney basin.

Right: The highlight of the exhibit was the on-site weaving of a grass 
nawi (canoe). The exhibition was curated in consultation with Gadigal 
community. Photography by Barbara McGrady.

Over 473,000 people visited the AM in 2017-18 
with a further 452,000 people engaged with 
AM touring exhibitions and education and 
cultural outreach programs.
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Improved Learning Environment

The AM’s education programs provided inspiring learning 
experiences for over 177,000 students and teachers 
in 2017-18. New educational strategies were rolled 
out, significant upgrades were made to Kidspace and 
Search & Discover benefitting both family groups and 
schoolchildren. New student groups were welcomed 
to the Museum, including an increased number of 
children with special needs. The Museum’s focus on 
accessibility has allowed the Education team to include 
bespoke programs for children with autism and children 
of refugees. The AM’s education outreach programs 
including Museum in a Box, Biota study days and Science 
on the Road continue to provide regional teachers with 
important educational resources. 

Engaging audiences home and abroad

Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age was the major exhibition 
of 2017-18 and welcomed almost 175,000 visitors to the 
AM in its extended run. A phenomenal success, featuring 
the Siberian baby wooly mammoth, Lyuba, it performed 
equally well across all school holidays and during  
school terms.

Spiders: Fear & Fascination exhibition had its debut, at 
the Royal Ontario Museum in Canada in June. It now 
accompanies the AM’s other exhibition, Tyrannosaurs: 
Meet The Family also touring across North America to 
critical acclaim. A domestic version of Spiders developed 
in partnership with Questacon began touring Australia in 
February 2018 and Transformations: Art of the Scott Sisters 
exhibition toured Australia, to great notices and visitor 
numbers. The AM also engaged with a new audience in its 
partnership with Stocklands Group travelling T-Rex on Tour 
and Supercroc on Tour through shopping malls across New 
South Wales and Queensland. 

Right: Highlights from the Adorned 
Jewellery making workshop. Photography 
by Daniel Boud
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The Programming division has continued to increase 
audiences across 2017-18. A sold-out Seniors Day, and an 
increased Aboriginal cultural program saw new local and 
international visitors engage with the AM. Young adult 
visitors continue to flock to the AM for Jurassic Lounge 
and the new HumanNature talk series, while thousands 
of families have enjoyed the engaging school holidays 
programs throughout the year. 

Immersive digital technology

All exhibitions produced by the AM have a strong digital 
and interactive elements woven through them to ensure 
audiences have a deep and immersive experience while 
learning. Integrated into the visitor experience is the 
re-development of the AM website launching in late 2018. 
The website will provide an extension to learning before, 
during and after a visit to the AM.

Left: Students come face to face with the 42,000 year old baby 
Mammoth Lyuba in Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age exhibition. 
Photograph by Peter Rae.

Below: Visitors to the Westpac Long Gallery explore the entanglement  
cabinets and the interactive displays. Photograph by James Horan



Mahiole Wicker Helmet on display in the Westpac Long Gallery. Photograph by Stuart Humphreys
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Australian Museum  
Research Institute
Highlights

 · The Australian Museum Research Institute’s (AMRI) 
2017-2021 Science Strategy was developed and 
commenced implementation in late 2017. This strategy 
outlines AMRI’s Science vision for the future including 
biodiversity discovery, understanding the impacts of 
change, supporting Australian industry and celebrating 
and understanding cultural diversity.

 · The Australian Museum’s national citizen science 
project FrogID was launched in November 2017 receiving 
national media attention and enthusiastic support from 
the public. Within the first eight months, FrogID has 
resulted in over 24,000 recordings of frog calls from 161 
species providing our scientists with valuable data for 
the protection and conservation of frogs.

 · More than 33,000 fish observation records of over 1900 
species have been uploaded to the Australasian Fishes 
citizen science project providing an important dataset 
of Australia’s fish distribution and biodiversity.

 · Two new joint appointment positions were established: 
a Palaeontology curator with the AM and University of 
NSW and an Ichthyology curator with the AM and Curtin 
University, in Perth.

 · The AM’s Materials Conservation team moved into AMRI 
in September 2017.

 · A comprehensive count of the natural science collection 
using a statistically robust methodology (using a 
stratification approach across AMRI Collections). The 
natural science collection is now estimated to number 
approximately 20 million specimens.

 · Terrestrial Vertebrates and Ichthyology Collection 
staff members embarked on an expedition to Coolah 
Tops, NSW in May 2018, generously supported by AM 
Foundation donors, Mary Holt and the late Dr John Holt.

This year, AMRI scientists and affiliated 
researchers authored 187 publications  
and described 123 new species.

 · Significant collection donations included a second 
magnificent collection of international butterfly 
specimens by Mr John Landy AC CVO MBE.

 · The Lizard Island Research Station (LIRS) supported 
174 research personnel, resulting in more than 120 
publications based on research conducted at LIRS on 
the Great Barrier Reef.

 · AMRI became an affiliate member of Science and 
Technology Australia.

 · The AMRI Lifetime Achievement Award was presented 
to the AM research team, led by Dr Harry Recher, who 
contributed to the 1971 Lord Howe Island Environmental 
Survey which led to the island being listed as a UNESCO 
World Heritage site.

 · The AMRI Medal was awarded to Dr Anne Hoggett and Dr 
Lyle Vail, Directors of the Lizard Island Research Station

Above: A specimen inside the Australian Museum Store at the Museum Discovery 
Centre in Castle Hill. Photograph by Abram Powell.
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Strategic Science at the Australian Museum

2017-18 has been a significant year for the AMRI. In late 
2017, the new 2017-2021 AMRI Science Strategy was 
endorsed by the Science Advisory Board and AM Trust. 
With the mission of ‘being a valued global leader in 
scientific discovery and conservation’ the AMRI Science 
Strategy outlines the AM’s science vision and underpins 
all AMRI research activities. Its aim is to improve the value 
and impact of AMRI science through four ‘Science Clouds’: 

 · Contemporary discovery;

 · Impacts of change; 

 · Supporting Australian industry; and 

 · Cultural connections. 

These Science Clouds will be achieved through individual 
research projects and via the development of flagship 
science initiatives. 

While AMRI remains at the forefront of pioneering 
achievements in Australian and global science, the key 
challenge of developing externally funded projects 
remains. Finding solutions to this continues to be a focus 
to ensure AMRI’s research excellence into the future.

Improving our scientific value and impact 

It was another outstanding year of scientific discovery 
for AMRI, with 123 new species described and 187 
publications, 169 of which were peer-reviewed papers 
published in academic journals. 

Of these 123 new species, discoveries included 
the Golden-mantled Tree-kangaroo (Dendrolagus 
pulcherrimus) and Seri’s Tree-kangaroo (Dendrolagus 
stellarum) both from Papua New Guinea; an Asian Horned 
Frog (Megophrys kuatunensis) from Southeast Asia; a 
Mantis Shrimp (Raoulserenea moorea) from French 
Polynesia and a wide representation of polychaete sea 
worms from across the globe, including from deep-sea 
hydrothermal vents, and invasive sea worms from Thailand 
and South Africa.

AMRI continues to play an important role in assisting the 
public and media with identifying Australian species and 
answering natural history enquiries. AMRI received 1120 
identification requests over the past 12 months.

In 2017-18, attention was focused on methodology and 
implementation for accurately counting the AM collection. 
AMRI lead a Council of Australian Museum Directors 
(CAMD) working group to establish a national valuation 
framework, obtaining an accurate count of natural 
history objects and participating as the only museum in 

the southern hemisphere in the ‘One World’ collections 
initiative, which aims to qualify and quantify global natural 
history collections and staff that research them.

As a result of the collections count in 2017-18, the AM 
estimated the natural science collection to total more 
than 20 million specimens.

The AMRI collection, the largest and most comprehensive 
in Australia and the southern hemisphere, continues 
to serve the Australian and international research 
community. In 2017-18, visiting researchers spent the 
equivalent of 499 person days in the AMRI collections.

Collection and laboratory tours, hosted by AMRI staff, 
provided behind-the-scenes insight into the AMRI 
collections to 230 groups.

New technology has been employed to undertake 
skeletonisation of a 3m long Short-fin Mako shark (Isurus 
oxyrinchus) that was donated to the AM by the NSW 
Department of Primary Industries in 2017. The initial CT 
scan of the shark at the University of Sydney provided 
comprehensive internal and external morphology of the 
specimen. Interestingly, this included a sting ray spine 
and a long-line fishing hook. Experts have been employed 
to undertake the painstaking process of preparing the 
cartilage-based skeletal frame of the fish, which will 
appear on public display in the AM in the future.

Staff from AMRI’s Mammal Collection published the first 
catalogue of mammal type specimens in the collection 
since Gerard Krefft’s list of 1864. This is an invaluable tool 
for researchers wishing to use the AM collection. Type 
specimens, which form a reference point for described 
species, continue to play a key role in the process of new 
species discovery at the AM.

Two interesting specimens were prepared in the Mammal 
Collection in 2017-18, a Sumatran Tiger (Panthera tigris 
sumatrae) and a South American Tapir (Tapirus terrestris). 
They were documented, skinned and taxidermied for 
display as mounted specimens. 

A second large donation of exquisite butterflies made 
by Mr John Landy AC CVO MBE included international 
specimens adding to his previous donation in 2016-17. A 
Diprotodon (Diprotodon optatum) specimen was donated 
by former AM Director, Professor Mike Archer. In addition, 
geoscience also added important fossilised otoliths (fish 
ear bones) from the central west region of NSW.

The Federal Department of Environment and Energy 
donated a large quantity of seized illegal wildlife items, 
including carved orangutan skulls, babirusa skulls, 
ivory and many other seized objects which will provide 
invaluable reference and training materials for the wildlife 
forensic work of AMRI.
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The impacts of our ever-changing environment continue 
to capture AMRI researchers’ attention. A species of 
box jellyfish (Morbakka fenneri) was discovered by our 
Marine Invertebrates team in Lake Macquarie, just north 
of Sydney, as part of the study to document the range 
extension of the upside-down jellyfish (Cassiopea sp.)

AMRI has also been supporting industry, with scientists 
taking part in a faunal assessment of debris recovered 
from MH370, the Malaysian Airlines aircraft that 
disappeared during a flight between Kuala Lumpur 
and Beijing, China in March 2014. Analysis of marine 
invertebrates on the surface of the flaperon portion of an 
aircraft wing found on Reunion Islands has contributed to 
knowledge about the movement of the debris while in the 
ocean and where the flight may have ended.

The AM’s Australian Centre for Wildlife Genomics (ACWG) 
expanded on conservation-based research with the 
establishment of several new research projects. This 
included two studies underpinning the impact of invasive 
animals across Australia, with one study focusing on the 
predatory impact of feral cats and foxes and another that 
will provide knowledge on the genetic diversity of the 
prolific Red-eared Slider turtle. Throughout the year the 
ACWG has additionally cooperated with government and 
industry partners with its continued work on curbing the 
illegal wildlife trade through genetic testing of wildlife 
seizures and mitigating flight risk from wildlife airstrike. 

The ACWG also teamed up with wildlife forensics labs 
around the world to develop a new database to promote 
improved forensic standards. Recently published work 
by AMRI researchers promotes this standard by outlining 
the development of a forensic-quality DNA reference 
database for use in wildlife forensic identifications. 
This database will be available to all wildlife forensic 
laboratories around the world and useful in promoting 
standardisation in the fight against illegal wildlife crime.

AMRI continues to play a significant role in bringing culture 
and science together to inform conservation change in 
some of the most environmentally vulnerable areas in the 
region. Entomology Collection staff have been involved in 
training biosecurity officials in Papua New Guinea (PNG) in 
order to educate them on invertebrate pests that threaten 
agriculture. AMRI Archaeologists have facilitated the 
repatriation of culturally significant obsidian stone tools to 
the communities, from which they were originally taken. 
The same researchers have also developed a technique to 
copy the tools in order to continue to study them following 
repatriation.

AMRI’s work with the Kwaio community on the island of 
Malaita in the Solomon Islands also continues.  Kwaio 
representatives joined AMRI staff for a workshop at the AM 
in November 2017 to discuss the continuing project aimed 

at finding the endemic monkey-faced bat (Pteralopex sp.) 
and giant rat (Solomys sp.) and achieving the sustainable 
management of large conservation areas in the region.

Exploring our world

AMRI scientists continue to explore all corners of the 
Asia-Pacific region in search of new discoveries. Members 
of our Ichthyology, Malacology and Marine Invertebrates 
teams embarked on a voyage of discovery to survey and 
sample marine life in remote islands and reefs surrounding 
Fiji, Tonga, New Caledonia and Vanuatu, including places 
few scientists have studied before. Our Terrestrial 
Vertebrates and Ichthyology groups embarked on an 
expedition to Coolah Tops, NSW. The field trip, generously 
supported by AM Foundation donors Mary Holt and the 
late Dr John Holt, included poorly surveyed species from 
the region, including the Large Forest Bat (Vespadelus 
darlingtoni) and reptiles such as the Eastern Three-
toed Slider (Hemiergis talbingoensis) and Weasel Skink 
(Saproscincus mustelinus).

This year’s NSW Bush Blitz was based in the 1100km2 
Mungo National Park. Despite the cool weather, a 
total of 20 reptile species, one species of frog, as well 
as dragonflies, molluscs and spiders were located. A 
highlight of the trip was finding a sizable population of the 
threatened Jewelled Gecko (Strophurus elderi), which has 
been listed as vulnerable in NSW due to habitat clearing, 
fire impacts and feral predators. Understanding the 
diversity and distribution of reptiles and other fauna at 
Mungo National Park helps to inform planning decisions 
that will protect the natural value of the unique and 
beautiful landscape.

Some of AMRI’s Marine Invertebrate and Malacology staff 
also joined other Australian researchers on board the 
CSIRO vessel R/V Investigator in 2017, sampling seldom-
seen marine animals from the abyssal (deep underwater) 
plains of eastern Australia.

Building a better future through partnerships

AMRI is working closely with Macquarie University in the 
CT-scanning and 3D printing of “Eric” the opalised pliosaur 
currently on display in the AM’s Westpac Long Gallery 
as part of 200 Treasures of the Australian Museum. This 
partnership forms part of an existing collaboration which 
aims to scan significant specimens to improve access to 
the AM collection. 

The joint appointment program between UNSW (20%) 
and the AM (80%) continues, with two staff members 
now jointly appointed between the institutions as well as 
an additional position between the AM (70%) and Curtin 
University (30%).
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The AM and the Atlas of Living Australia continued their 
long and fruitful partnership with the DigiVol project. 
DigiVol is a world leading platform for institutions to 
combine the efforts of many volunteers to digitise their 
collections and data. More than 40 institutions from 
across the world have used DigiVol for transcription 
and image classification of their collections. This year 
DigiVol welcomed 11 new institutions including: Saving Our 
Species (NSW Office of Environment and Heritage); Sydney 
University’s Nicholson Museum; Natural History Museum 
London; New York Botanical Garden; Rewilding Australia; 
Royal Botanic Gardens Edinburgh; City of Parramatta 
Council; ACT Parks and Conservation Service; Queensland 
State Archives; Libraries Tasmania and the Natural History 
Museum of Utah. Together the AM and these institutions 
have provided 616 new projects to citizen scientists 
from more than 100 countries. In addition, a number of 
collaborative projects were initiated with universities 
and government agencies which will further enhance the 
capacity for DigiVol’s Wildlife Spotter project to engage 
citizen scientists in capturing biodiversity data from 
wildlife camera trap images.  

A collaborative citizen science project between the 
AM, Sydney’s Royal Botanic Gardens, and University 
of Sydney continues to research Sulphur-crested 
Cockatoos, working with a community of citizen scientists 
as part of the Wingtags project. This project enters a 
new phase, collaborating with the Max Planck Institute 
for Ornithology, Germany, to supervise a PhD student 
researching how cockatoos learn, solve problems, and 
share their knowledge. Answering these questions helps us 
understand how cockatoos are adapting to, and thriving in 
the urban environment

Creating a science nation

The Australian Museum Centre for Citizen Science 
(AMCCS) is a leader in citizen science nationally and 
internationally with a suite of innovative and engaging 
projects that are enabling everyone to contribute to 
Australian science. 

The AM’s flagship citizen science project FrogID was 
successfully launched in November 2017 thanks to 
support from an Inspiring Australia grant and IBM 
Australia. Using smartphone technology, the FrogID app 
allows the community to submit frog calls to the AM for 
identification, which are then used by scientists to map 
Australia’s frog species and better understand the impacts 
of our changing environment. The FrogID app has been 
downloaded by over 50,000 citizen scientists from across 
Australia who have recorded over 24,000 verified frogs. 
With 161 species now recorded this represents more 
than two thirds of Australia’s recorded frog species. Early 
2018 saw two additional corporate partners come on 
board, with Bunnings supporting the schools outreach 
program, providing materials to build 300 frog ponds in 
schools across Australia, and Fyna Foods rebranding their 
Bushmates chocolate frog range to FrogID. FrogID has also 
partnered with other leading natural science museums 
around Australia. The first national FrogID Week will take 
place in November 2018, encouraging communities to 
record frog calls, giving AMRI scientists a nationwide 
snapshot of the status of frogs.

Since launching online less than two years ago, 
Australasian Fishes citizen science project has seen 
33,000 observations uploaded by over 1100 participants 
and has resulted in over 200 discoveries that include 
significant range extensions, recording of fish species new 
to Australian waters as well as possible new fish species.

The DigiVol citizen science project harnesses the 
volunteer community to digitise the collections of the 
Australian Museum and other collections from around 
the world ensuring the collections are discoverable and 
accessible online. The two components of DigiVol are 
the onsite DigiVol Lab and the online website DigiVol.
org, supported by over 3000 volunteers. It is the world’s 
leading collection transcription platform. 

This year DigiVol citizen scientists completed imaging of 
the Malacology dry specimens and commenced digitising 
the Palaeontology Collection. Using a high-resolution 
camera DigiVol citizen scientists imaged the collection 
of butterflies donated by John Landy AC CVO MBE and 
specimens from the Marine Invertebrates and Entomology 
collections.

In 2017-18 DigiVol acquired the popular Wildlife Spotter 
project, a citizen science project to catalogue camera-
trap images originally created by ABC Science. Wildlife 
Spotter aims to develop a sustainable platform which 

Below: Dr Jodi Rowley with the FrogID app a national  
frog identification project. Photograph by Jay Dykes
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enables “wildlife spotters” to continue contributing to 
research that saves threatened species and preserves 
Australia’s wildlife. This year, Wildlife Spotter has had 973 
volunteers participate in identifying animal species in 
308,557 images.

In 2017-18 AMCCS continued as host institution for the 
Australian Centre for Citizen Science Association (ACSA). 
The AM hosted WeDigBio (Worldwide Engagement for 
Digitization of Biocollections), a global transcription 
event held over four days in October 2017. The event 
was organised through collaboration with the AM’s 
DigiVol project, the Smithsonian Institution and the 
USA digitisation project iDigBio (Integrated Digitized 
Biocollections).

Strengthening global access

The AM’s collection of 21 million objects and specimens 
is the largest in the southern hemisphere. In order to 
protect, preserve and provide access to the collections, 
the AM has embarked on an ambitious digitisation effort. 
With over 2 million natural science specimens currently 
digitised (see Table 3.1), providing digital access to all our 
collections, particularly Entomology, which is the largest 
collection, remains a significant task. 

The DigiVol project is the AM’s primary means of digitising 
its collections. In 2017-18 the DigiVol Lab imaged 50,752 
specimens and objects and 39,054 paper-based archives. 
Collections captured included Malacology, Palaeontology, 
Marine Invertebrates and Entomology. Not all images 
captured in the DigiVol Lab require transcribing but those 
that do are uploaded to DigiVol Online. In 2017-18 DigiVol 
Online citizen scientists transcribed 83,257 tasks of AM 
specimen labels and archival materials.

As a result of DigiVol and the efforts of collection staff 
over 112,000 new records were uploaded into the KE EMu 
collection database management system in 2017-18 (see 
Table 3.2)

Table 3.1
Digital data of the AM natural science collection by department

Department
Catalogue 

Records
Multimedia 

Records

Anthropology 132,986 112,297

Arachnology 126,571 12

Archives 83,121 96,917

Entomology 398,298 136,753

Frozen collection 49,589 97

Herpetology 197,666 2446

Ichthyology 214,040 19,066

Marine Invertebrates 234,198 17,325

Malacology 546,786 194,290

Mammalogy 79,091 7925

Mineralogy 37,117 18,568

Ornithology 96,066 6849

Palaeontology 153,314 5498

Total 2,348,843 618,043

Table 3.2
New records of the AM natural science collections by department

Department Count

Anthropology 2032

Arachnology 610

Archives 2578

Entomology 42,439

Herpetology 914

Ichthyology 1519

Invertebrates - Marine & Other 2499

Malacology 49,935

Mammalogy 1487

Mineralogy 8093

Ornithology 192

Palaeontology 5

Total 112,303

The AM continues to be the leading contributor of 
biodiversity data to the Atlas of Living Australia (ALA), 
a national portal for sharing records of Australia’s flora 
and fauna. As at June 2018, the AM had 1,330,887 records 
available through the ALA. Table 3.3 summarises the data 
applications that AM collections data downloaded from 
the ALA were used for in 2017-18.
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Table 3.3
Applications of AM data accessed through the Atlas of Living Australia 

Applications
Download 

Events Records

Biosecurity management/
planning 4713 618,920

Citizen science 1043 327,178

Collection management 7550 1,216,232

Ecological research 13,551 8,058,164

Education 6238 2,555,982

Environmental assessment 1013 726,238

Other 966 461,712

Other scientific research 1634 19,710,244

Restoration/remediation 36 12,756

Scientific research 8197 7,371,634

Total 44,941 41,059,060

Preserving the Collections for the Future

The Materials Conservation Unit completed a full year of 
exhibition projects and collection surveys and upgrades. 
Over 400 objects from all collections were prepared and 
installed in the Westpac Long Gallery for the 200 Treasures 
of the Australian Museum exhibition. This included the 
conservation and reassembly of the Great Irish Elk 
following 20 years in storage.

An extensive condition survey of the natural science 
collection was carried out during the audit to identify 
areas of conservation priority. A major project to halt 
the oxidation and disintegration of specimens containing 
pyrites in the Palaeontology and Mineralogy collections 
resulted in over 950 specimens being sealed in anoxic 
pouches and trays. In the Herpetology Collection, 554 dry 
specimens were installed in improved storage units. 

High value objects in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Collection were surveyed and installed in 
upgraded storage supports. The historic photographic 
media in the Archives Collection were surveyed. A new 
environmental monitoring system was installed to transmit 
temperature and humidity data from 36 sensors in 
collection storage areas and galleries in order to optimise 
conditions for the preservation and management of the 
entire AM collection.

Critical reef research

The AM’s internationally acclaimed Lizard Island Research 
Station (LIRS) attracted scientists from eight countries 
including Brazil and Switzerland who utilised the world-
leading facilities to undertake studies on the Great Barrier 
Reef. During the year, LIRS provided assistance, local 
expertise, equipment and accommodation to 174 research 
personnel, and researchers who produced more than 120 
publications based on their LIRS research. 

The AM’s Lizard Island Research station Fellowships 
program continued in 2017-18 with a record number of 
new awards: five PhD students and four early-career 
postdoctoral researchers were awarded fellowships. Many 
of these projects are assessing climate change effects on 
reefs. The grants program also expanded. Two new grants 
were awarded for research aimed at limiting reef damage 
from Crown-of-Thorns Starfish and, in a new program, 
two grants were awarded for research into the effects 
of plastic pollution on corals reefs. The undergraduate 
internship program continued with three students 
each spending a month at LIRS assisting researchers. 
All fellowships, grants and internships were generously 
funded by the Lizard Island Reef Research Foundation. 

The John Gough Cyclone Shelter was completed in 2017, 
enabling security of operations at LIRS in the event of a 
cyclone.

Above: The Wingtag Project, a collaboration with the AM,  
Royal Botanic Gardens and University of Sydney.  
Photograph by Abram Powell
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Engagement, Exhibitions  
& Cultural Collection
Highlights

 · 473,687 people visited the Museum, a 7% increase  
on 2016.

 · The Westpac Long Gallery’s 200 Treasures of the 
Australian Museum was unveiled to the public in  
October 2017. 

 · The inaugural Weave: Festival of Aboriginal and Pacific 
Cultures program launched in March 2018 with its 
ground-breaking community-led exhibition Gadi. 

 · Spiders: Fear and Fascination began its international 
tour of North America, debuting at the Royal Ontario 
Museum. 

 · Five touring exhibitions attracted 327,240 visitors 
around Australia and North America. 

 · Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age exhibition featuring a 
42,000 year-old baby mammoth from Siberia attracted 
almost 150,000 visitors.

 · T.Rex on Tour and Supercroc on Tour featured at 
Stockland shopping centres across NSW extending the 
AM’s outreach to Western Sydney and regional NSW.

 · Over 40,000 students took part in the AM’s education 
programs, including the Sydney Science Festival.

 · AM science represented regionally on a Science on the 
Road tour to Fowlers Gap, Dubbo, Nyngan and Broken 
Hill, and internationally at the Croucher Foundation 
Science Festival in Hong Kong. 

 · The Museum in a Box outreach program reached over 
111,000 people.

 · 31,200 people attended programs onsite and 11,500 
reached offsite. 

 · Increased cultural programs, developed by and with 
First Nations staff and knowledge-holders, as well as 
Western Sydney cultural institutions. 

 · Senior’s Day, sponsored by Family & Community Services 
NSW drew 2,000 senior citizens to the AM. 

 · Refreshing of gallery spaces including Kidspace, Search 
& Discover, and Surviving Australia, Pacific Spirit and 
Dinosaurs. 

 · Two carved trees were provided on long term loan to the 
new Local Aboriginal Cultural Centre in Trangie.

 · Acquisition of two Gadigal shields made by Gadigal Elder 
Uncle Charles “Chicka” Madden. 

 · The landmark Baya-ngara project on Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander cultural knowledge and 
information in Museum’s Archives and Library. 

 · Digitisation of the first 2000 glass plate images taken at 
the Museum, from 1857-1890. 

 · The launch of the Oceania Rising: Climate Change 
in Our Region program in collaboration with Casula 
Powerhouse Arts Centre and Blacktown Arts.

In 2017-218 over 925,000 people engaged  
with an AM exhibition or education program.

Above: The Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age Exhibition. 
Photograph by Abram Powell
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Increased visitation

Over 473,600 people visited the Australian Museum in 
2017-2018 (see Table 3.4). This was a 7% increase on the 
previous year with special exhibitions such as Mammoths 
- Giants of the Ice Age and Australian Geographic Nature 
Photographer of the Year popular amongst visitors. The 
Kids Free initiative, launched in June 2015, was celebrated 
with the annual Free Weekend, attracting 11,934 visitors 
(see Table 3.9). School holidays attracted significant 
audiences across the year (see Table 3.8).

Most visitors were from Greater Sydney (62%). 
International tourists represented the next largest visitor 
group, making up almost 23% (See Table 3.5). The largest 
group of international tourists (see Table 3.6) was from 
China (24.5%), followed by visitors from the USA (16%) and 
the UK (12%)

Table 3.4  
Onsite visitation to the Australian Museum by access type, 2017-18.

Visitor Type Access Total

General admission

All Museum access 
except paid temporary 

exhibitions and 
programs

218,822

Special exhibition
Paid temporary 

exhibitions and general 
admission

198,594 

Paid programs Various onsite programs 
and general admission 40,970 

Event attendance Visitors attending formal 
events at the Museum 15,301 

Total  473,687 

Table 3.5
Visitors to the Australian Museum by region, 2017-18.

Region of origin Visitors % of total 

Sydney 258,384 62%

Intra NSW 35,152 8%

Interstate 29,865 7%

International 94,272 23%

Total 417,673 100.00%
*Excluding free weekend, paid programs & events

Table 3.6 
International visitors to the Australian Museum by country of origin, 
2017-18.

Country of origin Visitors % of total

China 23,099 24.50%

USA 15,109 16.03%

United Kingdom 11,434 12.13%

Japan 6,692 7.10%

Germany 4,778 5.07%

France 4,682 4.97%

New Zealand 4,420 4.69%

Korea 3,244 3.44%

Spain 1,924 2.04%

Canada 1,635 1.73%

Italy 1,595 1.69%

Singapore 1,409 1.49%

Other 14,251 15.12%

Total 94,272 100.00%

*Excluding free weekend, paid programs & events

Table 3.7
Attendance - special exhibitions, 2017-18.

Exhibition Visitors

Spiders: Alive and Deadly (last weeks of 
exhibition: closed 16 July 2017) 17,774 

Australian Geographic Nature Photographer  
of the Year 31,133 

Mammoths: Giants of the Ice Age 149,687 

Table 3.8
Attendance - School Holidays, 2017-18.

School Holidays Visitors

Winter (July 2017) 35,026

Spring (Sept/Oct 2017) 28,817

Summer (Dec/Jan 2017/18) 79,244

Autumn (April 2018) 31,772
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Table 3.9
Attendance - Free Weekend, 23-24 June 2018

Free Weekend 
2018

Saturday 
23/6

Sunday 
24/6

Overall 
results

Total 5,313 6,621 11,934

Engaging programs 

Over the past year, the AM has consolidated its suite of 
innovative public programs, responding to temporary 
exhibitions, flag-ship projects and contemporary issues.. 
Programs are designed to meet four objectives: increase 
visitation, deepen audience engagement, develop new 
audiences and leverage collaborative opportunities for 
more innovative, ambitious and diverse experiences. 

The AM’s onsite programs attracted 31,200 people and 
another 11,500 off-site. Audience research confirmed 
the programs shifted historic perceptions of the AM and 
developed new and under-represented audiences.

The AM continues to be a prime destination for school 
holiday activities. The volume and diversity of programs 
has continued to grow as the AM commissions and designs 
new programs to avoid repetition. Using creative play 
and a multi-disciplinary approach this has deepened 
engagement with childrens workshops connecting 
with the collection through puppetry, illustration, 
photography, creative writing, film-making, percussion 
and yoga. Live science shows are increasing in breadth 
and professionalism, tackling palaeontology, geology 
and physics. School holiday programs themed around 
Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age exhibition proved very 
popular. Additional access services were provided for 
children with a disability.

Full-day programs are gaining in popularity, allowing 
children to embed themselves with palaeontologists, 
herpetologists, geologists or entomologists to gain a 
comprehensive taste of what a career in science might 
look like.

Dinosnore sleepovers proved as popular as ever though 
visitation decreased slightly due to the partial closure of 
the Dinosaurs for refurbishment. Under 5’s playgroups 
embedded new Aboriginal programs which were well 
recieved. The weekly sessions for toddlers (Tiny Tots) and 
3-5-year-olds (Mini Explorers) offer a unique perspective 
allowing the AM to stand out in the marketplace.

Cultural Programs 

Indigenous programs continued to strengthen this year, 
in scope, depth and attendance. The team contributed 
Aboriginal and Pacific elements to a variety of events 
while delivering stand-alone programs and fulfilling 
bookings for the tourism market. In parallel, the program 
team increased their efforts in network-building and 
consultation with Elders and knowledge-holders, to 
ensure the Museum’s programs told authentic Aboriginal 
led stories. 

Aboriginal meditation, jewellery-making and weaving 
workshops proved very popular, offering visitors 
opportunities for deep engagement often lacking in 
the current landscape. Indigenous programs were also 
delivered as part of Reconciliation Week and NAIDOC. The 
AM’s strength is its capacity to deliver Aboriginal programs 
year-round. In this respect, efforts to recruit Aboriginal 
staff and build capacity have begun to pay off with 
significant potential for the future. 

Community engagement took the form of outreach 
activities, collection tours for community members, 
meetings with key Elders and knowledge transfer 
workshops. This culminated with Weave, a month-long 
Festival of Aboriginal and Pacific cultures, which saw 
the Gadi exhibition come to life with meet-the-Elders 
sessions, drop-in activities, tours and weaving workshops. 
Weave also featured the world premiere of Carriberrie, a 
virtual reality documentary which went on to screen at film 
festivals around the world, alongside a strong program of 
Aboriginal documentaries presented by their makers.

Pacific programs continued to grow including the after-
hours event Oceania Connections, featuring dance 
performances at the Museums Discovery Centre in Castle 
Hill, documentary screenings, Atrium video installation 
Tuvalu by acclaimed artist Angela Tiatia and workshops and 
demonstrations featuring visiting artists such as Bernice 
Akamine and Rick Makanaaloha Kia‘imeaokekanaka San 
Nicolas (Hawai’i) and members of the Kwaio community 
(Solomon Islands).

Adult Audiences

Adult programs designed to add value to exhibitions and 
flag-ship projects included: 

 · A series of wildlife photography workshops to 
complement the Australian Geographic Nature 
Photographer of the Year exhibition.

 · A range of programs to augment the FrogID citizen 
science project, including work commissioned from the 
Conservatorium of Music, a school holiday program and 
a night talk.
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 · 17 Night Talks allowed us to complement museum 
exhibitions while reaching new audiences through 
external partnerships:

 · Five talks were part of HumanNature, a series  
on how the humanities can address climate change, 
in partnership with four major universities. 

 · Two talks featured photographers shortlisted in  
the Australian Geographic Nature Photographer  
of the Year exhibition. 

 · Other talks and screenings were run in collaboration 
with the Ethics Centre, Antenna Documentary  
Film Festival and the Australian Museum  
Research Institute.

Immersive and irreverent programs allowed the museum 
to reach more diverse adult audiences, including 
demographics under-represented in daily visitation:

 · Culture Up Late: eight summer nights of interactive 
programs, including an edition curated with and for 
people with a disability, attracting 2267 visitors.

 · Three editions of the after-hours event Jurassic Lounge, 
attracting almost 5000 18 to 35-year-olds through new 
partnerships with Vivid Ideas and Supanova Pop Culture 
Expo.

 · New iterations of Murder at the Museum, a series of 
sold out interactive murder mystery events showcasing 
Westpac Long Gallery.

 · Air: Music For Museum, a sold out high-fidelity listening 
party promoting deep engagement with the Westpac 
Long Gallery for International Museum Day. 

 · The second annual Seniors Day, offered free of charge 
through sponsorship by Family & Community Services 
NSW, which once again drew 2000 seniors to the 
Museum.

New exhibitions and galleries

The 200 Treasures of the Australian Museum exhibiton 
was unveiled to the public in the $9m restoration of the 
Westpac Long Gallery in October 2017. This extensive 
refurbishment was supported by the NSW Government, 
Westpac and the generous support of donors. The 
jewel in the Museum’s crown, the new gallery has been 
capturing the imagination of visitors through its entangled 
object showcases, imaginative digital interactives, and 
mesmerising vistas across three floors. 

Supported with a dedicated digital app trail for younger 
audiences, a podcast series, guided tours and school 
educational offering, the Westpac Long Gallery won two 
major awards in May and July 2018: The National Trust 
Heritage Award for Conservation – Built Heritage and the 
NSW Architecture Award for Heritage and Conservation. 
Both awards recognise the outstanding efforts to 
successfully and sympathetically restore Australia’s first 
purpose-built museum exhibition space. The Australian 
Museum is working on a new and innovative multimedia 
feature that will be added to the Westpac Long Gallery in 
November 2018.

Upgrades across several galleries are underway. Visitors 
to the Museum will now be able to experience a series of 
new displays and refreshed spaces, including Search & 
Discover, which now has accessible and colourful counters 
and display content. Similarly, Kidspace has received a 
new, refreshed colour palette on its activity pods, and a 
beautiful new children’s mural for its feature wall. 

This year has seen a refresh to displays in Surviving 
Australia with a new feature that looks at some of Sydney 
Harbour’s marine wildlife in addition to upgraded entry 
signage. Further refurbishments are planned in 2018-19.

In early September 2017, a life-size anatomically correct 
model of a Tyrannosaurus rex with removeable internal 
organs was installed in Dinosaurs, having been gifted to 
the AM by the National Geographic Channel. In the lead up 
to this event, the amazing beast had been on tour around 
NSW in partnership with Stockland shopping centres, 
much to the delight of their patrons.

Pacific Spirit also has an exciting new display featuring 
a range of items, including mud-masks and ceremonial 
costume gifted by members of the Komunive community 
of the Asaro Valley in Papua New Guinea. These objects are 
now a permanent feature of Pacific Spirit in a dedicated 
space titled Holosa – Masks from Komunive accompanied 
by interpretation and multimedia. 

The AM’s temporary exhibitions program included 
Australian Geographic Nature Photographer of the Year 
(AGNPY) in the Level 1 gallery, opening 11th August 2017 and 
extended through to 14 January 2018. 31,407 tickets were 

Above: Jurassic Lounge program in full swing
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sold for the exhibition, which fared well in exit surveys 
that highlighted visitors were coming specifically to see 
the exhibition. AGNPY featured incredible photography 
divided into categories including monochrome, botanical, 
animal behaviour and junior. Its content was produced in 
dual-language (English and simplified Mandarin) and an 
accessible large print guide was also made available to 
visitors. The AM will host the 2018 version of the exhibition 
in August 2018.

Gadi immediately followed AGNPY in Level 1 as part of 
Weave: Festival of Aboriginal and Pacific Cultures. The 
exhibition featured both historical and contemporary 
objects with archaeological material never seen by 
the public. It was also supported by live gadi trees, 
a programming space and audio-visual works such 
as Ngawiya Maan (‘we take to give’) by Amanda Jane 
Reynolds. Gadi presented visitors with the opportunity 
to discover more about Sydney city’s Aboriginal culture 
through language, objects, powerful imagery and 
workshops with Sydney Elders and Master Weavers. The 
exhibition ran until 24 June as a free experience for 
visitors and, upon its closure, the gadi trees were planted 
at the entrance to the AM to acknowledge the Traditional 
Owners of the land.

Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age from The Field Museum, 
Chicago, and was the year’s major exhibition in the 
main ground floor galleries. It opened to the public on 
in November 2017, following media conference, a VIP 
opening and an exclusive Members preview. The exhibition 
featured real fossil specimens, life-size replicas, scientific 
discoveries and a 42,000-year-old preserved baby 
mammoth, named Lyuba. This delicate and fascinating 
specimen loaned to the AM by the Yamalo-Nenets Regional 
Museum Complex of I.S. Shemanovsky in Salekhard, 
Russia, was her first-ever appearance in Australia. Lyuba 
(pronounced “Loo-bah”) is a diminutive form of the 
name “Lyubov” meaning Love – and visitors did fall in love 
with her! So much so, that the AM extended the run of 
Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age for another two months 
to give visitors a last chance to see baby Lyuba before she 
returned home to Russia. 149,687 visitors came to see the 
exhibition between its opening through to the end of June 
2018, which exceeded targets.

Touring exhibition programs

In the last year, the AM has been successful in establishing 
a foothold in the highly competitive international touring 
exhibitions market in North America. Here in Australia, our 
exhibitions developed in-house and in collaboration with 
other organisations have reached new audiences around 
regional NSW and further afield. 

The AM’s touring exhibitions play a critical role in building 
the brand and reputation of the Museum, promoting its 
collections and scientific and cultural expertise, combined 
with innovation and commitment to the visitor experience. 
The touring program is also responsible for generating 

important revenue streams for the AM, while providing 
opportunities to connect with local and international 
industry leaders for potential partnerships of exhibitions 
and projects in the future. 

Five exhibitions have toured this year, attracting 327,240 
visitors, which is a a small decrease from the previous 
year. This can be attributed to a short hiatus in the roll 
out of two exhibitions, one requiring refurbishment, and 
the other a complete customised re-build suitable for 
international touring.  

Tables 3.10 and 3.11 provide a visitation breakdown of the 
domestic and international exhibitions with their locations 
and dates.

Australian touring programs

In the first part of the new financial year, the AM launched 
T.rex on Tour at the Stockland Glendale shopping centre. 
This venue was the last in what was a highly successful 
touring partnership between Stockland and the AM. 
Showcasing a life-size, anatomically correct Tyrannosaurus 
rex, complete with removeable internal organs at a 
shopping centre proved to be a great drawcard for 
promoting the AM’s brand. The footfall also proved to be 
beneficial for Stockland and resulted in SuperCroc on Tour 
- the largest crocodilian to ever roam Earth 110 million 
years ago. SuperCroc has appeared at two of four of its 
scheduled Stockland venues since early May 2018 and,  
like the T. rex, it was gifted to the AM by National 
Geographic Channel.

The AM’s partnership with Questacon, the National 
Science and Technology Centre that saw the development 
and delivery of the popular Spiders exhibition has taken 
the show on the road following a brief refurbishment 
period. Featuring live spiders, interactive technologies 
and engaging AM science, Spiders opened at Newcastle 
Museum, NSW in February and was shown in tandem with 
another AM exhibition, Transformations: Art of the Scott 
Sisters. Spiders has a further two venues up in Tasmania 
and Darwin in July and December 2018 respectively.

As part of its strategic planning and commitment to 
fostering stronger relationships across regional NSW, 
the AM hosted a one-day workshop on 20 October 
2017 for Regional Directors of Regional Arts NSW. This 
forum is intended to be an ongoing series of discussions 
with tangible outcomes and outputs designed to bring 
communities together through collections, expertise, and 
passion for culture. Several key elements emerged from 
the meeting highlighting shared areas of interest, including 
climate change advocacy, STEAM education and the 
sharing of resources and expertise. Future forums will use 
the findings from this meeting in order to establish firm 
pathways for collaboration and further discussion.
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Table 3.10 
Australian Museum touring exhibition visitation 2017-18 (domestic)

Exhibition Venue(s) Exhibition 
Dates

Recorded 
Visitation

T. rex on Tour 
Free exhibit
Stockland 
partnership

Stockland 
shopping centre, 

Glendale, NSW

01.07 – 
16.07.2017

(16 days) 13,923*

SuperCroc  
on Tour 
Free exhibit
Stockland 
partnership

Stockland 
shopping centre, 
Merrylands, NSW

Stockland 
shopping centre, 

Shellharbour, 
NSW

08.05 – 
30.05.2018

(22 days)

01.06 – 
27.06.2018

(26 days)

22,599 

22,519 

Transformations: 
Art of the Scott 
Sisters 
Free exhibit

Newcastle 
Museum, 

Newcastle, NSW

24.02 – 
29.04.2018 

(65 days)
34,744 

Spiders 
Developed in 
partnership with 
Questacon 
Charged 
exhibition

Newcastle 
Museum, 

Newcastle, NSW

24.02 – 
29.04.2018

(65 days) 16,719 

Total Visitation  110,504
*Visitation numbers relating to display in the 2017-2018 financial year only

Overseas touring programs

Following the launch of Tyrannosaurs: Meet the Family in 
the USA in 2017, the AM quickly followed up with a North 
American customised version of the Spiders exhibition 
that had proved so popular in Australia. Working in 
collaboration with subject matter experts at both the 
AM and Cornell University, the exhibition Spiders: Fear 
& Fascination was re-cast, featuring updated scientific 
content and North American-specific live, dried and wet 
spider specimens.  
The Spiders: Fear & Fascination exhibition opened at the 
prestigious Royal Ontario Museum, in June 2018. From its 
opening through to the end of June, the exhibition has 
received 17,674 visitors, averaging 1,178 people each day. 
The exhibition runs through to January 2019. 

Tyrannosaurs: Meet the Family has performed well at three 
venues in North America; and in May there was exciting 
new content added to the exhibition in the form of several 
Tyrannosaurus rex fossil specimens. These fossils were 
generously loaned to the AM by the Carnegie Museum of 
Natural History in Pittsburgh, USA and have never been on 
display outside of that institution previously.

The importance of maintaining a presence in the 
international exhibition touring market to build a brand 
and reputation means that the AM has already started the 
concept development of its next overseas offering. 

Table 3.11 
Australian Museum touring exhibition visitation 2017-18 (International)

Exhibition Venue(s) Exhibition 
Dates

Recorded 
Visitation

Tyrannosaurs: 
Meet the Family 
Charged exhibit

Discovery 
Center, Halifax, 

Nova Scotia, 
Canada

Science Center 
of Iowa,  

Des Moines, 
Iowa, USA

Discovery Place, 
Charlotte, North 

Carolina, USA

01.07 – 
27.08.2017

(61 days)

28.09.2017 – 
22.04.2018

(207 days)

26.05 – 
30.06.2018
(36 days*)

44,985*

122,505

31,572*

Spiders - Fear 
& Fascination 
Charged exhibit

Royal Ontario 
Museum, 
Toronto, 

Ontario, Canada

16.06 – 
30.06.2018

(15 days)

17,674* 

Total Visitation  216,736
*Visitation numbers relating to display in the 2017-2018 financial year only

Visitor experience and education

Following a structural realignment in 2017-18, a new 
branch, Visitor Experience and Education (VEE) was 
formed. The VEE branch comprises four units, Education 
(including Kidspace), Outreach & Discovery (including 
Search & Discover), Visitor Services and Volunteers.

Inspiring education and learning

The AM’s Education programs provide inspiring education 
and training to diverse audiences, ranging from early 
learners and their families, school and tertiary students 
through to professional development for teachers. 

The AM’s onsite education programs reached a total 
of 41,736 students during 2017-18 (See Table 3.12). This 
comprised 18,349 students who participated in an 
educator-led program, and 16,053 who undertook a 
self-guided visit. 7334 students, teachers and families 
participated in activities at the Museum as part of the 
Science Festival in August 2017.

Indigenous education programs have continued to be 
heavily booked by school, tertiary and adult students. The 
Gadi exhibition during Terms 1 and 2 was an outstanding 
opportunity to provide learning programs from a First 
Nations perspective within a beautiful exhibition space 
and was well received by students and teachers. The 
education team has also supported and contributed to 
a variety of Indigenous education outreach initiatives 
including Show Me the Way, Murama Indigenous Youth 
Leadership Summit and Youth Eco Summit, the Australian 
Human Rights Commission for the 50th anniversary of 
the Bringing Them Home Report, the Indigenous Science 
Experience and NAIDOC in Hyde Park.
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Partnerships with 3M, ANSTO and UNSW enabled students 
to attend shows and workshops for free and to subsidise 
transport, supporting the AM’s mission to deliver 
accessible, high quality education across NSW. 

In March 2018, the Science Engagements and Events 
team was invited to present at the Croucher Foundation 
Science Festival, hosted by the Hong Kong Science 
Museum. The team ran more than 1100 DNA extractions 
and 15 squid dissections across two days of the event, 
engaging with over 2000 local Hong Kong visitors and 
government officials. 

Education Outreach and Discovery

The AM Outreach programs continue to deliver high 
quality education programs to students and communities 
across Australia. The Museum in a Box program reached 
111,840 people through the loan of 519 resources 
boxes. The highlights of Museum in a Box include the 
refurbishment of the popular Dinosaur Box with a new 
design and specimens. The Frogs box was refurbished and 
FrogID resources were included. Resources aligned with 
the Westpac Long Gallery were integrated into a range of 
Museum in a Box topics. 

The Virtual Excursion program continues to be a great way 
to reach students that can’t visit the AM due to distance 
and socio-economic reasons. The AM delivered 55 
Virtual Excursions reaching 8,104 students and including 
3 live stream events hosted by the NSW Department 
of Education. The Education Week live stream enabled 
students to learn more about the AM’s Lord Howe Island 
Expedition. During the science festival, we again partnered 
with the NSW Department of Education to provide a virtual 
excursion with Dr Karl Kruszelnicki which reached  
2,750 students.

In February 2018, Search & Discover was brought together 
with Outreach to create a new Outreach and Discovery 
unit. This has been a great opportunity to build on the 
onsite and offsite visitor experience and share content 
and programs across the two areas. Search & Discover has 
been refreshed with consolidation of existing content into 
themed areas to make the space more cohesive  
for visitors. 

FrogID has been integrated into all Outreach and Discovery 
programs with an interactive display in Search & Discover, 
a Why Frogs Count virtual excursion and incursion, and 
many community and school displays. We have presented 
programs about FrogID to 56,500 people across Sydney 
and beyond.

Kidspace, the dedicated space for early learners, was 
integrated into the education team in early 2018, which 
allowed for a greater level of deep learning programs for 
the very early years and up. A refresh and redesign of the 
space was undertaken in May 2018 which helped support 
the early years and family learning pedagogy within  
the AM.

At the other end of the learning spectrum, the successful 
senior biology program, Evolution of Australian Biota Study 
Day has been running for 16 years in partnership with 
Taronga Zoo, the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust. 
In 2017, the program reached 2056 students at study days 
in Sydney, with a further 944 reached in regional NSW at 
Dubbo, Coffs Harbour, Mount Annan and Mount Tomah. 
With changes to the NSW syllabus in 2018, the program 
partners have redeveloped the content to ensure that it 
continues to meet the needs of teachers and will address 
the Stage 6 Biology Module 3: Biological Diversity.

Creating fun and diverse learning experiences

In 2017, the AM became a co-producer of the Sydney 
Science Festival, bringing the largest school event of 
its kind as well as the popular Super Science Saturday 
to the line-up. In partnership with the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences, the festival saw more than 
60,000 visitors with more than 13,000 involved directly 
with events managed by the AM’s Science Engagement 
and Events team both onsite at the AM and via video 
conference. A grant from the City of Sydney enabled 
free entry for almost 1000 students, in addition to more 
than 500 students who attended through partnerships 
with university social inclusion units. Through programs 
and partnerships like these, the AM continues to provide 
high quality education opportunities for audiences with 
additional needs and those from socially disadvantaged 
backgrounds. There was a 16% growth in student visitation 
thanks in part to these social inclusion grants and support. 

The Science Festival events at the AM in 2017 focused on 
the various ways that applied science makes for a better 
world. Visitors saw how STEAM (science, technology, 
engineering, arts and maths) can improve lives, with 
presentations and demonstrations that showed how 
science can help us protect our environment and 
highlighted innovative and inclusive technologies. 

The Science Engagement and Events team took Science  
on the Road, heading to far west NSW visiting the 
University of New South Wales’ Fowlers Gap Research 
Station and schools in Dubbo, Nyngan and Broken Hill. 
Wildlife Forensics workshops and shows were delivered 
alongside the Natural Disasters show and Museum in a  
Box resources.  
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Table 3.10 
Australian Museum Education onsite and offsite 
engagement 2017-18

Onsite education activity
Number of 

people

Self-guided only 12,278

Self-guided plus educator-led 16,293

Self-guided plus Special exhibitions 3,775

Biota Study Days onsite* 2,056

Science Festival 7,334

Total onsite 41,736

Museum in a Box 111,840

Virtual excursions 8,104

Science on the Road 459

Biota Study Days offsite * 944

Incursions 3,340

Total offsite 124,687

Teacher professional development 138

High school work experience 25

Croucher Science Festival, Hong Kong 2,000

NAIDOC in Hyde Park 4,250

Other education programs and events 4,530

Total number of people engaged in 
education programs 177,366

*In conjunction with Taronga Zoo and the Royal Botanic Gardens and 

Domain Trust

Access and Inclusion initiatives

Throughout the year, the education team has continued 
to work on creating learning programs and events that are 
accessible and inclusive. In December 2017, the Museum 
arranged a series of visits for students from Giant Steps 
(a school which specialises in teaching young children 
and young adults with Autism) to visit Search & Discover. 
Education staff helped to prepare the students for the 
excursion by visiting the school and meeting the students, 
and through the creation of a Social Story to give students 
an understanding of what they would experience at 
the Museum. The excursions were a great success; the 
students were incredibly engaged and spent a great deal 
of time interacting with natural science and cultural objects.

The AM continues to work with Aged Care audiences by 
providing access to specimens and resources through 
the Museum in a Box program and trialling the delivery 
of in-centre talks. During the refurbishment of Search 
& Discover, a designated quiet space has been created 
which is available for students and general visitors who 
might want to access a low sensory and noise area during 
their visit. 

The AM work experience program has continued to offer 
places to students in middle and senior secondary school 
with an interest in museum or science careers. The AM has 
committed to offering a percentage of placements each 
year to students with additional needs which has been 
a valuable vocational and personal experience for the 
students and staff involved. It has also provided a pathway 
for passionate students who can join the AM as a volunteer 
once they are 18.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Collection  
& cultural engagement

The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Collection 
consists of three distinct focus areas. A collection of 
over 20,000 cultural objects from diverse Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander communities; a rich repository 
of over 1 million Aboriginal archaeological heritage 
materials providing a valuable source for community 
cultural research and academic research; and the 
active repatriation of ancestral remains and secret/
sacred material, in line with federal and state legislative 
requirements and adherence to strict cultural protocols. 
The team continues to maintain focus on ongoing 
collection care and preservation, inventory, digitisation 
and renewing of object information in the collection 
management database KE EMu. 

Below: Visitors interacting with the FrogID display in Search and 
Discover. Photograph by Daniel Boud
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The collections are closely interwoven with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities’ ongoing connection 
to living culture. The Museum’s custodial responsibilities 
include collection activation through the facilitation of 
appropriate Aboriginal-led engagements to create a new 
shared experience for communities, students, artists and 
Museum staff. 

As part of the Museum’s long-term commitment to 
supporting NSW Aboriginal arts and cultural objectives, 
two contemporary Gadigal shields made by Gadigal Elder 
Uncle Charles “Chicka” Madden were acquired for the 
permanent collection. Uncle Chicka’s shields are now on 
display in the Crystal Hall foyer as a marker of respect 
to the Traditional Owners and Custodians of the land, 
waterways and sky where the Museum stands. 

In May 2018, a First Nations Curator joined the Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander Collection team to deliver a 
special exhibition marking the impact of Captain James 
Cook’s legacy on Aboriginal culture. An Aboriginal 
community consultation methodology and related 
materials were developed. The primary aim of consultation 
is to inform communities about the project and provide 
an avenue for their voices through a ‘Have Your Say’ 
campaign. It is planned that The exhibition will open  
in 2020.

Significant community engagements with the cultural 
collection included access for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander individuals, groups, artists, researchers and 
academics, including: 

 · The collection visit by the Jungah Weavers from 
Gerringong NSW

 · Artist Nicole Monks and students from Evans High 
School Blacktown as part of ‘Solid Ground’ initiative by 
Carriageworks and Blacktown Arts Centre

 · Warlpiri women from Central Australia working with the 
University of Sydney and the Conservatorium of Music

 · Ethan Bell and five Aboriginal students from the AIME 
mentoring program

 · Blacktown Art Centre, the Museum of Contemporary 
Art, and Community Elders leading the Blacktown Native 
Institution Project. Participating groups included Tony 
Albert, Moogahlin Performing Arts, Sharyn Egan and 
students from Chifley College 

 · Damien Egan, a NIDA student accessed the collection to 
research early NSW woven material 

 · Ryan Stewart, a candidate for PhD from the University of 
Newcastle researched breastplates 

 · Woppaburra descendant Tahlia-Rose Vanissum viewed 
objects from the Keppel Islands 

 · Gordon Sweeney and his family viewed objects donated 
by his mother Olive Lambert from Milingimbi Northern 
Territory 

 · Lissant Bolton, Keeper of the Department of Africa, 
Oceania and the Americas Collections at the British 
Museum spent time researching baskets from the east 
coast of Australia 
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 · Staff from Carriageworks and artist Jonathan Jones, 
who viewed La Perouse objects from the collection 

 · Jonathan Jones alongside Aboriginal community 
members viewed the Brungle and broader NSW 
collection 

 · Singleton High School students and teachers, viewed 
the Alexander Morrison collection and material from the 
Hunter Valley region, totaling approximately 100 objects

 · A contingent of state-wide Aboriginal officers from the 
NSW Department of Juvenile Justice 

 · University of New South Wales Nura Gili Indigenous 
Programs Unit lecturers and students 

 · NSW Aboriginal Arts Development Officers from 13 
Regional Arts NSW Development Organisations

 · Barangaroo Delivery Authority including First Nations 
producers and management, and 

 · Members of the Narran Lakes Aboriginal Co-
Management Committee facilitated by Marty Linehan of 
Barwon NSW National Parks and Wildlife Service and Ted 
Fields along with 14 Elders. 

KE EMu digitisation for the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Cultural Collection included 58 new records 
created, 3866 records modified and 3782 multimedia 
records uploaded. The Walter Edmund Roth collection has 
continued to be the major focus for collection digitisation.

Repatriation 

The AM is leading a multi-museum consultation project, 
regarding the possible repatriation of a large number of 
painted skulls to the Yolngu people of Arnhem land. As 
part of this project the Project Manager of Aboriginal 
Repatriation spent a week at Milingimbi Island, meeting 
Elders to ascertain their views on the return of these 
ancestors. In the next financial year, it is proposed 
that consultation visits be undertaken in Ramingining, 
Maningrida and Yirrkala. 

The loan of two carved trees from the Museum’s collection 
from the Trangie region to the new Local Aboriginal 
Cultural Centre at Trangie was completed. The carved 
trees are the centrepiece of the new space.

Aboriginal Archaeology Collection

New research projects have been initiated around the 
Aboriginal Archaeology Collection, including: 

 · Professor Roger Lewis and Andrew Squires (University 
of Wollongong) research on Terahertz Spectroscopy of 
Aboriginal Rock Art. 

 · Patrick Faulkner’s (University of Sydney) research on the 
Willandra Middens.

 · Dr Patrick Schmidt (Eberhard Karls University, Tübingen 
Germany) on heat treatment to make stone tools.

 · Dr Jane Balme (UWA) and Dr Sue O’Connor (ANU) on 
“Dating the Dingo”. 

 · Dr Michelle Langley (Griffith University) on “Living 
Technologies of Australia: Bone and Tooth Tools from 
First Peoples to Contact”.

 · Honours students from the University of Sydney 
supervised by Professor Peter Hiscock undertaking 
research on “Change in flake form during late Holocene” 
and “Indigenous Australian fishing technologies”.

 · An internal Museum project around nut processing was 
conducted by Dr Nina Kononenko from the Australian 
Museum AMRI.

 · Dr Michelle Langley (Griffith University) on Durras North 
Assemblage - bone points excavated by Lampert and 
Golson in 1964. 

 · University of Sydney intern Rachelle Ayoub on the 
significant donation by Mr Frazer. 

 · Research for the Gadi exhibition carried out by 
Courtney Marsh, including over 1,300 Bondi points, 
scrapers and axes and the Berry Island Excavation 
material. The loan of material included extensive 
inventory and re-bagging of hundreds of individual 
archaeological material pieces. Aboriginal interns Rivers 
McEwen and Kadi Khan from Comber Consultants also 
digitised material from the Sydney region for Gadi. 

 · Volunteers Claire Badart-Prentice and Katherine 
Anne Day catalogued the Hutchinson and the Frazer 
donations. Volunteer Len Dyall catalogued the Dennis 
Mayor Donation. Emily Hull and Alexandra Hansen have 
been working on the re-boxing of material from the 
Sydney Water National Parks.

KE EMu digitisation for the Aboriginal Archaeological 
collection included 804 new records created, 1656 
records modified and 681 multimedia records uploaded. 

Digitisation of the Archaeological collection continued 
throughout this period. 80.1% of the National Parks 
collection and 86.0% of the Archaeological collection have 
been inventoried as of the end of June 2018.

Left: Musuem visitors exploring the Asaro Mud Masks  
exhibtion in the Pacific Spirit gallery
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Pacific and International Collection: cultural 
engagement and outreach

2017-18 was a dynamic year for the Pacific and 
International Collection team, with major projects 
advanced, grants and awards won and, important 
contributions made to public understandings of the people 
and cultures of the Pacific, Asia, Africa and the Americas. 

The team maintained high standards of care for the 
collections and enabled the exchange of cultural 
knowledge with over 300 community members, 
researchers, students, and a wide range of corporate 
and NSW, national and international government 
representatives including consul-generals and the Prime 
Minister of the Solomon Islands visiting the collection in 
2017-18. Team members also worked offsite to bring the 
work of the AM to thousands of people at festivals, events 
and workshops across greater Sydney and the Pacific.

Key projects

 · The Bilas acquisition project, funded by the Australian 
Museum Foundation (AMF), saw three communities 
in the Papua New Guinea Highlands prepare a large 
collection of wigs and other body adornments on 
commission for the AM, arranged and documented 
by Dr Michael Mel and Yvonne Carrillo-Huffman. The 
collection will arrive at the AM in late 2018. 

 · The display of the Asaro mudmen masks was installed in 
the Pacific Spirit gallery.

 · The Lansdowne Trust awarded a grant to the Pacific 
& Indigenous Youth Reconnection Project, a long-
term program directed by youth worker and musician 
Thelma Thomas, enabling young people at Cobham 
Juvenile Remand Centre, Reiby Juvenile Detention 
Centre, and at Western Sydney community centres to 
be supported through reconnecting with their cultural 
heritage. Thelma Thomas won a NSW Council for Pacific 
Communities award for redevelopments of the Pacific 
Youth Reconnection Project. 

 · A climate change and communities stream has delivered 
new collaborations, new connections within Sydney and 
internationally, and powerful programs. A partnership 
with Blacktown Arts and Casula Powerhouse Arts Centre 
has created Oceania Rising: Climate Change in Our 
Region, an innovative program of art events, workshops 
and discussions directed at inspiring climate change 
advocacy in Sydney and the Pacific, running  
through 2018.  

 · In July, the team held a day-long workshop Museums 
Collaborating around Climate Change, with museum 
directors and staff from New York, Rio, London, 
Melbourne, Canberra and Sydney. A collaboration to 
develop a pop-up travelling exhibition was established. 
Dr Jenny Newell is a member of the ICOM Sustainability 
Working Party and has established the AM’s own Climate 
Change Communication Working Party.

 · An artist’s residency and commission for Hawaiian artist 
Bernice Akamine was funded by the AMF Patricia Porritt 
fund, enabling Akamine to connect to the AM’s historic 
Hawaiian collection. Akamine focused on the Cook 
collection and designed a set of contemporary works 
in response. During her time at the AM, Akamine gave 
public and staff talks and ran a feather-flower making 
workshop.

 · Nine members of the Kwaio community in Malaita, 
Solomon Islands, visited the museum in November. The 
Pacific team partnered with AMRI to host the group. 
The group spent time sharing knowledge about historic 
Kwaio objects in the collections, giving performances, 
language classes and a weaving workshop.

 · Thousands of people visited the AM’s pop-up stand at 
Pacific festivals and events in Sydney (Fiji Day, Samoa 
Day, Waitangi Day, and a NRL match). The number of 
people stopping to view Pacific objects and learn about 
the AM and its work grows each year. The team provided 
demonstrations at the Museum Discovery Centre Open 
Day, Seniors Week, International Museums Day and 
more. Seven interns were supervised (through CAPA 
programs and the Indonesian Youth Exchange Program). 

The team contributed to scholarship in their areas of 
expertise through publications and conferences. These 
included: keynotes presented by Dr Michael Mel at 
conferences on tangible and intangible cultural heritage 
and PNG history in Canberra, Brisbane, Melbourne, Port 
Moresby, and Munich; keynotes by Dr Jenny Newell on 
culture, communities and climate change at universities 
and museums in Sydney, Canberra, Fiji and Manchester, 
UK. Papers were also presented at a conference in 
Adelaide by Stan Florek (Pacific navigation), Yvonne Carillo-
Huffman (Asaro Mudmen), and Thelma Thomas in Fiji 
(youth projects).

The collections onsite and at Castle Hill received ongoing 
care. Throughout the year, over 680 new records were 
created, over 2830 were augmented, over 790 images 
were added to EMu, and inventories and valuation of the 
collection were carried out. 
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Francis Williams of the Naygayiw Gigi Dance Troupe, still from Carriberrie
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Archives, Library & Rare Books

The landmark Baya-ngara project, funded by the AM 
Foundation, explored the Library as a repository for 
information and cultural knowledge by and about 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. At the 
same time as uncovering neglected Indigenous content 
held within the larger natural science library collection 
– including language lists, gazetteers, almanacs and 
atlases, guides, pamphlets, magazines and theses – 
the project explored the application of indigenous 
knowledge frameworks to library practice and brought 
together librarians and cultural experts to rethink the 
Library from Indigenous points of view. Protocols were 
updated, cataloguing standards adapted with new 
keywords added to make search and retrieval more 
relevant, and six new guides to the Aboriginal collections 
were produced. Digitisation priorities were identified 
and further digital initiatives, engagement activities 
and outreach are planned for a possible Stage 2 of the 
project. An accompanying display was presented in the 
Library Reading Room to showcase material authored by 
Aboriginal people.

The Library Reading Room opened as a space for small 
group collection engagement, research, study and 
bespoke events. On Seniors Day, staff used the room to 
present a talk series titled Beastly Books. Furnished with 
selected heritage furniture from the archival collection, 
the Reading Room also provides space for small, changing 
displays of Library and Archives collection material.  
With the library stacks and research areas separated, 
collection security and collection care have both 
improved significantly. 

Library collection work continues with the cataloguing 
of uncatalogued rare books from the Library a focus, 

including material highlighted in the Baya-ngara project. 
Over 10,000 records were modified and 550 new items 
(recent acquisitions plus rare books) were added to the 
catalogue. To give the library greater public profile and 
enhance access to our holdings, the Library concluded a 
major update and upgrade to our online Library catalogue 
and public web interface. 

Digitisation remains a focus for Archives, with AM-
produced analogue audio-visual material a high priority 
for copying this year; over 500 audio cassette tapes, 
videos and films were digitised offsite. In the collections 
database, over 4600 new collection records were created, 
including 3595 new records of photographs, 97 objects, 
129 audio visual records, 793 documents and 2143 
multimedia attachments. Frank Hurley’s photographs from 
Lake Murray were digitally repatriated to the community.

A project to digitise the Archives early glass plate 
photograph collection produced scans of the first 2000 
images taken at the AM, from 1857 to 1890. This unique 
record showcases our early specimen collections and 
exhibitions and is a wonderfully candid record of the AM at 
work in its first decades. The images will be the focus of an 
exhibition planned for early 2019.

Work continued on the ARC project ‘Merchants and 
Museums’, with detailed research into complex collection 
records from the 1870s to provide base data for a study of 
the AM’s exchange networks and a detailed history  
of relationships, agents and values for the early  
specimen collections.

Significant Archives acquisitions included a 1950s 
photography collection from the Papua New Guinea 
Highlands donated by Edric Slater and a rare and delicate 
watercolour flower painting by Helena Scott made on Ash 
Island in 1860.



48PART 3   Divisional achievements

Digital

The Digital unit continues to transform digital experiences 
with the redevelopment of the AM’s flagship website. 
Following completion of the Image Management System 
upgrade and Phase 1 user experience (UX) design of the 
new website, Phase 2 has commenced the build of a 
robust publishing platform with fresh visual design and 
a significant content migration of 12,500 webpages. This 
world-class web platform is scheduled to launch in  
late 2018.

Online audience engagement with science, culture and 
nature content and AM events reached 11,539,194 page 
views by over 4 million users via the website. The AM’s 
YouTube channel had 1,489,597 views, a watch time of 
828,223 minutes, with all social media channels being liked 
by 20% more followers.

To celebrate the opening of the Westpac Long Gallery, the 
Digital team produced a self-guided audio tour on the AM 
app in both Mandarin and English that reveals the stories 
behind 200 Treasures of the Australian Museum. The AM 
app also released English and Mandarin audio tours for the 
Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age exhibition, with exhibit 
label text in simplified Chinese available for visitors to 
borrow on iPad Mini devices. 

Digital also produced several multimedia interactives 
in the Westpac Long Gallery and created a custom kid’s 
Treasure Hunt mobile game for the new exhibition. Using 
locative iBeacon technology visitors could choose one of 
six scientific research professions and discover the related 
specimens on display to their chosen field of study. On 
completing all six research tasks, a final “curator” level 
challenges players to find several prized Treasures in the 
gallery.

The Digital team launched a new website and mobile 
App for the AM’s flag ship citizen-science project 
FrogID, developed in partnership with IBM. This mobile 
phone application records frog calls with locative 
data, photographs and habitat descriptions, enabling 
researchers to capture nation-wide species data and 
distribution information. 

A special eight-part Treasures podcast series featuring 
journalist Charles Wooley and the AM Director & CEO Kim 
McKay premiered in 2018. The series presents enlightening 
conversations about the 200 Treasures of the Australian 
Museum exhibition. A total of 16 AMplify podcasts and ‘Live 
at the AM audio recordings were released over 12 months, 
engaging more than 1500 people worldwide in the AM’s 
projects and exclusive behind-the-scenes features. 

Above: 200 Treasures of the Museum interactive app

Left: A staff member browses the AM’s extensive  
archives collection
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Marketing, Communications  
& Development
Highlights

 · Media coverage for 2017 – 2018 resulted in 894 items 
across national publications and broadcasters.

 · Audience reach of media coverage grew by 18% from the 
previous financial year.

 · Memberships increased by 13%, welcoming over 9000 
new AM Members.

 · Facebook video content was viewed over 1 million times 
– a 95% increase from 2016-17.

Westpac Long Gallery and  
200 Treasures of the Australian Museum

After two years of meticulous restoration, in October 2017 
Australia’s first museum gallery, the newly-named Westpac 
Long Gallery, and the exhibition, 200 Treasures of the 
Australian Museum, were unveiled. The conservation and 
refurbishment works restored the grandeur and richness 
of the space as an architectural display cabinet for our 
nation’s history, people and culture. Highlights of the 
historic re-opening included:

 · A morning media launch attended by all major media, 
followed by an evening Treasure’s Circle cocktail event 
attended by 150 dignitaries and donors. The following 
morning AM Members were invited to an exclusive 
breakfast viewing, before the gallery opened to the 
public.

 · Wrap around front page coverage by Fairfax (SMH) and 
wrap-around coverage by News Corp (Sunday Telegraph) 
syndicated across New South Wales.

 · Radio and television coverage with nightly news bulletins 
featured on all mainstream broadcasters.

 · The production of an elegant, 300-page exhibition 
catalogue as well as an exclusive range of merchandise 
for the AM Store.

 · A series of eight podcasts featuring conversations 
between Kim McKay and journalist Charles Wooley 
exploring the stories behind selected treasures. 

 · Weekend Australian ran six columns featuring treasures 
from the Westpac Long Gallery.

 · A feature story appeared in the Australian Women’s 
Weekly on the 200 Treasures of the Australian Museum 
exhibition and three living treasures – Ita Buttrose, 
Layne Beachley and Margaret Fulton.

FrogID

FrogID, the flagship project of the Australian Museum’s 
Centre for Citizen Science, was launched in November 
2017. The app, developed by the Australian Museum in 
partnership with IBM, enables anyone with a smartphone 
in their pocket to map frog locations. The crowdsourcing 
initiative enables infinitely more data points to be 
obtained than ever before, revolutionising the research 
process. By gaining a consolidated picture of the health of 
the nation’s frog populations, scientists can advance their 
conservation efforts through informing land-use decisions 
and monitoring the effects of climate change. Some 
successes of the FrogID campaign include:

 · Coverage of the launch across metropolitan and 
regional media, including front-page coverage in The 
Sydney Morning Herald and a First Dog on the Moon 
cartoon in the Guardian.

 · Dr Jodi Rowley undertook a national media tour, giving 
promotional talks and interviews in the Northern 
Territory, Tasmania, South Australia, Victoria and New 
South Wales.

 · The Australian Women’s Weekly published a feature 
profile of Dr Rowley and FrogID (March 2018).

 · Dr Rowley continues to do approximately four radio 
interviews per week across the nation and is often 
sought for opinion pieces, commentary and frog calls!

Above: Transformations: Art of the Scott Sisters exhibition
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Below: The 200 Treasures of the Museum marketing  
projection onto the Crystal hall
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 · Launch of Bunnings partnership at Camdenville Public 
School, Newtown.

 · In the seven months since its launch, FrogID has been 
downloaded 50,000 times.

 · From 14,000 users – affectionately known as ‘Froggers’ 
– there have been 24,400 submissions of recordings, 
from which 30,000 frog calls have been verified (often 
recordings contain the calls of multiple frogs).

 · 161 of Australia’s 240 known species have been 
identified.

Media and publicity 

This year, 894 media articles about the Australian Museum 
appeared across broadcast, print and online media.  
The highest volume of coverage was provided by ABC 
Radio Sydney and the highest audience reached was 
through the Sydney Morning Herald at 9 million views 
across the year’s stories. 

The work of our scientists continued to dominate the 
media landscape. AM scientists were regularly called  
upon to make comments and provide facts particularly  
for ABC Radio.

In August, the announcement of the winners of the 2017 
Eureka Prizes received widespread national coverage with 
strong support from interstate and regional newspapers 
including The Australian, Australian Geographic, 
The Herald Sun, The Guardian, Business Insider, The 
Conversation, Fairfax Media, ABC Radio National,  
Channel Nine news, ABC TV news and SBS TV news. 

The launch of Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age received 
coverage across print, radio, television, online and 
social media, including a retweet by Russian President 
Vladimir Putin. There was extensive coverage of baby 
Lyuba arriving at the AM, as well as radio interviews with 
AM palaeontologist Dr Matthew McCurry. Throughout the 
exhibition’s run, Kim McKay, AM naturalist Melissa Murray 
and Dr Rebecca Johnson appeared in live crosses to the 
Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age exhibition on Channel 7’s 
Sunrise and Channel 10’s morning show Studio 10. 

The announcement of the NSW Government $50.5M 
capital funding upgrades for a new touring exhibition hall 
and education facilities ensuring that Sydney will be able 
to host the blockbuster Tutankhamun: Treasures of the 
Golden Pharaoh exhibition in 2021. The announcement 
received widespread coverage with interviews with 
Kim McKay and NSW Government Minister for the Arts, 
featured in all major publications, television channels,  
ABC Radio and commercial radio stations’ hourly  
news bulletins.

Social Media

2017-18 saw continued growth across the AM’s social 
communities, in part due to the addition of a dedicated 
social and content producer and a renewed strategy 
focusing on the creation of more video content to address 
Facebook’s changing algorithm.

Platform 2016-17 2017-18 Comparison

Facebook 52,055 66,230 up 27%

Twitter 17,476 20,375 up 16%

Instagram 18,450 22,655 up 23%

The AM’s Facebook following increased 27%, with post 
reach also increasing significantly. Each post was seen by 
an average of 17,500 users, compared with 11,000 users in 
2016-17. Standout organic posts included the Tutankhamun 
announcement and a Tasmanian Tiger story, which 
combined reached 260,000 people.

As a consequence of a social strategy to create more 
original video content, the AM’s Facebook video content 
was viewed over 1 million times – a 95% increase  
from 2016-17.

The AM’s Instagram following increased by 23%. It is  
the platform with the largest growth opportunity. 

Social content continued to deliver traffic to the AM 
website, with 181,000 website visits driven through social 
posts – an increase of 8% from 2016-17. Additionally, social 
media lead to 2,356,008 conversions valued at A$451,000 
(Source: Google Analytics).

Membership

AM Members are among the AM’s most engaged audiences 
and are advocates for the Museum. The Australian Museum 
recognised Members for their ongoing support by inviting 
them to attend a number of exclusive events including an 
Australian Geographic Nature Photographer of the Year 
viewing, Westpac Long Gallery preview, Mammoths - Giants 
of the Ice Age exhibition preview, Culture Up Late Members 
pop up events and a variety of external loyalty events such 
as free film screenings.

In 2017-18, the AM welcomed 9360 new Members, 
making a total of 19,048 Members as of 30 June 2018 – an 
increase of 13% from last year. The increase in Members is 
attributed to the free ticket offer for Mammoths - Giants 
of the Ice Age, high visitation especially during school 
holidays and reciprocal benefits.
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Tourism

The AM’s focus is to ensure nature, Indigenous culture  
and science is relevant and interesting to all, including  
the tourist visitor. 

International travellers of today seeks product that 
delivers information and experiences relating to their 
destination choice. Travellers expect discovery,  
immersion and authentic connection with the people  
of that destination.

The AM has extraordinary tourism resources showcasing 
Australia’s unique natural history and Indigenous culture. 
The collections and galleries are the platform from which 
the AM offers bespoke tourism experiences that engage 
with visitors. The AM will continue to offer and develop 
personal and unique connectiveness with its tourist  
visitor groups.

In 2017/18 38% of overall visitation were tourists with 
23% of the AM’s attendees international visitors. The top 
international visitor groups were from mainland China, 
USA and the UK, which together made up more than 53% 
of international visitors. It is expected that with a revised 
tourism offering to be rolled out over the coming 24 
months, these figures will increase significantly. 

Partnerships

The AM worked with over 40 partners during 2017-18 
including major partner, Destination NSW. The partners 
supported a wide range of programs and exhibitions. This 
included: Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age; 200 Treasures 
of the Australian Museum in the Westpac Long Gallery; 
Australian Geographic Nature Photographer of the Year; 
SuperCroc on tour; FrogID; the annual Eureka Prizes and 
the Sydney Science Festival programs. Highlights for 
Partnerships included the delivery of the Westpac Long 
Gallery as well as the associated events, campaigns and 
partnership activations, resulting in a significant return  
for our partner. 

A number of new partnerships were secured during 2017-
18, including Bunnings, Stockland and Fyna Foods. The 
combined value of financial and in-kind support from AM 
partners totalled $4,100,000. 

For a full list of Corporate Partners and Supporters see 
Appendix Q.

Eureka Prizes 

In August 2017, the AM, in collaboration with 21 sponsors 
and supporters, proudly presented the 28th year of the 
AM Eureka Prizes. The prizes recognised achievement 
across four categories: Research and Innovation; 
Leadership; Science Engagement; and School Science.  
On 30 August 2017, the AM Eureka Prizes program 
culminated in the celebration of finalists and winners at 
the award dinner at Sydney Town Hall, attended by over 
630 guests. There were 45 finalists (including teams) 
shortlisted. A total of 15 Eureka Prizes, worth $150,000 in 
prize money, were awarded in recognition of outstanding 
contributions to Australian science

Philanthropy 

In 2017-18 philanthropic support for the Australian 
Museum Foundation (AMF) and the Australian Museum 
Trust reached $1,008,115 in total donations. This reflected 
a slight decrease in comparison to the 2016-17 result 
($1.115m) due to a substantial bequest received in the 
previous year. The annual gala fundraising dinner ‘The 
Night at the Museum was held in May 2018 and raised 
$108,130 clear for the Acquisition Fund, which will ensure 
the AM can continue to secure significant scientific and 
cultural acquisitions for its collections into the future. 

For a list of donors and supporters please see Appendix Q 
Benefactors and Supporters.

Commercial Operations

Food and Beverage

In its first year the Museum’s rooftop café, No. 1 William, 
saw more than 200,000 customers and 288 catered 
functions were held in Museum venues. The contracted 
caterer, Create Consultants, also delivered various pop-up 
outlets during the year to support peak visitation periods 
and special events, such as the Free Weekend and public 
programs. 

The AM retail store 

The retail focus for the year was on reducing inventory 
levels and implementing initiatives to optimise sales 
and profitability. The retail team also delivered bespoke 
merchandise for the Westpac Long Gallery, FrogID and 
the Mammoths - Giants of the Ice Age exhibition, and 
supported internal programs throughout the year. 
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Corporate Resources,  
Commercial & Finance
Enhance capabilities to achieve organisational 
performance improvements

In response to feedback from the NSW Government’s 
2017 People Matter Employee Survey, People & Culture 
has implemented a number of new initiatives and made 
improvements to existing processes, including:

 · Adopting an organisational approach to staff 
development to enable greater engagement and 
collaboration, streamlining development programs, and 
encouraging a greater focus on results and outcomes,

 · improvements to performance management and 
development of planning processes

 · elivery of a series of management and leadership 
excellence programs aimed at driving organisational, 
team and individual excellence, building a more positive 
culture, and improving productivity.

Continue to embed a value-driven culture

The Australian Museum HR policy framework aligns of the 
AM values as well as utilising a modern, streamlined HR 
management approach. Where appropriate, consistent 
policies are developed and applied across the AM to 
embed these practices to promote positive, respectful 
and productive workplace cultures.

In addition, Human Resources policies and procedures 
are regularly reviewed and updated. During 2017-18, the 
following AM policies were updated, revised and delivered:

 · Code of Conduct

 · Fraud and Corruption

 · Bullying and Harassment

People Matter Employee Survey

More people than ever have taken part in the survey. The 
2017 People Matter Employee Survey response rate at the 
AM was 95%. This is the highest response rate since the 
survey began in 2012 and provides opportunities for the 
AM to build on its successes and work towards meaningful 
change where needed.

Employee engagement scores  
stay strong and above NSW Public Sector

Employee engagement remains at the same level as in 2016 
(75%) representing an excellent result. The AM is one of 
the top organisations for employee engagement across 
the public and private sectors. Research highlights that 
employee engagement is important for organisational 
success. Higher employee engagement is associated with 
positive results such as higher productivity, innovation and 
customer service and lower absenteeism, attrition and 
health and safety incidents 

Workplace health and safety

The award-winning major refurbishment of the Westpac 
Long Gallery gave rise to a great deal of construction 
activity. In line with the objectives of an extensive and 
proactive risk management process no injuries were 
recorded during the eight months of building works. 

With assistance from Safe Work NSW, AM undertook a 
hazardous chemicals audit during the year, with a focus on 
the storage and use of formaldehyde. The audit process 
was beneficial and Safe Work NSW gave positive feedback.
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Information and Communications Technology (ICT) 

The ICT team delivered the following improvements during 
the year:

 · The PC fleet is now close to being fully refreshed with 
modern machines that will improve system reliability 
and user efficiency. 

 · Finalisation of tender for management of core ICT 
infrastructure. 

 · Planning processes underway to upgrade wireless 
networking to provide an enhanced visitor experience.

 · Several key IT security infrastructure systems have been 
upgraded.

 · Significant process on updating the AM ICT Strategic Plan 
in accordance with NSW Government ICT requirements.

Finance

The Finance teams delivered the following improvements 
during the year: 

 · Implemented new systems and processes to deliver 
improved management and operations associated with 
purchase card usage.

 · Commenced a project to deliver enhanced reporting 
and analysis information to support management 
decision making.

 · Commenced a review of key policies, internal controls, 
and procurement processes.

Building Services 

Building Services has focused on several projects over the 
past 12 months. These include:

 · Completion of the Westpac Long Gallery restoration.

 · Completion of Barnet Wing Heating, Ventilation and Air 
Conditioning (HVAC).

 · Renovation of Lewis Wing level 1 offices, including new 
HVAC.

 · Installation of HVAC in the Demountable building, level 1 
and 2, and

 · Replacement of the College Street heritage doors.

Security

The Australian Museum has continued its focus on 
responding to the ongoing national security awareness 
through:

 · Upgrading the security capability and processes.

 · Strengthening relationships across the community of 
Cultural Institutions, the NSW Police, and Fire Rescue 
services, and

 · Implementing improvements to induction processes, 
including training and emergency exercises to better 
prepare the AM for emergencies and better serve 
visitors and staff.

Security upgrades include:

 · Improved building security through implementation of 
improved access controls.

 · Auditing the access control system.

 · Improvements to the digital radio communications 
system.

 · Further development of the digital CCTV system and 
increased coverage throughout the site.

Right: Behind the scenes  
preparation and installation  

of the exhibit Mammoths -  
giants of the Ice Age



Echo mask, on display in the Westpac Long Gallery. Photograph by Stuart Humphreys
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A younger visiting discovers a roaring T.Rex in the Dinosaurs gallery. Photograph by Daniel Boud
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AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM TRUST 
Beginning of the audited financial statements  

 

RESPONSIBLE PERSONS’ DECLARATION 

 
Pursuant to s60.5 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Regulations 
2013 (Cwth) the responsible persons declare that in the responsible persons’ opinion:  

1. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of 

its debts, as and when they become due and payable; and 

2. The financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian 

Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012 (Cwth). 

 

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit 
Commission Regulations 2013 (Cwth). 

 

 

 

David Armstrong     Sara Watts 

President      Trustee 

 

28 September 2018     28 September 2018 

 

 

 

 

Kim McKay AO 

Secretary 

 

28 September 2018 
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2018

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
2018 2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue
Sale of goods and services 2(a) 9,588 7,871 10,821 9,588 10,821
Investment revenue 2(b) 107 248 320 107 320
Grants and contributions 3 33,345 33,025 32,003 33,345 32,003
Other revenue - 82 - - -
Total revenue 43,039 41,226 43,143 43,039 43,143

Gains and losses
Gain (loss) on disposal 4(a) (90) - (1,153) (90) (1,153)
Other gains (losses) 4(b) 46,584 (5) (55) 46,584 (55)
Total gains and losses 46,494 (5) (1,208) 46,494 (1,208)

Expenses
Operating expenses
   Personnel services 5(a) - - - 23,105 20,767
   Employee related 5(b) 23,105 24,062 20,767 - -
   Other operating expenses 5(c) 17,775 13,971 16,027 17,775 16,027
Depreciation and amortisation 5(e) 6,300 5,800 5,966 6,300 5,966
Total expenses 47,180 43,833 42,761 47,180 42,761

Surplus (deficit) for the year 17 42,353 (2,612) (825) 42,353 (825)

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit
Changes in revaluation surplus of property, plant 
and equipment

10(a) 236,972 - - 236,972 -

Total other comprehensive income 236,972 - - 236,972 -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 279,326 (2,612) (825) 279,326 (825)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Notes Consolidated entity Parent entity
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
2018 2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 9,817 4,526 9,470 9,817 9,470
Receivables 7 1,918 1,154 1,539 1,918 1,539
Inventories 8 195 348 261 195 261
Total current assets 11,929 6,028 11,270 11,929 11,270

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10

  Land and buildings 193,016 201,289 193,290 193,016 193,290
  Plant and equipment 33,066 25,468 31,415 33,066 31,415
  Collections 772,768 487,422 486,871 772,768 486,871
Total property, plant and 
equipment

998,851 714,179 711,577 998,851 711,577

Intangible assets 11 838 35 518 838 518
Total non-current assets 999,689 714,214 712,094 999,689 712,094

Total assets 1,011,618 720,242 723,365 1,011,618 723,364

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables 12 3,105 2,984 2,076 5,803 4,504
Borrowings 13 38 - - 38 -
Provisions 14 2,639 2,145 2,376 - -
Other 15 9,050 50 1,620 9,050 1,620
Total current liabilities 14,832 5,179 6,073 14,891 6,124

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 13 161 - - 161 -
Provisions 14 60 - 52 - -
Total non-current liabilities 221 - 52 161 -

Total liabilities 15,052 5,179 6,125 15,052 6,124

Net assets 996,565 715,063 717,240 996,565 717,240

EQUITY
Accumulated funds  592,053 547,523 549,700 592,053 549,700
Reserves  404,513 167,540 167,540 404,513 167,540
Total equity 996,565 715,063 717,240 996,565 717,240

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Notes Consolidated entity Parent entity
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2018

Accumulated 
funds

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve
Total equity

$000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2017 549,700 167,540 717,240

Net result for the year 42,353 - 42,353
Other comprehensive income:

Net increase (decrease) in property, plant and equipment 10(a) - 236,972 236,972

Total other comprehensive income - 236,972 236,972
Total comprehensive income for the year 42,353 236,972 279,326
Balance at 30 June 2018 592,053 404,513 996,565

Balance at 1 July 2016 550,525 167,540 718,065
Net result for the year (825) - (825)
Other comprehensive income:

Net increase (decrease) in property, plant and equipment - - -
Total other comprehensive income - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year (825) - (825)
Balance at 30 June  2017 549,700 167,540 717,240

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Notes

Consolidated and Parent entity
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AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM TRUST

5

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2018

Notes
Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
2018 2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Sale of goods and services 11,242 7,871 10,704 11,242 10,704
Interest received 129 248 339 129 339
Grants and contributions 38,492 36,082 31,527 38,492 31,527
Total receipts 49,863 44,201 42,570 49,863 42,570

Payments
Personnel services - - - (21,978) (20,161)
Employee related (21,978) (23,137) (20,161) - -
Other payments (19,383) (18,021) (17,463) (19,383) (17,463)
Total payments (41,361) (41,158) (37,624) (41,361) (37,624)
Net cash inflows from operating activities 17 8,502 3,043 4,946 8,502 4,946

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITES
Proceeds from borrowings 199 - - 199 -
Net cash inflows from financing activities 199 - - 199 -

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for property, plant and equipment (7,842) (7,899) (10,974) (7,842) (10,974)
Payments for intangible assets (512) - (307) (512) (307)
Net cash (outflows) from investing activities (8,354) (7,899) (11,281) (8,354) (11,281)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 347 (4,856) (6,335) 347 (6,335)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 9,470 9,382 15,805 9,470 15,805
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 9,817 4,526 9,470 9,817 9,470

1            -
Non-cash financing and investing activities 19

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated entity Parent entity
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT  ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting entity

(b) Basis of preparation

(c) Statement of compliance

(d) Insurance

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The Australian Museum Trust (the AM) is a NSW Government statutory body which operates all the activities of 
the Australian Museum.  The AM is constituted as a body corporate by the Australian Museum Trust Act 1975. 
The Australian Museum Trust is a statutory body of the NSW State government. The AM is a not-for-profit entity 
(as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash generating units. It encompasses funds that are 
restricted for specified purposes by the grantor or donor, but are nevertheless controlled by the AM.  The AM's 
financial statements are consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts.

The AM as a reporting entity, comprises the entity under its control, namely, the Australian Museum Trust Staff 
Agency (AMS). The AMS is an entity created by Administrative Order on 24 February 2014 under the 
Government Sector Employment Act 2013 (NSW) (GSE Act). The objective of the AMS is to provide personnel 
services to the parent entity, the Australian Museum Trust. In the process of preparing the consolidated 
financial statements for the economic entity, consisting of the controlling and controlled entity, all inter-entity 
transactions and balances have been eliminated, and like transactions and other events are accounted for 
using uniform accounting policies. These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 have been 
authorised for issue by the Director and President on 28 September 2018.

The AM’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an 
accrual basis and in accordance with:
• applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)
• the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (NSW) and the Public Finance and Audit 
Regulation 2015 (NSW)
• the Financial Reporting Directions mandated by the Treasurer.
• the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-For-Profits Commission Act 2012 (Cwth) and Australian 
Charities and Not-For-Profits Commission Regulations 2013 (Cwth).

The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for property, plant and equipment 
which are measured at fair value.

Critical accounting estimates
Judgements, key assumptions and estimations that management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes 
to the financial statements.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to nearest thousand 
dollars ($000) unless otherwise stated.

The AM’s financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards which include Australian 
Accounting Interpretations.

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where:
• The amount of GST incurred by the AM as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation 
Office is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense.
• Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. However, the GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from or payable to the Australian 
Taxation Office are classified as operating cash flows.

The AM's insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-
insurance for Government agencies. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on 
past claim experience.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(f) Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian Accounting Standards

(g) Taxation status

(h) Services provided at no cost

(i) Equity and reserves

(j) Comparative information

Effective for the first time in 2017-18
The accounting policies applied in 2017-18 are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as a 
result of the following new or revised Australian Accounting Standards that have been applied for the first time 
in 2017-18. The adoption of new standards did not have any material impact on AM’s financial statements.

Issued but not yet effective
NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new Australian Accounting Standards, unless 
Treasury determines otherwise.

The following new Australian Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective. The impact 
of these standards on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, if any, cannot be quantified at this 
stage. Application on the new standards will also have impact on note disclosures.

• AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The impact of this standard relates to the timing of the recognition of revenue on grants received by the AM 
resulting from an agreement with another party that creates enforceable rights and obligation and includes 
sufficiently specific performance obligation.

• AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
The potential impact of this standard relates to the following:
a) change in accounting and reporting of Lizard Island land lease 
b) recognition of volunteer services if the AM elects to recognise the services and the fair value of the services 
can be measured reliably

• AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
The potential impact of this standard relates to the requirement to recognise impairment losses on financial 
assets on an expected basis rather than an incurred basis.

• AASB 16 Leases
This standard introduces a single lease accounting model where all leases will be accounted for in a similar 
manner to the way in which finance leases are currently accounted for.

The activities of the AM are exempt from income tax. The AM is registered for GST purposes and has 
deductible gift recipient status.

Where material contributions are made to the AM at no charge, an expense is recorded in the accounts to 
reflect the activities at the AM and is offset by an equivalent revenue entry. Material assistance provided to the 
AM by the volunteers for whom payment was not made is not included in the surplus (deficit) for the year (refer 
Note 19).

(i) Revaluation surplus
The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. 
This accords with the AM’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment as discussed in note 10.

(ii) Accumulated funds
The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.

Except where an Australian Accounting Standards permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is 
disclosed in respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.
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2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

2 REVENUE

Recognition and measurement

(a) Sale of goods and services
Shop sales 1,028 1,011 1,028 1,011
Rendering of services 3,194 2,872 3,194 2,872
Sponsorships 363 2,210 363 2,210
Admission fees 5,003 4,728 5,003 4,728

9,588 10,821 9,588 10,821
Recognition and measurement
Sale of Goods

Rendering of Services

(b) Investment revenue
Interest 107 320 107 320

107 320 107 320
Recognition and measurement
Investment revenue

3 GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS

Recurrent grants from NSW Government 22,324 23,392 22,324 23,392
Capital grants from NSW Government 3,330 3,330 3,330 3,330
Acceptance by the Crown of employee benefits – Note 3(a) 895 444 895 444
Scientific research grants from Australian Government 407 392 407 392
Research contributions (other grants, donations) 3,697 2,620 3,697 2,620
Other NSW Government grants 649 - 649 -
Donations to collections 2,044 1,825 2,044 1,825

33,345 32,003 33,345 32,003
For conditions on Grants and Contributions see Note 9.

Recognition and measurement

(a) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities
Superannuation-defined benefits 211 217 211 217
Long service leave 672 215 672 215
Payroll tax 12 12 12 12

895 444 895 444

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Additional 
comments regarding the accounting policies for the recognition of revenue are discussed below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the AM transfers the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the assets.

Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based on 
labour hours incurred to date).

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.  The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a 
shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Grants and contributions include grants from the Department of Planning and Environment (DPE). They are 
generally recognised as revenue when the AM obtains control over the assets comprising the 
grants/contributions. Control over grants and contributions is normally obtained upon fulfillment of any 
conditions.



AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM   Annual Report 2017-1869

AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM TRUST
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

9

2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

4 GAINS AND LOSSES

(a) Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment - 1 - 1
Carrying value of assets disposed (90) (1,154) (90) (1,154)
Net (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (90) (1,153) (90) (1,153)

(b) Other gains (losses)
Allowance for impairment of receivables (30) (55) (30) (55)
Net increase in property plant and equipment asset revaluation 46,614 - 46,614 -
Net other gains (losses) 46,584 (55) 46,584 (55)

Recognition and measurement
Impairment losses

5 EXPENSES

(a) Personnel services expenses
Salaries and wages (including annual leave) - - 19,248 17,711
Superannuation – defined benefit plans - - 211 217
Superannuation – defined contribution plans - - 1,586 1,450
Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax - - 1,114 1,005
Long service leave - - 747 206
Workers' compensation insurance - - 199 178

- - 23,105 20,767
(b) Employee related expenses

Salaries and wages (including annual leave) 19,248 17,711 - -
Superannuation – defined benefit plans 211 217 - -
Superannuation – defined contribution plans 1,586 1,450 - -
Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax 1,114 1,005 - -
Long service leave 747 206 - -
Workers' compensation insurance 199 178 - -

23,105 20,767 - -

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Impairment losses may arise on assets held by the entity from time to time. Accounting for impairment losses is 
dependent upon the individual asset (or group of assets) subject to impairment. Accounting Policies and events 
giving rise to impairment losses are disclosed in the following notes:
Receivables – Note 7
Inventories – Note 8
Property, plant and equipment – Note 10
Intangible assets – Note 11

Employee related cost that have been capitalised in property, plant and equipment and therefore excluded from 
the above: $923,000 (2017: $279,000).
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2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

5 EXPENSES (continued)
(c) Other operating expenses

193 104 193 104

Cleaning 691 681 691 681
Consultants* 473 398 473 398
Contractors 4,348 5,223 4,348 5,223
Cost of sales 546 587 546 587
Electricity, gas and water 846 640 846 640
Exhibitions 1,844 841 1,844 841
Freight 342 133 342 133
Insurance 385 419 385 419
Maintenance 1,877 1,987 1,877 1,987
Marketing and promotions 1,269 1,033 1,269 1,033
Minor plant and equipment 77 170 77 170
Operating lease rental expense – minimum lease payments 82 81 82 34
Postage and telephone 130 141 130 141
Printing, books, journals and subscriptions 355 387 355 387
Research contributions 306 118 306 118
Software licences and consumables 1,469 1,037 1,469 1,037
Staff development 170 184 170 184
Travel 411 487 411 487
Vehicle fleet 58 56 58 103
Visiting fellowships 222 207 222 207
Other 1,681 1,114 1,681 1,114

17,775 16,027 17,775 16,027

(d) Maintenance expenses (all types)
Classified as employee related expenses in Note 5(b) 422 618 422 618
Classified as maintenance expenses in Note 5(c) 1,877 1,987 1,877 1,987
Total maintenance expenses (all types) 2,299 2,605 2,299 2,605

(e) Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation

Buildings 1,653 1,242 1,653 1,242
Plant and equipment 4,455 4,554 4,455 4,554

Amortisation
Intangible assets 192 170 192 170

6,300 5,966 6,300 5,966

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Auditor’s remuneration – audit of the financial statements 
(Audit Office of NSW) 

The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset after its use is 
included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

*A ‘consultant’ is a person or organisation engaged under contract on a temporary basis to provide 
recommendations or high level specialist or professional advice to assist decision-making by management. 
Generally it is the advisory nature of the work that differentiates a consultant from other contractors. 
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2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

6 CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand 9,817 941 9,817 941
Short term deposits - 8,530 - 8,529
Closing cash and cash equivalents 9,817 9,470 9,817 9,470

Westpac Commercial Card facility (Total credit limit) 500 500 500 500

Refer Note 18 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.

7 CURRENT ASSETS – RECEIVABLES

Sale of goods and services 1,264 831 1,264 831
Less: Allowance for impairment (101) (71) (101) (71)
Accrued revenue 13 22 13 22
Prepayments 350 155 350 155
Other debtors - - - -
GST receivables 392 602 392 602

1,918 1,539 1,918 1,539

Movement in the allowance for impairment
Balance at 1 July (71) (16) (71) (16)
Amounts written off during the year - - - -
Amounts recovered during the year 39 16 39 16

(69) (71) (69) (71)

Balance at 30 June (101) (71) (101) (71)

Recognition and measurement

(Increase) in allowance recognised in statement of 
comprehensive income

Consolidated entity Parent entity

For the purpose of the Statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, cash on hand, 
short term deposits with maturity of three months or less.

The AM has the following banking facility which authorises the bank to debit the AM’s operating bank account 
up to the limit. 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand and bank balances with the Westpac Banking 
Corporation and Commonwealth Bank, and term deposits with the National Australia Bank Limited (NAB).  
Interest on term deposits is earned on daily balances at rates set up by NAB. Interest revenues are recognised 
as they accrue.

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or 
impaired, are disclosed in Note 18.

Receivables, including trade receivables, prepayments etc. are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Changes are 
recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process.

Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect 
of discounting is immaterial.
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2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

7 CURRENT ASSETS – RECEIVABLES (continued)
Impairment

8 CURRENT ASSETS – INVENTORIES

Held for resale
Inventories on hand – at cost 195 261 195 261

195 261 195 261

Recognition and measurement

9 CONDITIONS ON CONTRIBUTIONS AND RESTRICTED ASSETS

Unexpended balances for all restricted amounts at 30 June
Scientific research – Australian Government grants 626 267 626 267
Other contributions 11,585 5,278 11,585 5,278

12,211 5,545 12,211 5,545

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Inventories held for sale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost is calculated using 
the “Weighted Average” method.

The AM does not have any inventories acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration. Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Receivables are subject to an annual review for impairment. These are considered to be impaired when there is 
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows have been affected.

The AM first assesses whether impairment exists individually for receivables that are individually significant, or 
collectively for those that are not individually significant. Further, receivables are assessed for impairment on a 
collective basis if they were assessed not to be impaired individually.

The amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the impairment loss 
is recognised in the net result for the year.

Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed through the net result for the year, if objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses cannot result in a carrying 
amount that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had there not been an impairment loss.

The AM receives contributions from various bodies for specific purposes (see Note 5). Generally, contribution 
conditions restrict the use of the amount to specific purposes. However, conditions vary widely with respect to 
deliverables, timing, acquittal and repayment requirements. Cash and investments are held equal to unspent 
balances where contractually specified. 
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10 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land Buildings
Plant and 

equipment  Collections     Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

(a) At 30 June 2018
Fair value
Gross carrying amount 38,565 218,324 99,708 772,768 1,129,366
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - (63,873) (66,642) - (130,515)
Net carrying amount 38,565 154,451 33,066 772,768 998,851

At 1 July 2017
Fair value
Gross carrying amount 38,565 216,945 95,282 486,871 837,663
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - (62,220) (63,867) - (126,087)
Net carrying amount 38,565 154,725 31,415 486,871 711,576

Reconciliation

Year ended 30 June 2018
Net carrying amount at start of the year 38,565 154,725 31,415 486,871 711,577
Net revaluation increment – gains Note 4(b) - - - 46,614 46,614
Net revaluation increment – OCI - - - 236,972 236,972
Additions - 1,379 6,195 2,311 9,886
Disposals - - (90) - (90)
Transfer (to) from another asset type - - - - -
Depreciation expenses - (1,653) (4,455) - (6,108)
Net carrying amount at end of the year 38,565 154,451 33,066 772,768 998,851

At 30 June 2017
Fair value
Gross carrying amount 38,565 216,945 95,282 486,871 837,663
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - (62,220) (63,867) - (126,087)
Net carrying amount 38,565 154,725 31,415 486,871 711,576

At 1 July 2016
Fair value
Gross carrying amount 38,565 192,850 110,920 485,159 827,494
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - (54,829) (66,937) - (121,766)
Net carrying amount 38,565 138,021 43,983 485,159 705,728

Reconciliation
Year ended 30 June 2017
Net carrying amount at start of the year 38,565 138,021 43,983 485,159 705,728
Net revaluation increment (decrement) - - - - -
Additions - 2,387 8,576 1,835 12,798
Disposals - (158) (873) (123) (1,154)
Transfer (to) from another asset type - 15,717 (15,717) - -
Depreciation expenses - (1,242) (4,554) - (5,796)
Net carrying amount at end of the year 38,565 154,725 31,415 486,871 711,576

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end 
of the reporting periods are set out below.

Further details regarding the fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 10 
(b).
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10 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Acquisitions

Capitalisation thresholds

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Assets acquired are initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other 
consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the 
amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other 
Australian Accounting Standards.

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at measurement date.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets costing $5,000 and above individually are capitalised. 
Computer related assets costing individually $5,000 or less and forming part of a network are capitalised.

Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on  a market participants' perspective, using valuation 
techniques (market approach, cost approach, income approach) that maximise relevant observable inputs and 
minimise  unobservable inputs.  Please refer to Note 10(b) for further information regarding fair value.

The AM revalues land and buildings at least every three years or with sufficient regularity to ensure that the 
carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ materially from its fair value at reporting date. The last 
revaluation of land and buildings was completed on 30 June 2017 and was based on an independent 
assessment.

Collection assets are revalued at least every five years by an external valuer. The last revaluation was on 
30 June 2018.

Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost, as an approximation 
of fair value. The AM has assessed that any difference between fair value and depreciated historical cost is 
unlikely to be material.

When revaluing non-current assets by reference to current prices for assets newer than those being revalued 
(adjusted to reflect the present condition of the assets), the gross amount and the related accumulated 
depreciation are separately restated. For other assets valued using other revaluation techniques, any balances 
of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in respect of those assets are credited to the asset 
accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the revaluation 
increments or decrements.

Revaluation increments are recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to revaluation surplus in 
equity. However, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of the same class 
of asset previously recognised as a loss in the net result, the increment is recognised immediately as a gain in 
the net result.

Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair 
Value Policy and Guidelines (NSW TPP 14/01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 116 
Property, Plant and Equipment and AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement.

Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market participants that is physically 
possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. The highest and best use must be available at a period 
that is not remote and take into account the characteristics of the asset being measured, including any socio-
political restrictions imposed by government. In most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the 
highest and best use is the existing use. In limited circumstances, the highest and best use may be a feasible 
alternative use, where there are no restrictions on use or where there is a feasible higher restricted alternative 
use.
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10 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Collections

Exhibitions

The AM engaged an independent valuer to conduct a comprehensive revaluation of the AM’s collection assets 
as at 30 June 2018. The previous independent valuation was undertaken on 30 June 2013. The 2018 
revaluation exercise resulted in a $283 million increase in value to the collection assets.  The increase in the 
valuation of the AM’s diverse and unique collection is driven by a mixture of changes in market values, an 
improved awareness of the uniqueness or rarity of particular collection items arising from continued research, 
changes in the costs associated with recollecting specimens, increases in the value of certain items that were 
previously valued at nil, and a greater understanding of the broader attributes of the AM's large and varied 
specimen collections. 

Collection assets include heritage, scientific and cultural assets that are classified as non-current physical 
assets that the AM intends to preserve because of their unique historical, cultural or environmental attributes. 
Only those collection assets that are considered to be registerable because they can be used by the AM for 
display, sharing and or research purposes are included within the valuation. Items that the AM has determined 
are unregistered, such as secret and sacred items, are carried at nil value as they cannot be reliably measured 
due to their unique nature.

Collection assets are valued based on the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and are valued in 
accordance with NSW policy guideline TPP 14/01 Valuation of Physical Non-current Assets at Fair Value. 
Collection assets are considered to be an item of property, plant and equipment for financial reporting 
purposes and an entity can choose to either recognise collection assets via either the cost model or the 
revaluation model.

A registered collection item whose fair value can be measured reliably can be carred at a revalued amount, 
being its fair value (valued at its highest and best use) at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

All other registered collection assets, where there is a lack of market based evidence are carried at cost. The 
cost model utilised by the AM is a 'recollection cost' model, which attributes a derived average unit cost by 
collection type and extrapolates a total value for those items where a ready market does not exist. Average 
costs vary within collection categories and therefore the recollection costs applied to other collection items are 
an estimate based on the current gross replacement costs of those assets.

The value of exhibitions is included in plant and equipment and represents capitalisation of the development 
and establishment costs of exhibitions that will continue to generate revenue or provide a community service 
beyond the financial year or years in which these costs were incurred.

Capitalised development and establishment costs include material and construction expenditure, but do not 
include an assessment of the intrinsic value of collection items incorporated in an exhibition unless specifically 
purchased and costed for that purpose.

Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as a loss in the net result, except to the extent that it 
offsets an existing revaluation surplus on the same class of assets, in which case, the decrement is debited 
directly to the revaluation surplus.

As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a class 
of non-current assets, but not otherwise.

Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining in the asset 
revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds

Collection assets purchased by the AM are recorded at cost when purchased. Donated registered collection 
assets are valued by AM collection management staff initially at their 'recollection cost'.

Collection items are not depreciated as the AM has determined that these assets are intended to have an 
infinite useful life. However, the AM undertakes an annual impairment assessment looking for indicators of 
registered collection assets that are impaired due to damage or deterioration. Revaluation increments for 
collections are treated consistently with other classes of property, plant and equipment as disclosed above.



76PART 4   Financial statements

AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM TRUST
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

16

10 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Major inspection costs

Restoration costs

Except for collections and certain heritage assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight line basis for all 
depreciable assets so as to write-off the depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life 
to its estimated residual value.

All material identifiable component assets are depreciated separately over their useful lives.

Land is not a depreciable asset. Certain heritage assets have an extremely long useful life, including original 
artworks and collections and heritage buildings. Depreciation for these items cannot be reliably measured 
because the useful life and the net amount to be recovered at the end of the useful life cannot be reliably 
measured. In these cases, depreciation is not recognised. The decision not to recognise depreciation for these 
assets is reviewed annually.

The non-heritage buildings at the Sydney site are divided into Major buildings that are depreciated over their 
estimated life of 120 years and Minor buildings that are depreciated over their estimated life of 15 to 55 years.

The buildings on Lizard Island are depreciated over their estimated life of up to 50 years on the assumption 
that the AM's lease of land on the island will be renewed.

The useful life for each property, plant and equipment asset category is as follows:

Buildings: 15 to 120 years
Plant and equipment: 3 to 46 years
Vehicles: 6 to 7 years
Vessels: 6 to 7 years

Permanent exhibitions are depreciated on a straight-line basis based on their expected useful life, with a 
maximum life for depreciation purposes not exceeding 10 years.

As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets is 
unlikely to arise. As property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value, impairment can only arise in the rare 
circumstances where the costs of disposal are material. 

The entity assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication thatan asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the AM estimates the asset's 
recoverable amount. When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Specialised assets held for continuing use of their service capacity are rarely sold and their cost of disposal is 
typically negligible. Their recoverable amount is expected to be materially the same as fair value, where they 
are regularly revalued under AASB 13.

As a not-for-profit entity, an impairment loss is recognised in the net result to the extent the impairment loss 
exceeds the amount in the revaluation surplus for the class of asset.

After an impairment loss has been recognised, it is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions 
used to determine the asset's recoverable amount. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the 
asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recognised in net result and is treated as a revaluation increase. However, to the extent that an 
impairment loss on the same class of asset was previously recognised in net result, a reversal of that 
impairment loss is also recognised in net result.

When each major inspection is performed the labour cost of performing major inspection for faults is recognised 
in the carrying amount of an asset as a replacement of a part, if recognition criteria are satisfied.

The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset after its use is 
included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.



AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM   Annual Report 2017-1877

AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM TRUST
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

17

10 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Maintenance

(b) Fair value measurement of non-financial assets

Fair value measurement and hierarchy

Fair value hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total fair 

value
$000 $000 $000 $000

2018
Land and buildings - 38,565 154,451 193,016
Plant and equipment - 13,102 19,963 33,065
Collections - - 772,768 772,768

- 51,667 947,183 998,850

2017
Land and buildings - 38,565 154,725 193,290
Plant and equipment - 11,452 19,963 31,415
Collections - 310,812 176,059 486,871

- 360,829 350,747 711,576

Day to day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to 
the replacement of a part or component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal 
market for the asset or liability or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 
asset or liability.

When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimises the use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the AM categorises, for disclosure purposes, the 
valuation techniques based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the AM can access at 
the measurement date.

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or 
indirectly.

Level 3 – inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The AM recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred.

Collection assets previously valued and recognised as Level 2 have been transferred and recognised as Level 
3 upon revaluation. There were no other transfers between Level 1 or 2 during the year 2017 and 2018.

Land and buildings valuation techniques, inputs and processes:
The fair value of land and buildings is determined from market-based evidence. Fair value is measured having 
regard to the ‘highest and best use’ only when there exist feasible alternative uses in the existing natural, legal, 
financial and socio-political environment and the alternative users are feasible within the near future. Where 
there are natural, legal, financial or socio-political restrictions on use and disposal of an asset, such that there 
is no alternative use in the relatively near future, such an asset should be valued at fair value for its existing 
use. When establishing the fair value of the land, ‘value in use’ has been taken into account. 

The land has been valued by external valuer using the direct comparison approach as of 30 June 2016. The 
market evidence is of transactions of land within Sydney CBD and fringe commercial areas. 

The fair value of buildings was measured by its replacement cost. The Heritage building has been valued 
based on the external valuation report as of June 2016.
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10 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of level 3 fair value

Buildings
Plant and 

equipment Collections Total
$000 $000 $000 $000

2018
Fair value as at 1 July 2017 154,725 19,963 176,059 350,747
Additions (disposals) 1,379 - 2,311 3,690
Transfers in (out) of level 3 - - 310,812 310,812
Gains or losses recognised in net result - - 46,614 46,614
Depreciation (1,653) - - (1,653)

154,451 19,963 535,796 710,210
Gains (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income - - 236,972 236,972

- - 236,972 236,972
Fair value as at 30 June 2018 154,451 19,963 772,768 947,182

2017
Fair value as at 1 July 2016 138,021 32,826 176,059 346,906
Additions (disposals) 2,229 2,854 - 5,083
Depreciation (1,242) - - (1,242)

139,008 35,680 176,059 350,747
Transfers from (to) another asset type 15,717 (15,717) - -
Fair value as at 30 June 2017 154,725 19,963 176,059 350,747

11 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – INTANGIBLE ASSETS (SOFTWARE)

2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

At 30 June
Cost (gross carrying amount) 1,587 1,092 1,587 1,092
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (748) (574) (748) (574)
Net carrying amount 838 518 838 518

Year ended 30 June
Net carrying amount at start of year 518 380 518 380
Additions (disposals) 513 308 513 308
Amortisation (192) (170) (192) (170)
Net carrying amount at end of year 838 518 838 518

Recognition and measurement

Consolidated entity Parent entity

The AM recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the AM and 
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Where an asset 
is acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost is at fair value as at the date of acquisition.

All research costs are expensed. Development costs are only capitalised when certain criteria are met.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are subsequently measured at fair value only if there is an active 
market. If there is no active market, the assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation. The 
useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible assets (software) are amortised using the 
straight line method over a period of 3 to 5 years. Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an 
indicator of impairment exists. If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount 
is reduced to the recoverable amount and the reduction is recognised as an impairment loss.
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2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

12 CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES

Creditors 1,977 93 1,977 93
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 149 58 - -
Sundry accruals 979 1,796 979 1,796
Personnel services expenses payable - 129 2,847 2,615

3,105 2,076 5,803 4,504

Recognition and measurement

Consequential on-costs

 
13 CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – BORROWINGS

CURRENT
TCorp loan 38 - 38 -

38 - 38 -

NON-CURRENT
TCorp loan 161 - 161 -

161 - 161 -

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables 
are disclosed in Note 18.

Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to 
which they relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax and fringe benefits 
tax.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the AM and other amounts. Trade and 
other payables are recognised at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. The amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Loans are not held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss and are recognised at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses are recognised in the surplus (deficit) for the year on 
derecognition.
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2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

14 CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS

CURRENT
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Recreation leave 1,950 1,780 - -
Long service leave 689 596 - -

2,639 2,376 - -

NON-CURRENT
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Long service leave 60 52 - -

60 52 - -
Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs
Provisions – current 2,639 2,376 - -
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 12) 149 58 - -

2,787 2,435 - -
Provisions – non-current 60 52 - -

2,847 2,487 - -

Recognition and measurement
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised 
and measured at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present 
value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted).

Actuarial advice obtained by NSW Treasury has confirmed that using the nominal annual leave balance plus 
the annual leave entitlements accrued while taking annual leave (calculated using 7.9% of the nominal value of 
annual leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The entity has 
assessed the actuarial advice based on the entity’s circumstances and has determined that the effect of 
discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave is classified as a current liability even where the 
entity does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as the entity does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement.

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave 
taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
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2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

14 CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (continued)
Long service leave and superannuation

Other provisions

15 CURRENT LIABILITIES – OTHER

Unearned revenue 9,000 1,570 9,000 1,570
Security deposit 50 50 50 50

9,050 1,620 9,050 1,620

16 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

(a) Capital commitments

Not later than one year 674 1,397 674 1,397
Total (including GST) 674 1,397 674 1,397

(b) Operating lease commitments

Not later than one year 56 39 56 39
Later than one year and not later than five years 12 32 12 32
Later than five years 15 16 15 16
Total (including GST) 83 87 83 87

Aggregate expenditure for the acquisition of capital 
equipment/projects contracted for at balance date but not 
provided for:

Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals not provided 
for and payable:

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Provisions are recognised when: the AM has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the AM expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, 
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented net of 
any reimbursement in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The AM’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown 
Entity. The AM accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being 
shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as 'Acceptance by the Crown Trust of employee 
benefits and other liabilities'.

Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial review, 
including expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. 
Expected future payments are discounted using Commonwealth government bond rate at the reporting date.

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the 
Treasurer’s Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State 
Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State 
Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a 
multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.

The AM and AMS assume on-costs for long service leave liabilities. All annual leave and any LSL on-costs 
(whether or not it is expected to be settled within 12 months) is presented as a liability in the Statement of 
Financial Position in accordance with AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

The Lizard Island Research Station site is occupied by the AM and is leased from the Queensland 
government. The current lease expires in 2036. The total commitments above include GST input tax credits of 
$69,000 (2017: $135,000) that are expected to be recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.
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2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

17 RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO SURPLUS (DEFICIT)

Reconciliation
Net cash inflow from operating activities 8,502 4,946 8,502 4,946
Depreciation and amortisation (6,300) (5,966) (6,300) (5,966)
Allowance for impairment (30) (55) (30) (55)
(Increase) in provisions (270) (83) (270) (83)
(Increase) in payables (1,028) (20) (1,028) (20)
(Increase) in other liabilities (7,430) (758) (7,430) (758)
(Decrease) in inventory (67) (87) (67) (87)
Increase in receivables and other assets 409 526 409 526
(Loss) on disposal of plant and equipment (90) (1,153) (90) (1,153)
Other gains 46,614 - 46,614 -
Non-cash donations 2,044 1,825 2,044 1,825
Surplus (deficit) for the year 42,353 (825) 42,353 (825)

-

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial instrument categories

Notes Category
Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Financial assets
Class:

6 N/A 9,817 9,470 9,817 9,470

Receivables1 7 1,277 853 1,277 853

Financial liabilities
Class:
Payables2 12 3,101 1,946 5,306 4,504

Borrowings 13 199 - 199 -

Other2 15 50 50 50 50

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost
Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

Loans and receivables (at 
amortised cost)

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Cash and cash 
equivalents

The AM’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the 
AM’s operations or are required to finance the AM’s operations. The AM does not enter into or trade financial 
instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The AM’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the AM’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are 
included throughout these financial statements.

The Internal Audit and Risk Committee (IARC) have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
risk management and reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies 
are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the AM, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor 
risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by the IARC on a continuous basis.
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables – Trade debtors

Total

Past due 
but not 

impaired
Considered 

impaired
$000 $000 $000

2018
Less than 3 months overdue 719 719 -
3 months to 6 months overdue 38 - 38
Greater than 6 months overdue 64 - 64

2017
Less than 3 months overdue 332 332 -
3 months to 6 months overdue 7 - 7
Greater than 6 months overdue 74 - 32

Authority deposits

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the AM’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, 
resulting in a financial loss to the AM. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the 
carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment). Credit risk arises from the 
financial assets of the AM, including cash, receivables and authority deposits. No collateral is held by the AM. 
The AM has not granted any financial guarantees.

Credit risk associated with the AM’s financial assets, other than receivables, is managed through the selection 
of counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating standards. Authority deposits held with NSW 
TCorp are guaranteed by the State.

Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within and outside of the NSW Treasury Banking System, 
and term deposits with NAB. Interest is earned on term deposits at the rate set by NAB and paid at maturity.

Notes
1. All amounts represent gross receivables.
2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scopes of AASB 7 and 
excludes receivables that are not past due and not impaired. Therefore, the total shown will not reconcile to the 
receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position.

All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover 
outstanding amounts, including letters of demand. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. An 
allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able to collect all 
amounts due. This evidence includes past experience, and current and expected changes in economic 
conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made on 30 day terms.

The AM is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. 
Based on past experience, debtors that are not past due and not less than three months past due are not 
considered impaired and together these represent 91% (94% 2017) of the total trade debtors. There are no 
debtors which are currently past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated. The only financial 
assets that are past due or impaired are ‘sales of goods and services’ in the ‘receivables’ category of the 
statement of financial position.

The AM has placed funds on deposit with TCorp, which has been rated “AAA” by Standard and Poor’s. These 
deposits are similar to money market or bank deposits and can be placed “at call” or for a fixed term. For fixed 
term deposits, the interest rate payable by TCorp or banks is negotiated initially and is fixed for the term of the 
deposit, while the interest rate payable on at call deposits vary. The deposits at balance date were earning an 
average interest rate of 2.40% p.a. (2017 – 2.35%), while over the year the weighted average interest rate was 
2.41% p.a. (2017 – 2.61%). None of these assets are past due or impaired.
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

Nominal 
amount1

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing <1 yr 1-5 yrs >5 yrs

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Consolidated entity
2018

- 3,105 - - 3,105 3,105 - -
Borrowings 2.5% 199 194 - - 38 166 -

- 50 - - 50 50 - -
3,353 194 - 3,154 3,192 166 -

2017
- 2,076 - - 2,076 2,076 - -

Other - 50 - - 50 50 - -
2,126 - - 2,126 2,126 - -

Parent entity
2018
Payables - 5,803 - - 5,803 5,306 - -
Borrowings 2.5% 199 194 - - 38 166
Other - 50 - - 50 50 - -

6,052 194 - 5,853 5,394 166 -

2017
Payables - 4,504 - - 4,504 4,504 - -
Other - 50 - - 50 50 - -

4,554 - - 4,554 4,554 - -

Maturity dates
Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest %

Interest rate exposure

Payables

Other

Payables

Liquidity risk is the risk that the AM will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The AM 
continuously manages liquidity risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure 
adequate holding of high quality liquid assets. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of 
funding and flexibility through the use of overdrafts, loans and other advances. The AM does not maintain any 
credit standby arrangements.

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults of loans payable. No assets have been pledged as 
collateral. The AM’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current 
assessment of risk.

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether 
or not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set 
out in NSW TC 11/12. If trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month 
following the month in which an invoice or a statement is received. NSW TC 11/12 allows the Minister to award 
interest for late payment. No interest was paid during the year.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the AM’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate 
exposure.

Notes
1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities, 
therefore the amounts disclosed above will not reconcile to the statement of the financial position.
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Market risk

(e) Interest rate risk

Carrying 
amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Consolidated entity
2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,817 (1) (1) 1 1 
Receivables 1,277 - - - -
Financial liabilities
Payables 3,105 - - - -
Borrowings 199 - - - - 
Other 50 - - - -

2017
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,470 (3) (3) 3 3 
Receivables 853 - - - -
Financial liabilities
Payables 1,946 - - - -
Other 50 - - - -

Parent entity
2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,817 (1) (1) 1 1 
Receivables 1,277 - - - -
Financial liabilities
Payables 5,803 - - - -
Borrowings 199 - - - - 
Other 50 - - - -

2017
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,470 (3) (3) 3 3 
Receivables 853 - - - -
Financial liabilities
Payables 4,504 - - - -
Other 50 - - - -

∆ +1%∆ -1%

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices.  The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is 
outlined in the information below, for interest rate risk and other price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk 
variable has been determined after taking into account the economic environment in which the AM operates 
and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual reporting period). The sensitivity 
analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the statement of financial position date. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for the previous year. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain 
constant.

The AM does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or as 
available for sale. Therefore for these financial instruments a change in interest rates would not affect profit or 
loss or equity. A reasonably possible change of +/-1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. 
The basis will be reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate 
volatility. The AM’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(f) Fair value compared to carrying amount

19 NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES

20 BEQUESTS, SPECIAL FUNDS AND DONATED COLLECTIONS

21 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

22 BUDGET REVIEW

Budgeted amounts

Surplus (deficit) for the financial year 

Assets and liabilities

Cash flows

23 SERVICE GROUP INFORMATION

Management assessed that the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial 
position approximates the fair value, because of the short term nature of many of the financial instruments. 

Non-cash financing and investing activities represented the acquisition of property, plant and equipment assets 
through donations of items to the Collections totalling $2.0 million (2017: $1.8 million) – refer Note 3.

The NSW Treasury Managed Fund normally calculates hindsight premiums each year. However in regard to 
workers compensation the final adjustment calculations are in arrears.

The AM has no material contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2018 (2017: Nil).

The AM may receive monies, cultural and natural science collections donated, including scientific specimens or 
associated materials. Any revenue recognised provides for expenditure in current and future years. Total 
donated collections recognised as revenue in 2018 is $2.0 million (2017: $1.8 million).

The surplus for the year is $45.0 million favourable to the budget. This is principally due to the impact of the 
recovery of the amount previously written off as a loss on revaluation of the Collections assets.

The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to NSW 
Parliament in respect of the reporting period. Subsequent amendments to the original budget are not reflected 
in the budgeted amounts. 

The AM operates under one service group. Its objects are to propagate knowledge about the natural 
environment of Australia and to increase that knowledge. When acting in pursuance of its objects, the AM shall 
give particular emphasis to propagating and increasing knowledge in the natural sciences of biology, 
anthropology and geology.

The AM's cash balance is $5.3 million favourable due to additional funding received from the NSW 
Government. Property, plant and equipment is $284.7 million favourable due to the revaluation of collection 
assets. Other current liabilities are $9.0 million greater than budget due to increases in Unearned revenue. 

Net cash inflows from operating activities are $5.5 million favourable to budget due to additional funding 
received from the NSW Government.
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The AM’s Key Management Personnel (KMP) compensation for the 7 KMP (2017: 1 KMP) is as follows:
2018 2017
$000 $000

Short-term employee benefits:
Salaries 1,293 278
Other monetary allowances - 23
Non-monetary benefits 1 2

Other long-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits - -
Termination benefits - -

Total remuneration 1,294 303

25 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

End of audited financial statements

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

No significant events have occurred since the end of the reporting period which would impact the financial 
position of the AM at 30 June 2018.

During the year, the AM did not enter into material transactions with any key management personnel, their 
close family members and controlled or jointly controlled entities thereof.  
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Pursuant to s41C(1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (NSW) and in accordance 
with a resolution of the Australian Museum Trust, we, being Trustees of the Australian 
Museum Trust, state that: 

3. In our opinion, the financial report exhibits a true and fair view of the financial position 

of the Australian Museum Trust as at 30 June 2018, and financial performance for 

the year then ended, given the required compliance with Accounting Standards as 

noted in paragraph 2. 

4. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable 

Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations), the Public Finance & Audit Act 1983 (NSW), the Public Finance and 

Audit Regulation 2015 (NSW), and the requirements of the Financial Reporting 

Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General Government 

Sector Entities and the Treasurer’s Directions issued by the Treasurer under s9(2)(n) 

of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (NSW). 

 

Further, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included 
in the financial report to be misleading on inaccurate. 

 

 

 

David Armstrong     Sara Watts 

President      Trustee  

 

28 September 2018     28 September 2018 

 

 

 

 

Kim McKay AO 

Secretary 

 

28 September 2018 
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Dr Rebecca Johnson & Dr Greta Frankham viewing objects commonly 
found in the wildlife trade. Photograph by Ian Bird



90PART 4   Financial statements



AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM   Annual Report 2017-1891

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency 
(the Staff Agency), which comprise the Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 
30 June 2018, the Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the Statement of changes in 
equity and the Statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Staff Agency as at 30 June 2018, and of 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Staff Agency in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 



92PART 4   Financial statements

 

 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the information included in the Staff Agency’s annual report for the year 
ended 30 June 2018, other than the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report 
thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent 
Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the Statement by the Trustees 
pursuant to section 41C of the PF&A Act. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Staff Agency’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting except where the Staff Agency will be dissolved by an Act 
of Parliament or otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

 

 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Staff Agency carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically 
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Reiky Jiang 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

 

2 October 2018 
SYDNEY 
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Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency

2018 2017
 $’000  $’000 

EXPENSES
Salaries and wages (including recreation leave)        19,248              17,711 
Superannuation          1,797                1,667 
Payroll Tax and Fringe Benefit Tax          1,114                1,005 
Long service leave             747                   206 
Workers' compensation insurance             199                   178 
Total expenses        23,105              20,767 

INCOME
Personnel services         22,210              20,323 

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities 2             895                   444 

Total income        23,105              20,767 
Net result                -                        -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement  of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2018

Notes

1
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

ASSETS
Current assets

Receivable from the Trust 2,847 2,615
Total current assets          2,847 2,615
Total assets          2,847 2,615

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Payables 3 149 187
Provisions 4 2,639                  2,376 
Total current liabilities          2,787                  2,563 

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 5               60                       52 

Total non-current liabilities               60                       52 

Total liabilities          2,847 2,615

Net assets                -                         -   

EQUITY

Accumulated funds                -                         -   
Total equity                -                         -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Notes

2
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Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2018

Accumulated 
Funds

Accumulated 
Funds

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Balance at the beginning of the year
Net result for the year                    -                       -   
Other comprehensive income                    -                       -   
Total comprehensive income for the year                    -                       -   

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Increase/(decrease) in net assets from equity transfers                    -                       -   
Balance at the end of the year                    -                       -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Net cash flows from operating activities                    -                       -   
Net cash flows from investing activities                    -                       -   
Net cash flows from financing activities                    -                       -   
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                    -                       -   

Opening cash and cash equivalents                    -                       -   

Closing cash and cash equivalents                    -                       -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Notes

3
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

1.

 

The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian
Accounting Interpretations.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT  ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)   Reporting entity

The Australian Museum Trust Staff (AMS) Agency was created by Administrative Order on 24th February 2014
under the Government Sector Employment Act 2013 (GSE Act) . The sole objective of the AMS is to provide
personnel services to the Australian Museum Trust (The Trust).

The AMS is a reporting entity controlled by the Trust and these financial statements are consolidated into the
financial statements of the Trust.

These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 have been authorised for issue by the Director and
Trust President on 28 September 2018.

(b)   Basis of preparation

The AMS’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accrual
basis and in accordance with:

- applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations);
- requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983  and the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015 .

The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis.

Critical accounting estimates

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations that management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to
the financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to nearest thousand dollars
($000) unless otherwise stated. 

(c)   Statement of compliance

- Financial Reporting Directions mandated by the Treasurer

(d)   Comparative information

Except when an Australian Accounting Standards permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is
presented in respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements. Comparative figures
are for the period 01 July 2016 to 30 June 2017.

(e)   Revenue Recognition and Measurement

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue from the rendering of
personnel services is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable
expenses are recognised.

(f)    Receivables

A receivable is recognised when it is probable that the future cash inflows associated with it will be realised and it
has a value that can be measured reliably. It is derecognised when the contractual or other rights to future cash
flows from it expire or are transferred.

A receivable is measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method, less any allowance for impairment. A short-term receivable with no stated interest rate is measured at the
original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial. An invoiced receivable is due for settlement
within thirty days of invoicing.

(g)   Payables

Payables include accrued wages, salaries, and related on costs (such as- payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and
workers’ compensation insurance) where there is certainty as to the amount and timing of settlement.

4
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

Fees for audit of the financial statements are met by the Trust.

At the reporting date all the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (The AASB) that are relevant to Staff Agency operations and effective for the current annual
reporting period have been adopted.

The AMS has not applied any new accounting standards or interpretations that are not yet effective and the
expected impact of standards not yet adopted is not expected to be significant.

A short-term payable with no stated interest rate is measured at historical cost if the effect of discounting is 

A payable is recognised when a present obligation arises under a contract or otherwise. It is derecognised when the
obligation expires or is discharged, cancelled or substituted.

(i)    Audit fees

(j)    Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

5
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Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

Fees for audit of the financial statements are met by the Trust.

At the reporting date all the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (The AASB) that are relevant to Staff Agency operations and effective for the current annual
reporting period have been adopted.

The AMS has not applied any new accounting standards or interpretations that are not yet effective and the
expected impact of standards not yet adopted is not expected to be significant.

A short-term payable with no stated interest rate is measured at historical cost if the effect of discounting is 

A payable is recognised when a present obligation arises under a contract or otherwise. It is derecognised when the
obligation expires or is discharged, cancelled or substituted.

(i)    Audit fees

(j)    Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

5

Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
Notes

Superannuation-defined benefits                  211                  217 
Long service leave                  672                  215 
Payroll tax                    12                    12 

                 895                  444 

3 PAYABLES
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs                    65                    58 
Payroll Tax and FBT                    84                  129 
Total payables                  149                  187 

4 PROVISIONS 

Current 

Recreation leave               1,950               1,780 
Long services leave on-costs                  689                  596 
Total current provisions               2,639               2,376 

5 PROVISIONS 

Non-current 

Long services leave on-costs                    60                    52 
Total non-current provisions                    60                    52 

Employee benefits and related on-costs
Salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave

Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised
and measured at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted).
Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed that using the nominal annual leave balance plus the
annual leave entitlements accrued while taking annual leave (calculated using X% of the nominal value of
annual leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The AMS has
assessed the actuarial advice based on the AMS’s circumstances and has determined that the effect of
discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave is classified as a current liability even where the
AMS does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as the AMS does not have an unconditional right
to defer settlement.

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave
taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
Long service leave and superannuation

The AMS’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown
AMS. The AMS accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being
shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as 'Acceptance by the Crown AMS of employee
benefits and other liabilities'.

Treasury Mandates
Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of
services provided up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial
review, including expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of
service. Expected future payments are discounted using Commonwealth government bond rate at the
reporting date.

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the
Treasurer’s Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State
Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State
Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a
multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.

 $’000 

2 ACCEPTANCE OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND 
OTHER LIABILITIES BY THE GOVERNMENT 
(CROWN):

 $’000 

6
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

The AMS assumes on-costs for long service leave liabilities. All annual leave and any LSL on-costs(whether
or not it is expected to be settled within 12 months) is presented as a liability in the Statement of Financial
Position in accordance with AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

Employee benefits and related on-costs
Salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave

Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised
and measured at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted).
Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed that using the nominal annual leave balance plus the
annual leave entitlements accrued while taking annual leave (calculated using X% of the nominal value of
annual leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The AMS has
assessed the actuarial advice based on the AMS’s circumstances and has determined that the effect of
discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave is classified as a current liability even where the
AMS does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as the AMS does not have an unconditional right
to defer settlement.

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave
taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
Long service leave and superannuation

The AMS’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown
AMS. The AMS accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being
shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as 'Acceptance by the Crown AMS of employee
benefits and other liabilities'.

Treasury Mandates
Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of
services provided up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial
review, including expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of
service. Expected future payments are discounted using Commonwealth government bond rate at the
reporting date.

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the
Treasurer’s Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State
Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State
Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a
multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.

7
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The AMS assumes on-costs for long service leave liabilities. All annual leave and any LSL on-costs(whether
or not it is expected to be settled within 12 months) is presented as a liability in the Statement of Financial
Position in accordance with AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

Employee benefits and related on-costs
Salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave

Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised
and measured at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted).
Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed that using the nominal annual leave balance plus the
annual leave entitlements accrued while taking annual leave (calculated using X% of the nominal value of
annual leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The AMS has
assessed the actuarial advice based on the AMS’s circumstances and has determined that the effect of
discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave is classified as a current liability even where the
AMS does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as the AMS does not have an unconditional right
to defer settlement.

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave
taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
Long service leave and superannuation

The AMS’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown
AMS. The AMS accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being
shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as 'Acceptance by the Crown AMS of employee
benefits and other liabilities'.

Treasury Mandates
Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of
services provided up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial
review, including expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of
service. Expected future payments are discounted using Commonwealth government bond rate at the
reporting date.

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the
Treasurer’s Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State
Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State
Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a
multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.
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Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

6 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

7

(a)

2018 2017

Notes Category

Financial Liabilities
Class:

Payables1 Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost 65 58 

(b)

(c)

 $’000  $’000 

The Internal Audit and Risk Committee (IARC) has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of
risk management and reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies
are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the entity, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor
risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by the IARC on a continuous basis.  

Financial instrument categories

The Treasury Managed Fund normally calculates hindsight premiums each year. However in regard to workers
compensation the final adjustment calculations are in arrears. 

The AMS has no material contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2018 (2017:NIL)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The entity’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the
entity’s operations or are required to finance the entity’s operations. The entity does not enter into or trade
financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

The entity’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the entity’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are
included throughout these financial statements. 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The
entity’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of
risk. 

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or
not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out
in NSW TC 11/12. 

Notes

As at 30 June 2018, the entity had debtors of $2.8 million (2017: $2.6 million) which represent personnel services
receivable from the Trust.  There are no receivables past due or impaired.

Liquidity risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility that the counterparty will default on their contractual obligations,
resulting in a financial loss to the entity. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the
carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment). 
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the entity. No collateral is held by the entity. The entity has not
granted any financial guarantees.

Credit Risk

Receivables

1. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).

8
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Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Int. Rate

Nominal 
Amount 1

Non-
interest 
bearing

$’000 $’000
<1 yr 1-5 yrs >5 yrs
$’000 $’000 $’000

0%            65            65            65             -               -   
           65            65            65             -               -   

0%            58            58            58             -               -   
           58            58            58             -               -   

(d)

(e)

8 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

9

Fair value measurement
Financial instruments are recognised at cost, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in
the statement of financial position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of many
of the financial instruments.

EVENTS  AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Maturity Analysis  and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

2017

Maturity Dates

2018
Payables:
Accrued salaries,

No significant events have occurred since the end of the reporting period which would impact the
financial position of the entity at 30 June 2018.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the AMS’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate
exposure.

1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities,
therefore the amounts disclosed above will not reconcile to the statement of the financial position.

The AMS does not have any commitments for expenditure at 30 June 2018 (2017:NIL).

End of audited financial statements

wages  and on-costs

Payables:

Note

Accrued salaries,
wages  and on-costs

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. The entity has no exposure to interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk and does not enter into commodity contracts. 

9
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Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Int. Rate

Nominal 
Amount 1

Non-
interest 
bearing

$’000 $’000
<1 yr 1-5 yrs >5 yrs
$’000 $’000 $’000

0%            65            65            65             -               -   
           65            65            65             -               -   

0%            58            58            58             -               -   
           58            58            58             -               -   

(d)

(e)

8 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

9

Fair value measurement
Financial instruments are recognised at cost, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in
the statement of financial position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of many
of the financial instruments.

EVENTS  AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Maturity Analysis  and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

2017

Maturity Dates

2018
Payables:
Accrued salaries,

No significant events have occurred since the end of the reporting period which would impact the
financial position of the entity at 30 June 2018.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the AMS’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate
exposure.

1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities,
therefore the amounts disclosed above will not reconcile to the statement of the financial position.

The AMS does not have any commitments for expenditure at 30 June 2018 (2017:NIL).

End of audited financial statements

wages  and on-costs

Payables:

Note

Accrued salaries,
wages  and on-costs

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. The entity has no exposure to interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk and does not enter into commodity contracts. 

9

AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM TRUST STAFF AGENCY 
STATEMENT BY THE TRUSTEES OF THE AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM TRUST 

 
Pursuant to s41C(1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (NSW) and in accordance 
with a resolution of the Australian Museum Trust, we, being Trustees of the Australian 
Museum Trust, state that: 

1. In our opinion, the financial report exhibits a true and fair view of the financial position 

of the Australian Museum Trust Staff Agency as at 30 June 2018, and financial 

performance for the year then ended, given the required compliance with Accounting 

Standards as noted in paragraph 2. 

2. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable 

Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations), the Public Finance & Audit Act 1983 (NSW), the Public Finance and 

Audit Regulation 2015 (NSW), and the requirements of the Financial Reporting 

Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General Government 

Sector Entities and the Treasurer’s Directions issued by the Treasurer under s9(2)(n) 

of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (NSW). 

 

Further, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included 
in the financial report to be misleading on inaccurate. 

 

 

 

David Armstrong     Sara Watts 

President, Australian Museum Trust   Trustee, Australian Museum Trust 

 

28 September 2018     28 September 2018 

 

 

 

 

Kim McKay AO 

Secretary, Australian Museum Trust 

 

28 September 2018 
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Crocodile Turtle Mask, on display in the 200 Treasures Exhibition. Photograph by Stuart Humphreys 
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Appendix A:
Organisational chart

Director & CEO 
Kim McKay AO

Director, Corporate 
Services, & CFO
Tony Dibbenhall

Director, Engagement, 
Exhibitions & Cultural 
Collections  
Russell Briggs

Director, AMRI, Education
& Lifelong Learning  
Dr Rebecca Johnson

People & Culture
Maggie Chien

Financial Operations & 
Finance Business Partner 
Acting Eric Lemon

ICT
Acting Andy Latta

Aboriginal & Torres Strait 
Island Collection
Sharni Jones

Pacific & International 
Collections
Dr Michael Mel
& Dr Jennifer Newell

Visitor Experience & 
Education
Fara Pelarek

Digital
Megan Lawrence

Archives, Rare Books
& Library Collections
Vanessa Finney

Australian Centre for
Wildlife Genomics
Dr David Alquezar

Materials Conservation
Colin Macgregor

Life Science
Cameron Slatyer

Facilities 
Gerald Winch

Security Services
Anthony Macvean

Exhibitions
Gillian Scott

Programming
Matt Ravier

Digital Collections
& Citizen Science
Paul Flemons

Lizard Island Research 
Station
Dr Anne Hoggett  
& Dr Lyle Vail 

NSW Minister for Resources,  
Energy and Utilities, and the Arts
Hon Minister Don Harwin, MLC

NSW Department of Planning  
& Environment –Create NSW

Australian Museum Trust 
David Armstrong 
President

M
an

ag
er

s
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Director, Marketing, 
Communications  
& Partnerships 
Jacinta Spurrett

Director Development 
Tehmi Sukhla

Manager, Public Affairs & 
Community Relations 
Amanda Farrar

Marketing & Memberships
Christine Bradburn

Development
Vacant

Communications
Vacant

Partnerships
A/Claudia Rowe

Eureka Prizes
Dr Viviane Richter

Commercial Operations 
Serafina Froio

At 30 June 2017
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Appendix B:
Trustees of the 
Australian Museum

Board of Trustees

The AM is governed by a Trust established under the 
Australian Museum Trust Act 1975. The Trust has 11 members 
including representatives with knowledge or experience 
in the areas of science, education and Aboriginal & Torres 
Strait Island cultures. Trustees met bi-monthly during the 
year, with attendances recorded in Table B.1.

Table B.1  
Trustees of the Australian Museum and their attendance at Trust 
meetings, 2017–18 

Trustee Meetings attended

David Armstrong  
(President from Jan 2018) 5 of 6

Jennifer Bott AO 5 of 6

Paul Connor 6 of 6

Prof Merlin Crossley 5 of 6

Belinda Gibson 6 of 6

Steven Gregg 4 of 6

Dr Elie Hammam 6 of 6

Shauna Jarrett (joined Jan 2018) 3 of 3

Dr Rod Kefford AM, FACE 6 of 6

Prof Robynne Quiggin 4 of 6

Sara Watts (joined Jan 2018) 2 of 3

Catherine Livingstone AO  
(President until Dec 2017) 3 of 3

David Sherley (until Dec 2017) 3 of 3
 

David Armstrong 
President from January 2018 

David is a chartered accountant and non-executive 
Director of the National Australia Bank. He is a Director 
of the Opera Australia Capital Fund, the Museum’s Lizard 
Island Reef Research Foundation and the George Institute. 
David was a partner at PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) for 
24 years, specialising in providing professional services 
for financial services organisations throughout his career 
and has lived and worked in London and New York. He has 
a BBus (UTS) and is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia. He was appointed to the Trust in 
January 2014, and became president in January 2018. 

Catherine Livingstone AO 
President until Dec 2017

Catherine Livingstone was appointed President of Trustees 
when she joined the Australian Museum Trust in January 
2012. She was appointed Chairman of the Commonwealth 
Bank of Australia in January 2017, having been a director 
since 2016. She is also a Director of Worley Parsons Ltd 
(since 2007) and Saluda Medical Pty Ltd; as well as on the 
Australian Ballet’s Board of Directors and Chancellor at 
The University of Technology Sydney since 2016. 

Catherine’s former appointments include: President of 
the Business Council of Australia (2014-16), Chair of Telstra 
Corporation (2009-16), Chair of both CSIRO (2001-06) 
and the Australian Business Foundation (2002-05); and 
Director of Macquarie Group Ltd (2003-13), Rural Press 
Ltd (2000-03) and Goodman Fielder Ltd (2000-03). She 
was CEO and Managing Director of Cochlear Ltd (1994-
2000) and a member of the NSW Innovation & Productivity 
Council. She was made an Officer of the Order of 
Australia in 2008 for services to the development of 
science, technology and innovation policies, business and 
management. Catherine stepped down as President of the 
Trust in December 2017. 

Jennifer Bott AO 

Jennifer Bott is a professional mentor, board member, 
project manager and consultant. She is Artistic Director 
of the Canberra Writers Festival, Chair of the National 
Institute of Dramatic Art (NIDA) and Chair of the Bundanon 
Trust. She is also a Director of the Australian National 
Academy of Music, the NIDA Foundation Trust and the 
Sydney Orthopaedic Research Institute.

Previously, Jenny served as Acting Director of the National 
Portrait Gallery of Australia, CEO of the Australia Council 
for the Arts from 1999-2006 and Chief Executive of the 
University of New South Wales Foundation. Jenny was 
awarded an AO in 2012 for distinguished service to the arts 
through executive and leadership roles in national cultural 
organisations and to the development of policy reform 
initiatives promoting funding and best practice. She was 
appointed to the Trust in January 2015.



108PART 5   Appendices

Paul Connor 

Paul Connor is an architect, artist and founding 
director of the NSW Parliament Plein Air Painting Prize. 
Paul completed his BArch (hons) at The University of 
Sydney in 1985 and spent his early professional life with 
internationally renowned architect John Andrews and 
teaching at The University of Sydney. In 1996, having 
started a lasting interest in the arid zone of far western 
NSW, he was awarded first class honours in Masters of 
Fine Arts at the College of Fine Art, University of New 
South Wales for research in the area. Paul has had many 
solo and joint art exhibitions, and is represented in both 
government and private collections. He is a founding 
partner of COSCO Architecture. Paul was appointed to the 
Trust in May 2010. 

Professor Merlin Crossley 

Merlin Crossley is the Deputy Vice-Chancellor Academic 
at the University of New South Wales (UNSW). Prior to 
taking that position he was Dean of Science at UNSW. 
A molecular biologist by training, he studied at the 
Universities of Melbourne and Oxford (as a Rhodes 
Scholar) and has researched gene regulation and 
genetic disease at Oxford, Harvard, Sydney and UNSW. 
His awards include the Australian Academy of Science’s 
Gottschalk Medal, the Royal Society of NSW’s Edgeworth 
David Medal, the Australian Society for Biochemistry and 
Molecular Biology’s Roche Medal and the Lorne Genome 
Conference’s Julian Wells Medal. He is also a committed 
teacher and has received a Vice-Chancellor’s Award for 
Higher Research Degree Supervision. He was appointed to 
the Trust in January 2012. 

Belinda Gibson 

Belinda Gibson is a company director, business adviser 
and lawyer. She is a director of Citigroup Australia Pty 
Ltd, Ausgrid, Brisbane Airport Corporation and Thorn 
Group Ltd and a museum appointed trustee of the Lizard 
Island Reef Research Foundation. Belinda joined ASIC as 
a Commissioner in November 2007 and was appointed 
Deputy Chairman in May 2010, a role she held until May 
2013. She was a partner of Mallesons Stephen Jaques for 
20 years and partner in charge of Mallesons’ Sydney office 
(2000-03). She was a director of Airservices Australia 
(2000-04) and of The Sir Robert Menzies Foundation 
(1990-2007), having received a Menzies Scholarship in 
1982. Belinda’s qualifications include a BEc, LLB (Hons) 
(Sydney) and LLM (Hons) (Cambridge). She was appointed 
to the Trust in January 2013.

Steven Gregg 

Steven Gregg is a member of the Grant Samuel non-
executive Advisory Board and a non-executive Director 
of Tabcorp Holdings Ltd (since 2012), Caltex Limited 
(Chairman since August 2017), Challenger Ltd and 
Challenger Life Ltd (since 2012) and William Inglis & Son 
Ltd. He is currently Chairman of The Lorna Hodgkinson 
Sunshine Home. His past roles include non-executive 
Chairman of Goodman Fielder (2010-15) and Chairman of 
Austock Group Limited (2009- 12). Steven has extensive 
Australian and international executive experience, with 
ABN Amro (as Senior Executive Vice President and Global 
Head of Investment Banking), Chase Manhattan, Lehman 
Brothers and AMP Morgan Grenfell. His most recent 
executive role was as Expert Partner (corporate finance) at 
McKinsey & Company in Australia and the US. He worked in 
the USA and UK resulting in an extensive executive career 
in management consulting and investment banking. He 
has a BComm (UNSW) and was appointed to the Trust in 
January 2014.

Dr Elie Hammam 

Dr Elie Hammam is a medical officer at Westmead Hospital 
and a neurophysiologist with an awarded doctoral thesis 
from Western Sydney University (WSU). His research 
in integrative physiology is conducted at the School of 
Medicine, WSU and abroad at the Hong Kong University 
of Science and Technology (HKUST). During his training, 
he was awarded several scholarships from national and 
international bodies including the International Brain 
Research Organisation (IBRO). Elie is also a passionate 
higher education teacher with a special interest in 
Indigenous students’ medical education.

Since 2006, Elie has been a dedicated advocate for 
community welfare and led outreach programs to promote 
higher education and health in Western Sydney, for 
which he was highly commended by the Vice-Chancellors 
Excellence Award in Engagement. From 2013 to 2015, Elie 
was elected as the postgraduate member to the Board of 
Trustees, WSU (2013-2015) and in 2015 as a councillor of 
the Australian Medical Association (NSW). He is a graduate 
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, having 
completed the Company Directors Course. Elie was 
appointed to the Trust in January 2016.
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Shauna Jarrett 

Shauna is an experienced senior executive and non-
executive director and lawyer with a substantial skill in 
strategic design and execution across the educational, 
legal, arts and community sectors. Her passion and 
commitment to the sustainability of community and social 
justice organisations is evident in her dedication to many 
community projects. 

Shauna was the University of Sydney Foundations’ Director 
and Assistant Group Secretary from July 2008 – April 2015 
where she was responsible for developing the strategic 
direction of a diverse range of 41 University Foundations. 
Shauna was appointed to the Board of Seton Villa in April 
2016 and Force Majeure in 2014.

Shauna has over 20 years experience at board level of 
promoting and implementing governance reforms as a 
platform for organisational sustainability, integrity and 
generational change including chairing the Public Interest 
Advocacy Centre and Vice President of the NSW Law 
Society. Shauna was appointed to the Australian Museum 
Trust in January 2018.

Dr Rod Kefford AM, FACE 

Dr Rod Kefford was previously Headmaster of Barker 
College (1996 – 2013) and of Wesley College, Perth 
(1984-96). Dr Kefford was NSW/ACT Branch Chair of the 
Association of Heads of Independent Schools Australia 
(AHISA, 2006-07), and a member of its national Board 
(1998-99 and 2006-07). In recognition of his contribution 
to AHISA and independent school leadership, he was 
made an Honorary Member of AHISA. As the inaugural 
Chair (2007-12), he played a key role in establishing the 
Independent Schools Teacher Accreditation Authority. 
He was also President of the Association of Independent 
Schools of Western Australia (1991-92) and Chair of the WA 
Chapter of the Australian College of Educators (1990-91). 
Dr Kefford was made a Member of the Order of Australia 
(AM) in 2008 for service to primary and secondary 
education through administrative and teaching roles. He 
is a Fellow of the Australian College of Educators (FACE). 
His qualifications include BA (Hons), and MA (University of 
Sydney); MA (Hons) (Macquarie University); and Dip Ed, MEd 
Administration and PhD (University of New England). Dr 
Kefford was appointed to the Australian Museum Trust in 
March 2014. 

Robynne Quiggin 

Robynne Quiggin is Professor of Practice and Director 
of Indigenous Strategy at the Business School, University 
of Technology Sydney. Robynne is descended from the 
Wiradjuri people of central western NSW and has worked 
as a lawyer across legal and policy areas of relevance 
to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians 
including, human rights, consumer issues, financial 
services, governance, rights to culture, heritage and the 
arts. Robynne has previously held positions including 
the Deputy Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social 
Justice Commissioner for the Australian Human Rights 
Commission, inaugural CEO of the Australian Indigenous 
Governance Institute and Senior Manager of ASIC’s 
Indigenous Outreach Program. Robynne has served on the 
boards of the Arts Law Centre of Australia, the Australian 
Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies 
(AIATSIS) and Gadigal Information Services (incorporating 
Koori Radio). She is currently Chair of the Board of the 
NSW Aboriginal Housing Office, Deputy Chair of the 
Bangarra Dance Theatre, Chair of Westpac’s Indigenous 
Advisory Committee, a member of Westpac’s Stakeholder 
Advisory Committee. She has participated in a number 
of United Nations human rights and biodiversity forums 
and worked as a senior researcher and lecturer at the 
University of Technology, Sydney, Macquarie University and 
the University of Notre Dame. Robynne was appointed to 
the Trust in January 2014. 

Sara Watts

Sara Watts is a non-executive Director and an experienced 
audit and risk committee chairperson. Sara sits on the 
boards of Vision Australia, the Vision Australia Trust, 
BagTrans Group and chairs the Audit and Risk Committee 
of the Victorian Auditor General’s Office. Sara has strong 
finance, governance and technology skills and is a Fellow 
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and a 
Fellow of CPA Australia. Sara’s previous executive roles 
include Vice-Principal Operations at The University 
of Sydney and Chief Financial Officer and Executive 
Sponsor Corporate Responsibility, IBM Australia and New 
Zealand. In November 2013, Sara was the recipient of the 
ARN WIICTA (Women in ICT Awards) Achievement Award 
for her leadership skills and commitment to women in 
the Australian ICT industry. Sara was appointed to the 
Australian Museum Trust in January 2018.
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David Sherley 

David is the General Manager of Bathurst Regional Council, 
and is also a board member the Regional Development 
Australia Central West Committee. He has previously been 
a board member of Museums & Galleries NSW. David was 
an integral part of the team which coordinated “Band 
Town” in Bathurst during the 2000 Sydney Olympics, and 
has been involved with the establishment and running of 
the Australian Fossil and Mineral Museum, Chifley Home & 
Education Centre, National Motor Racing Museum and the 
proposed Railway Museum in Bathurst. He has a Graduate 
Certificate in Museum Studies (Deakin). As General Manager 
of the Bathurst Regional Council, he has also been involved 
with the operation of the world-famous Mt Panorama Motor 
Racing Circuit. David has a BEc (University of Sydney) and 
a MBus (Charles Sturt University). He was appointed to the 
Trust in January 2009, and chaired the Internal Audit & Risk 
Committee from December 2011 to December 2014. David 
stepped down from the Trust in December 2017. 

Subcommittees

Internal Audit and Risk Committee

The committee has oversight of the AM’s financial position 
through regular reviews of its budget, finance and business 
decisions and policies which have an impact on these 
areas. The committee also has an important role in risk 
management and audit through endorsement of internal 
and external audit plans, review of audit reports and the 
review of risk assessment and management. Members of  
the Internal Audit and Risk Committee at 30 June 2018 
were Sara Watts (Chair), David Armstrong (Chair), Sara Watts 
and Elie Hammam.

Science Advisory Board (SAB) 

The Science Advisory Board (previously Science Strategy 
Panel) was established as a subcommittee of the Trust in 
March 2012, and members at 30 June 2018 were:

 · Professor Merlin Crossley (Chair; Deputy Vice-Chancellor 
Education University of New South Wales and AM Trustee)

 · Catherine Livingstone AO – (Chancellor of the University 
of Technology, Sydney and President of the AM Trust until 
December 2017) 

 · Kim McKay AO – (ex officio, Director & CEO, AM)

 · Dr Rebecca Johnson – (ex officio, Director, Australian 
Museum Research Institute)

 · Dr Joanne Daly (Former Strategic Advisor, Science, 
Strategy & People, CSIRO, Advisory Board Member)

 · Professor John Mattick AO (Executive Director, Garvan 
Institute of Medical Research and genomics expert, 
Advisory Board Member)

 · Dr Jim Peacock AC (Fellow, CSIRO, former Chief Scientist 
of Australia and Advisory Board Member)

 · Professor Steve Simpson AC (ARC Laureate Fellow, 
University of Sydney with museum leadership 
experience, Advisory Board Member)

 · Dr Kate Wilson (Executive Director, Science, Office of 
Environment and Heritage, and Advisory Board Member)

 · Adam Williams (Science Educator, Summer Hill Public 
School, Science Education expert and Advisory Board 
Member)

The Terms of Reference for the Advisory Board are to:

 · provide advice to the Director and CEO of the AM, the 
Director of AMRI and the AM Trust on the strategic 
direction of research and collections.

In so doing, the Advisory Board will be mindful of the 
Australian Museum’s Act, and its responsibility to conduct 
work in biology and geology and anthropology, and of the 
current aspirations and strategic priorities, as set out by 
the Director and listed below, including to:

 · Conduct and publish scholarly research that is world 
leading.

 · Maintain and make available world class collections 

And to emphasise:

 · Contemporary discovery

 · Impacts of change

 · Supporting Australian industry

 · Cultural diversity

The Science Advisory Board will:

 · Advise on initiatives

 · Provide networks and contacts to promote collaboration

 · Provide support and help communicate and publicise 
the importance of the projects, particularly in order to 
generate resources or allow implementation of projects.

In 2017-18, the Advisory Board met on 26 September 2017.
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The Australian Museum Master Plan  
Governance Committee

The Committee meets every two months. The terms of 
reference as at 14 July 2015 are:

 · providing guidance and feedback for the Master Plan

 · confirming the strategic direction of the Master Plan

 · approving program and budget, including funding of the 
Master Plan- then monitor progress against the program 
and budget, recommending to the Trust for approval on 
significant items

 · establishing the governance arrangements and probity 
standards to apply to the Master Plan and then monitor 
adherence to that

 · upholding standards for design excellence in 
accordance with the approved program 

 · appointing and managing the Master Plan Steering 
Committee of Project Champions (stakeholder 
influencers and proponents of key messages)

 · approving outputs at the completion pre-determined 
stages

 · reporting progress against project objectives to the 
Australian Museum Trust at its monthly meetings 

 · approving documentation prior to submission through 
the NSW Government Gateway process 

Members at 30 June 2018 were:

 · Trust President 

 · A trustee with extensive expertise in building and/or 
architecture

 · A trustee with extensive expertise in financial 
management

 · Director & CEO

 · Director, Corporate Resources, and CFO

Trustees on the Committee are Paul Connor (Chair), 
Steven Gregg, Belinda Gibson and David Armstrong.



112PART 5   Appendices

Appendix C:
Executive & management 
group profiles

Executive Leadership Team

The Museum’s Executive Leadership Team (ELT) provides 
strategic direction and oversight of the Museum’s 
operations and functions. The ELT meet weekly with a 
formal strategy meeting once a month to deal with a range 
of matters aimed at increasing self-generated revenue, 
improving cost recovery and reducing operating expenses 
and staff stewardship. ELT members and their profiles 
appear below.

Table C.1  
Executive Leadership Team, Australian Museum 2017–2018

Executive  
Leadership Team Role

Kim McKay AO Director & CEO

Russell Briggs Director, Engagement, Exhibitions 
and Cultural Connection 

Tony Dibbenhall Director, Corporate Services & 
CFO, Apr 18 onwards

Amanda Farrar Manager, Public Affairs & 
Community Relations

Dr Rebecca Johnson Director, AMRI

Jacinta Spurrett Director, Marketing, 
Communications & Partnerships

Tehmi Sukhla Director, Development 

John Buttle A/ Director, Corporate Services, 
Commercial & CFO, Dec 17 - Mar 18

Dr Jenny Newell A/Director, Programs, Exhibitions & 
Cultural Collections, July 17 - Sep 17

Paul Ryan JP Director, Corporate Services, 
Commercial & CFO, July-Dec 2017

Kim McKay AO 
Director & CEO 

As Director and CEO of the Australian Museum (AM), Kim 
is responsible for strategic planning and management of 
the nation’s first museum, including a collection of over 21 
million natural science and cultural objects.

Since being appointed to the Director’s role in April 2014 
(the first woman to hold the role in the AM’s 190+ year 
history), Kim has initiated a broad transformation program. 
This has included enshrining free general admission for 
children into government policy, constructing a new 
award-winning entrance pavilion, Crystal Hall; creating 

new galleries and programs, including the restoration 
of the iconic Westpac Long Gallery and establishing the 
Australian Museum Centre for Citizen Science (part of 
the Australian Museum Research Institute, AMRI); and 
undertaking a comprehensive and strategic re-branding 
campaign. She previously served for two years as a Trustee 
of the AM. Kim has also led the AM’s master planning and 
secured funding from the NSW Government for major 
refurbishment work ($50.5m). 

Before joining the AM, Kim was Managing Director of 
Momentum2 Pty Ltd, a Sydney-based marketing and 
communications agency specialising in major events, 
corporate sustainability and social responsibility 
programs. Prior to this she worked in the USA for the 
Discovery Channel and National Geographic Channels 
International where she was Senior Vice President Global 
Marketing & Communications. She has since also held 
long-term consulting roles with the National Geographic 
Society co-developing The Genographic Project, the 
world’s largest DNA population study. Possessing a strong 
social conscience and environmental commitment, Kim 
co-founded the iconic Clean Up Australia and Clean Up 
the World campaigns in the early 1990’s and helped drive 
their success during their first decade.

Kim is a strong supporter of women in leadership and 
actively promotes women within the Australian Museum, 
including on the executive leadership team and across the 
Museums sector where she has championed a nation-
wide mentoring program. She is on the advisory board 
of the One Million Women organisation and, in 2011, was 
named in the Australian Financial Review’s 100 Women of 
Influence list, and was included in the book ‘The Power of 
100...One Hundred Women who have Shaped Australia’. 
In 2013 she received Australian Geographic’s Lifetime 
Conservation Award.

Awarded as an Officer of the Order of Australia (AO) in 
2008 for distinguished service to the environment and 
the community, Kim also serves on the board of the 
Sydney Institute of Marine Science Foundation, as well as 
the UNSW Science Advisory Panel, UTS Business Advisory 
Board and the MGSM Reference Panel, The Somerville 
Collection Museum in Bathurst, the AM Foundation, Lizard 
Island Reef Research Foundation and is Secretary of the 
Australian Museum Trust.

The co-author of five books in the ‘True Green’ series 
published in Australia (ABC Books) and internationally by 
National Geographic, Kim holds a BA Communications 
from UTS and is an honorary Adjunct Professor at the 
Macquarie Graduate School of Management.
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Russell Briggs  
Engagement, Exhibitions & Cultural Connection

Russell Briggs is the Director of Engagement, Exhibitions & 
Cultural Connection at the Australian Museum, beginning 
his tenure in September 2017. Russell leads the team 
responsible for permanent, temporary and touring 
exhibitions; visitor services and front-of-house; digital; 
public and education programs; the museum archives 
and library; and the extensive cultural collections which 
include Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islander, Pacific and 
international objects. 

A native of California, Russell moved to New Zealand in 
2002 and joined the team at Auckland Museum from 2007-
2012. There he held the position of Director of Exhibitions 
and Programmes, and was Director of the War Memorial 
during planning for the WWI Centenary. He relocated to 
the Australian Centre for the Moving Image in Melbourne, 
where he was Director of Exhibitions and Collections from 
2012-2017.

Previously, Russell worked for a decade as Executive VP 
and Creative Director of a high-end multimedia company 
in California that specialised in rich-media and interactive 
technology, user engagement strategy, and audio/video 
production. Russell received a Bachelor degree in Film 
and Television, at the University of California, Los Angeles.

Tony Dibbenhall 
Corporate Services & CFO 

Tony joined the Australian Museum in April 2018 and leads 
the Corporate Services Division incorporating Finance, 
Human Resources, Information and Communications 
Technology, Security, and Facilities Management. As Chief 
Financial Officer, Tony is also responsible for the Museum’s 
financial management, planning processes, performance 
monitoring, and financial reporting to stakeholders. As 
a member of the Executive Leadership Team, Tony has 
a key role in strategy development and implementation, 
including management and delivery of the Museum’s 
Master Plan.

Tony is a Chartered Accountant and Finance executive 
with over 20 years experience in financial management, 
including the past 13 years in leadership roles in both 
Australia and the UK. He has extensive experience 
managing, advising on, and delivering a wide range of 
financial, strategic and other key functions in large and 
complex organisations across both the not-for-profit and 
for-profit sectors. Tony has recently returned to Australia 
from the UK where he was Deputy Director of Finance at 
one of the world’s great universities, Durham University. 
At Durham, Tony was a key member of the leadership team 
involved in strategy development, organisational planning, 

and major change, including the development of plans 
involving new investments in people and infrastructure 
exceeding $500 million.

Since beginning his career at PwC, Tony has held senior 
and executive roles at two globally significant research 
intensive universities, at one of UK’s largest transport 
groups, and with one of Australia’s leading social purpose 
charities. With an extensive background in impactful and 
service driven community organisations – which are highly 
regulated, infrastructure intensive, multi-disciplined and 
people focused – Tony brings significant experience to the 
Australian Museum’s team.

Amanda Farrar 
Manager, Public Affairs & Community Relations

In July 2018, Amanda was promoted to Acting Director, 
Public Affairs & Development, responsible for the 
development of corporate strategic projects, government 
relations and other stakeholders who support the AM’s 
strategic direction. This role also secures financial support 
for the Australian Museum from private sources including 
individual donors, Trusts & Foundations, bequests to 
increase revenues, engagement and awareness, and to 
enhance the Museum’s brand. Amanda was selected for 
the Council of Australian Museum Directors Executive 
Mentoring Program (2018).

Amanda was formerly the AM’s Manager, Public Affairs & 
Community Relations from April 2016-July 2018. Amanda is 
a public affairs and marketing executive with over 30 years 
experience in media management, stakeholder relations, 
marketing and communication. Amanda was previously 
a senior advisor to former NSW Premier, Hon. Mike Baird 
and the former Managing Director of National Geographic 
Channel Australia/New Zealand with a depth of marketing, 
advertising, communications and digital broadcasting 
experience.

Amanda has a personal interest in Indigenous affairs and 
community building and has been actively engaged in a 
number of place management and community building 
committees and groups across the Northern Beaches  
of Sydney.

Professor (Adjunct) Rebecca Johnson 
Director, AMRI

Dr Johnson is Director of the Australian Museum Research 
Institute, a wildlife forensic scientist, a conservation 
geneticist and chief investigator of the Koala Genome 
Consortium. As Director of the Australian Museum 
Research Institute she leads the >100 staff working in 
science and materials conservation at the Australian 
Museum. 
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With an honours degree from the University of Sydney 
and PhD from La Trobe University Melbourne in the field 
of molecular evolutionary genetics she has worked as 
a molecular geneticist, in Australia and the USA before 
joining the Museum in 2003. Since then, with her team, 
she has established the AM as one of the global leaders in 
the field of wildlife forensics and conservation genomics 
through the ISO17025 accreditation of the Australian 
Centre for Wildlife Genomics facilities (one of only six such 
laboratories globally). 

In April 2015, she became Director of the Australian 
Museum Research Institute (the first female science 
director in the Museum’s 191 year history). She is one of 28 
individuals certified as a wildlife forensic scientist globally, 
and is one of only two experts appointed by the Federal 
Environment Minister as an examiner in wildlife forensics 
under the Commonwealth legislation. In May 2016, she 
became an Adjunct Professor at the University of Sydney. 

In July 2017 Rebecca was named one of the 30 inaugural 
“SuperStars of STEM” by Science and Technology Australia. 
She was awarded the 2016 University of Sydney, Faculty 
of Science Alumni Award for Professional Achievement 
and in September 2016 was also announced as one of The 
Australian Financial Review and Westpac “100 Women of 
Influence” in the Innovation category. Rebecca has also 
received a Chief Executive Women (CEW) scholarship 
to attend the INSEAD business school for executive 
leadership and was recognised as a “Vogue 2018 Game 
Changer” in the Tech & Innovation category.

Rebecca is a member of the Australian Academy of 
Forensic Sciences and represents the Museum on a 
range of government and industry committees, including 
as Australian & New Zealand Forensic Science Society 
NSW Branch president, and Director of Membership & 
Outreach for the Society for Wildlife Forensic Science. 
She is passionate about conservation, reducing the illegal 
wildlife trade and the importance of STEM education in 
contributing to positive environmental outcomes. She 
is frequently invited to present her research both in 
Australia and overseas and regularly presents to students 
and the public on the importance of conservation 
research, wildlife forensic science and the key roles that 
museums can play in making a difference through their 
science.

Jacinta Spurrett 
Director Marketing, Communications & Partnerships

Jacinta Spurrett joined the AM as Director, Marketing, 
Communications and Partnerships in October 2016. 
Jacinta is a highly experienced leader in all three related 
sectors and brings a wide range of strategic and practical 
skills to the role.

Her 20+year professional career has encompassed a 
diverse group of organisations. For the eight years prior 
to joining the AM, Jacinta was CEO of the Eye Surgeons’ 
Foundation where she oversaw a strategic turn-around 
and significant growth in funds raised from both donors 
and corporations. She has been Managing Director of 
the National Geographic Channel in Australia and New 
Zealand, supported international projects for many 
organisations (such as British Airways, Citibank, Yahoo! 
and Discovery Channel to name a few) and been the 
Managing Director of a leading Sydney public relations 
firm. Jacinta holds a BA Communications, Australian 
National University. 

Tehmi Sukhla 
Director, Development 

Tehmi was Director of Development at the Australian 
Museum until 30 June 2018, and was previously the 
Museum’s Director of Marketing, Communications & 
Development (2013–16). Prior to this Tehmi held positions 
responsible for sponsorship, philanthropy, marketing and 
communications for internationally renowned arts and 
cultural institutions, including the Biennale of Sydney and 
the Australian Centre for Photography.

Tehmi has presented on marketing and audience 
development in Australia and Europe. She was selected 
for the Australia Council’s Emerging Leaders Development 
Program (2011), the Museums Australia and Gordon Darling 
Foundation’s Museum Leadership Program (2015) and the 
Council of Australian Museum Directors (CAMD) Executive 
Mentoring Program (2017).

In 2007–8, Tehmi volunteered in Mongolia as an Australian 
Youth Ambassador for Development, working with a small 
business incubator to provide training and guidance to 
start-ups in marketing and business development. She has 
also worked as a management consultant for Accenture in 
the government practice area and as a freelance strategist 
and marketing consultant for arts and cultural clients. 
Tehmi is currently overseeing the establishment and 
planning for the AM’s new capital campaign.

John Buttle  
A/ Director, Corporate Services, Commercial & Chief 
Financial Officer

John Buttle was Acting Director, Corporate Services, 
Commercial & Chief Financial Officer from December 2017 
to April 2018. John is Managing Director of capitalC and 
has been a Board Member of the SIMS Foundation since 
January 2016. 
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John has specialised in financial institutions for more 
than 30 years gaining a wealth of experience in audit, 
due diligence and special work, including strategy, 
planning and all aspects of risk management including 
strategic, credit, market and operational risk. John led the 
financial services practices of major accounting firms in 
Australia, Asia and Russia and also established and led risk 
management and specialist treasury practices in those 
firms. 

He has recently concluded a role as Chair after 5 years 
on the board of The Mary MacKillop Foundation, an 
organisation that provides tertiary scholarships for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders and also supports 
the neediest in our society by funding small life changing 
projects. John was also Chair of Northern Beaches 
Interchange, an organisation that provides support to 
children and young adults with disabilities and their 
families.

Dr Jenny Newell 
Acting Director, Programs, Exhibitions & Cultural 
Collections

Dr Jenny Newell was Acting Director from February 2017 
to September 2017. Her substantive role is Manager of the 
Pacific and International Collection, co-managing with 
Dr Michael Mel. Her work is based in the environmental 
humanities, with a focus on the cultural dimensions 
of climate change. She has previously held curatorial 
roles within Pacific collections at the American Museum 
of Natural History, New York, and the British Museum, 
London, and held a research fellowships at the National 
Museum of Australia, Canberra.

Her publications fall within the areas of museums and 
climate change, Pacific environmental history, and Pacific 
material culture: she is co-editor of Curating the Future: 
Museums, Communities and Climate Change (2016), author 
of Trading Nature: Tahitians, Europeans and Ecological 
Exchange (2010), and Pacific Art in Detail (2011). She works 
closely with scholars, artists, activists and curators in the 
Pacific and in diaspora communities.

Paul Ryan JP 
Director, Corporate Services, Commercial & Chief 
Financial Officer

Paul was appointed Associate Director, Corporate 
Services, Commercial & Chief Financial Officer on 30 June 
2014 and held the role until December 2017. Paul started 
his career with chartered accountants Ernst & Whinney 
(now Ernst & Young) and then moved to working with multi-
national and Australian owned corporations. Paul has 
extensive experience in senior executive and operational 

positions encompassing the functions of finance, human 
resources, information technology and administration. 
Paul has lived and worked in the Asia-Pacific to put 
business resources on the ground in developing 
economies, and has led business turnaround and business 
acquisition projects. Paul is a Chartered Accountant, 
Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia, has a 
BComm (Accounting, Finance & Systems) with Merit from 
the University of New South Wales and MBA from MGSM 
Macquarie University. 

Management Activities

The Management Group meets on a bi-monthly basis to 
discuss cross-divisional operations and projects. During 
the past year, managers have worked on the following 
projects:

 · Website redevelopment

 · Accessibility and Inclusion Action Plan implementation

 · Sustainability planning

 · People and Culture Policy procedure updates

 · AMRI Education Strategy and other Education 
milestones

 · Protection of Cultural Objects on Loan (PCOL)

 · Climate Change Communication Working Party

 · Cultural Institutions Digitisation Business Case 
Development presentation

 · Master Plan

Internal Management Audits

The AM undertakes an internal audit program to improve 
its management practice. A review of internal controls and 
procurement governance are currently underway.

Committees

Animal Care and Ethics Committee (ACEC)

As a registered user of animals for scientific purposes, 
the AM must comply with the requirements of the Animal 
Research Act 1985 and the current Australian code of 
practice for the care and use of animals for scientific 
purposes.

In accord with the requirements of the Act and the Code, 
the AM established the Animal Care and Ethics Committee 
to apply principles that govern the ethical conduct of 
persons whose work on behalf of the AM involves the use 
of animals for scientific purposes. The committee must 
ensure that the use of animals is justified, provides for the 
welfare of those animals and incorporates the principles 
of replacement reduction and refinement.
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The committee members at 30 June 2018 were:

 · Dr Glenn Shea (Veterinary Representative)

 · Dr Damien Higgins (Veterinary Representative)

 · Dr David Vella (Veterinary Representative)

 · Dr Mark Eldridge (Research Representative)

 · Sally Reader (Research Representative)

 · Stephen Mahony (Research Representative)

 · Daniel Large (Welfare Representative)

 · Storm Stanford (Welfare Representative)

 · Karen Lambert (Community Representative)

 · Dr Anja Divljan (Executive Officer)

Work, Health and Safety Committee (WHS)

The Australian Museum’s WHS Committee includes a 
cross-section of AM staff. Committee members, along 
with management representatives and the AM’s WHS 
Coordinator, identifyi and resolve WHS issues and assist in 
developing and monitoring safe systems and procedures. 
In line with the WHS Act 2011, the WHS Committee 
provides a forum for consultation in regard to health and 
safety throughout the AM’s diverse work spaces. 

The WHS Committee’s aim is to help maintain a safe and 
healthy workplace for all, including workers, volunteers, 
visitors & contractors.

The WHS Committee meets monthly and reports to ELT 
and the AM Trustees. Committee members at 30 June 
2018 were:

 · Andrew King (Australian Centre for Wildlife Genomics 
Research Assistant) 

 · David Teer (Exhibitions Project Officer)

 · Cass Brown (Visitor Service Officer)

 · Gerald Winch (Manager, Facilities Operations)

 · Ingrid Potts (Events & Venues Officer)

 · Maggie Chien (Senior HR Business Partner)

 · Melissa Murray (Interpretive Officer)

 · Samantha Emery (Assistant Retail Manager)

 · Heath Fullarton (Retail Manager)

 · Andrew Cutbush (WH&S Coordinator)

 · Tony Dibbenhall (Director, Corporate Services & CFO)

Cultural Collections Acquisitions Committee

The Cultural Collections Acquisitions Committee assesses 
potential acquisitions for the permanent Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Island Collection, Pacific and International 
collections, and Archives collection. The committee 

is tasked with determining whether the acquisition is 
consistent with the Cultural Collections Acquisition Policy. 

In the last year, acquisition proposals for donations and 
purchases from 6 vendors were accepted (comprising 
approximately 67 individual objects). New acquisitions 
included a stone axe found in Merimbula, NSW, three 
Sarah Midgley Budgerree dolls, a stone mortar from the 
highlands of Papua New Guinea, a Helena Scott drawing, 
Australian Museum egg storage and collection boxes 
c1868-1906 and the Ahu Ula replica cape, made to replace 
the cape on display in the Westpac Long Gallery, which 
was presented to Captain Cook in Hawaii in 1778. A second 
Gadigal shield made by Uncle Charles “Chicka” Madden 
was also added to the collection, following the approval 
and purchase of his first Gadigal shield the previous 
financial year.

The committee members are: 

 · Director, Engagement, Exhibitions & Cultural 
Connection – Russell Briggs

 · Manager, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Collection 
– Sharni Jones 

 · Manager, West Pacific Collection – Dr Michael Mel 

 · Manager, East Pacific Collection – Dr Jenny Newell 

 · Manager, Materials Conservation - Colin Macgregor 

 · Manager, Archives - Vanessa Finney 

 · Collections Officer - Rebecca Fisher, secretary 

Green Team 

The Green team is a group of staff volunteers that was 
established in 2015 who meet bi-monthly to identify 
and implement environmental strategies to improve 
environmental practices and reduce the Australian 
Museum’s Carbon Footprint. 

The Green Team has achieved the following:

 · Sought approval for a loan from the Government 
Finance Facility to upgrade a large section of back-of-
house lights to LED 

 · Waste diversion rate from landfill of 50% for the year

 · Continued to educate staff and promote waste recycling 
streams of; Paper and cardboard/glass and plastic/
fluorescent tubes/print cartridges/mobiles/batteries/
soft plastic/compost.

 · Special collections of scrap metal, e-waste and 
Styrofoam are also recycled

 · Development of a Sustainability Action Plan to overarch 
the AM’s commitments 
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Appendix D 
Internal audit & risk management

Statement for the 2017–18 financial year

I, David Armstrong, am of the opinion that the Australian Museum has internal audit and risk management 
processes in operation that are, excluding the exceptions or transitional arrangements described below, 
compliant with the eight (8) core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for 
the NSW Public Sector.

Core Requirement Compliance Status

Risk management framework

1.1 The agency head is ultimately responsible and accountable for risk management in the agency Compliant

2.2 The operation of the internal audit function is consistent with the International Standards for 
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing In transition

2.3 The agency has an internal audit Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model 
charter’. In transition

Audit and Risk Committee

3.1 An independent Audit and Risk Committee with appropriate expertise has been established. Compliant

3.2 The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory committee providing assistance to the agency 
head on the agency’s governance processes, risk management and control frameworks, and its 
external accountability obligations.

Compliant

3.3 The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model 
charter’. In transition

 

Membership

The Chair and members of the Internal Audit and Risk Committee are:

Role Name Term of appointment

Independent Chair Sara Watts 1/1/2018 – 31/12/2020

Former independent Chair David Armstrong 1/1/2017 – 31/12/2018

Independent member David Armstrong 1/1/2018 – 31/12/2018

Independent member Elie Hammam 1/1/2018 – 31/12/2018

Former independent member Catherine Livingstone 1/1/2014 – 31/12/2017

Former independent member David Sherley 1/1/2014 – 31/12/2017
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Departures from Core Requirements

Departure Reason for departure and description of practicable alternative measures implemented/
being implemented

In transition

Core requirement 1.2 A risk management framework have been developed and is in the process of implementation.

Core requirement 2.1 An internal audit function is in the process of being developed. In the interim, consultants have 
been engaged to carry out reviews.

Core requirement 2.2 An internal audit function is in the process of being developed. In the interim, consultants have 
been engaged to carry out reviews.

Core requirement 2.3 The internal audit charter is in the process of review for consistency with the content of the 
‘model charter’.

Core requirement 3.3 The Internal Audit and Risk Committee charter is in the process of review for consistency with 
the content of the ‘model charter’.

These processes, including the practicable alternative measures [being] implemented, demonstrate that 
the Australian Museum Trust has established and maintained frameworks, including systems, processes and 
procedures for appropriately managing audit and risk within the Australian Museum Trust. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees of the Australian Museum Trust.

 

David Armstrong 
President, Australian Museum Trust  
1 September 2018
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Appendix E 
Privacy & personal  
information

The AM’s Privacy Management Plan outlines how the 
Museum complies with the NSW Privacy and Personal 
Information Protection Act 1998 and the standards outlined 
in its Information Protection Principles. The plan outlines 
the personal information held by the AM and includes 
strategies to ensure its responsibilities under the Act are 
met. 

The plan is available to staff on the AM’s website at: 
www.australianmuseum.net.au/Privacy-Management-Plan

Copies may be obtained by contacting:

Privacy Contact Officer 
Australian Museum 
1 William Street, Sydney NSW 2010 
T 02 9320 6000 

The Museum’s Web Privacy Statement is available at:  
australianmuseum.net.au/Privacy

No applications for internal review were received during 
the year 2016-17.

Appendix F 
Digital information  
security

Annual Attestation Statement for the 2017–18  
Financial Year 

I, David Armstrong, am of the opinion that the Australian 
Museum Trust is in transition to implementing an 
Information Security Management System (ISMS) during the 
reported financial year, that is consistent with the Core 
Requirements of the NSW Government Digital Information 
Security Policy. 

Taking into account the business requirements of the 
agency, I am of the opinion that the security controls in 
place to mitigate identified risks to digital information and 
systems are adequate for the foreseeable future. 

Signed 

 

David Armstrong 
President, Australian Museum Trust 
Date
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Appendix G 
Public access to  
information

The Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 
establishes a freer, more open approach to gaining access 
to government information in NSW.

The Act requires the production of a publication 
guide that details who we are, what we do and how 
members of the public, community organisations, media 
and government agencies can interact with us. The 
Museum’s publication guide is available on our website 
at www.australianmuseum.net.au/Australian-Museum-
Publication-Guide/

Nil requests for information under the Act were received 
during the year 2017-18.
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Appendix H 
Grants

Table H.1.  
Grant- and externally-funded projects for research and collections administered by the Australian Museum 2017-18

Principal Investigator(s) / 
Person Responsible Title of project Granting body

S Ahyong Revision of the Australian Faunal Directory – Crustacea 
Checklist (Stomatopods & Decapods)

Department of the Environment and Energy 
(ABRS)

D Alquezar, G Frankham Broad-headed snake Genetic Biobank Office of Environment and Heritage

D Alquezar, G Frankham Eastern Pygmy Possum Genetics Roads and Maritime Services

D Colgan Unlocking the biodiversity information in molluscan shells Australian Museum Foundation (Biodiversity 
Conservation Seed Grant) 

D Colgan, F Koehler Support for Malacology Research Private donor (via Australian Museum 
Foundation)

F Criscione, A Hallan Into the abyss: systematics and evolution of temperate 
Australian deep-sea 'turrid' gastropods

Department of the Environment and Energy 
(ABRS)

M Eldridge Identifying refugia for mesic biodiversity in south-eastern 
Australia under climate change

Australian Museum Foundation (Biodiversity 
Conservation Seed Grant)

M Eldridge Genetic studies for Scientific Committee - Eastern Quoll 
(Dasyurus viverrinus) Office of Environment & Heritage

P Flemons Insect Soup Australian Museum Foundation

P Flemons DigiVol Australian Museum Foundation

P Flemons Exploring 3D models of collection objects and specimens 
for research, education and exhibition applications Australian Museum Foundation

P Flemons Support for Australian institutions in the use of DigiVol for 
digitising their collections Atlas of Living Australia (CSIRO)

P Flemons
Support for the strategic direction of the Australian 
Citizen Science Association and scoping a Citizen Science 
project with national and international appeal

Inspiring Australia

P Flemons DigiVol – training materials for WildCount Office of Environment & Heritage

P Flemons Mungo National Park Bush Blitz
Australian Government - Director National 
Parks (Bush Blitz); and Council of Heads of 
Australian Faunal Collections

P Flemons ALA DigiVol Online CSIRO - Atlas of Living Australia
 

Table H.1 lists projects for AMRI administered by the AM. 
Table H.2 lists research projects administered by other 
institutions where an AM scientist was nominated as either 
a principal investigator or co-investigator.

The total value of grants and external-funding made to 
AMRI was $2,062,512 (previous year $1,796,432) with an 
average value of $49,107 (previous year $46,062). This 
figure will not match the figures included in the financial 
statements because it does not include adjustments 
due to the timing of payments or previous year currency 
fluctuations.
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Grant funded projects, continued

Principal Investigator(s) / 
Person Responsible Title of project Granting body

P Flemons Streamwatch Sydney Water 

P Flemons, C Slatyer Oxley Wild River National Park Bush Blitz
Australian Government - Director of National 
Parks (Bush Blitz); and Council of Heads of 
Australian Faunal Collections

A Hoggett Lizard Island Fellowships Lizard Island Reef Research Foundation 

L Hughes, S Ahyong The description of coastal and wet-forest talitrid 
amphipods of Australia 

Department of the Environment and Energy 
(ABRS)

R Johnson Wildlife Genomics Australian Museum Foundation 

R Johnson Developing conservation genomics capability BioPlatforms Australia

R Johnson Koalas: Applying conservation genomics to manage an 
iconic species NSW Environmental Trust 

R Johnson
Development of forensically informative DNA markers 
for Short-beaked Echidna and pilot pedigree testing 
and trade 

Zoo & Aquarium Association 

R Johnson Australian Museum Teaching Development Grant Sydney Grammar 

R Johnson Australian Museum Foundation Visiting Fellowships Australian Museum Foundation 

R Johnson Joint appointment of Terrestrial Vertebrate scientist 
and Palaeontologist with University of NSW¬¬¬ University of New South Wales 

R Johnson, P Flemons It’s not just rats and bats! Uncovering and conserving 
the biodiversity of the Solomon Islands Archipelago Australian Museum Foundation 

R Johnson, T Flannery Community Conservation of Solomon Islands endemic 
mammals – Phase II Fondation Segré

R Johnson Fossil acquisition (Lightning Ridge) Lightning Ridge District Bowling Club 

R Johnson Timor-Leste expedition (databasing) Australian Museum Foundation 

R Johnson, D Alquezar DNA-based species identification of bird strikes Australian airports 

R Johnson, D Alquezar, C 
Slatyer, P Flemons

World Class Collections – Multi-dimensional access to 
Australia’s Natural History Icons Online – a Pilot Project Australian Museum Foundation

R Johnson, D Colgan Freshwater snail project Owen Griffiths 

R Johnson, P Flemons Lord Howe Island Expedition Various donors (via Australian Museum 
Foundation fundraiser)

R Johnson, P Flemons FrogID - the Australian Museum's national citizen 
science project 

Department of Industry, Innovation and 
Science - Inspiring Australia Science 
Engagement Programme - Citizen Science 
Grant 

R Johnson, P Flemons Documenting the Solomon Islands Expedition Australian Museum Foundation 

R Johnson, C Slatyer Research partnership and joint appointment with 
Curtin University for ichthyology research Curtin University

R Johnson, A Summerell
Development of forensically informative DNA markers 
for the short beaked echidna – their utility in pedigree 
testing and application in the wildlife trade

Holsworth Wildlife Research Endowment 
(administered by the Australian Museum on 
behalf of PhD student Summerell)

R Johnson Digitising Canowindra Fish Fossils NSW Government 
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Grant funded projects, continued

Principal Investigator(s) 
/ Person Responsible Title of project Granting body

S Keable, M McGrouther, 
A Reid

The Museum of Australia and the Pacific: An expedition to 
enhance our understanding of the marine biodiversity of 
outer reefs and islands of Fiji/Tonga and southern Vanuatu/ 
south eastern New Caledonia 2017 

Australian Museum Foundation (Porritt) 

F Koehler
Evolutionary systematics and conservation biology of 
rainforest snails and semislugs of the family Helicarionidae 
in northern Queensland 

Department of the Environment and Energy 
(ABRS)

F Koehler Lord Howe Island Critically Endangered Land Snails Office of Environment and Heritage

F Koehler, F Criscione A systematic revision of the eastern Australian land snail 
Austrochloritis 

Department of the Environment and Energy 
(ABRS) 

R Major Birds in Backyards Birds Australia 

R Major Arresting declines of woodland birds through Noisy Miner 
control NSW Environmental Trust 

R Major
A targeted approach to containing the spread of pest birds: 
genetic identification of invasion pathways of the Common 
(Indian) Myna 

Australian Museum Foundation 

R Major Lord Howe Island Woodhens Private donor (via Australian Museum 
Foundation)

A Mitchell, T Lee Improving plant pest management through cross industry 
deployment of smart sensor, diagnostics and forecasting Sugar Research Australia

A Mitchell, G Smith Australian Silverfish bar-coding Department of the Environment and Energy 
(ABRS)

C Reid An identification guide to adult and larval leaf beetles of 
Australia 

Department of the Environment and Energy 
(ABRS)

C Reid Diagnostic key for exotic pest species of leaf beetles 
(Chrysomelidae) 

Department of Agriculture & Water 
Resources 

A Reid Malacology donation Bequest (Estate of Jessie Campbell Wise) 

A Reid Malacology donation - teaching microscope Private donation 

J Rowley Resolving data deficiency in three threatened frog species NSW Environmental Trust 

J Rowley Bradshaw Bush Blitz - surveys of frogs and reptiles Australian Government - Director of National 
Parks (Bush Blitz)

J Rowley A taxonomic revision of the iconic and dangerously 
venomous Mulga Snake species complex in Australia

Australian Government - Director National 
Parks (Bush Blitz)

C Slatyer, D Hoese, M 
Lockett Taxonomic and nomenclatural treatments of fishes Department of the Environment and Energy 

(ABRS)

C Slatyer Taxonomy of specimens collected from the RV Investigator 
voyages to the Great Australian Bight CSIRO and Museum Victoria

C Slatyer Taxonomy of samples collected from the RV Investigator 
voyage of the East Coast of Australia Museum Victoria
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Table H.2.  
Grant- and externally-funded projects for AMRI research and collections administered by institutions other than the AM in 2017-18

Principal Investigator(s) 
/ Person Responsible Title of project Granting body (administered by)

S Ahyong Sampling the abyss: latitudinal biodiversity patterns along 
the base of Australia's eastern continental margins CSIRO

V Attenbrow Traditions, Transformations and Technology in Aboriginal 
Australia 

Australian Research Council (administered by 
University of Sydney) 

D Colgan
Resolving the cryptic species identity of native Mytilus 
mussels and a marine global invader along Australia’s 
temperate coastlines 

Department of the Environment and Energy 
(ABRS) (administered by University of 
Queensland)

M Eldridge Do chromosomal rearrangements drive genomic evolution 
and speciation? 

Australian Research Council (administered by 
University of Canberra) 

D Faith Scientific Support for IPBES Knowledge Generation Future Earth (administered by University of 
Paris Sud) 

D Faith Saving our Species Science & Research Project: An 
integrated spatial prioritisation for investment in NSW Office of Environment & Heritage 

A Hoggett Ocean Plastics Research Rossi Foundation (administered by the Lizard 
Island Reef Research Foundation)

R Johnson Conservation genomics through de novo sequencing BioPlatforms Australia 

R Johnson Returning burrowing bettongs to Bon Bon - survival 
outside fenced sanctuaries 

Ian Potter Foundation (administered by Bush 
Heritage Australia) 

R Johnson Development of genetic methods for management of 
Australasian wildlife 

University of Sydney and Zoo & Aquarium 
Association (administered by University of 
Sydney)

R Johnson
Community conservation of the Solomon Islands endemic 
animals through a partnership with the Kwainaa’isi Cultural 
Centre 

James Cook University (Dr David MacLaren 
representing the community of East Kwaio, 
Malaita, Solomon Island) 

R Johnson, M Eldridge Building genomics resources to understand and protect 
Australia’s mammals 

Consortium of partners including 
BioPlatforms Australia, Australian National 
University 

R Johnson, K Ewart
Genome-based approaches for improving wildlife 
forensics methodology and determining key conservation 
parameters 

University of Sydney - Industry and 
Community Engagement Seed Funding Grant 
(administered by University of Sydney) 

R Johnson, G Frankham Understanding and Intervening in illegal trade in non-
native species

Centre for Invasive Species (CISS) 
(administered by Adelaide University)

R Johnson, L Neaves Using DNA to understand bamboo and the complexity of 
giant panda diet 

Leverhulme Trust (administered by Royal 
Botanic Garden Edinburgh) 

R Johnson, C Slatyer
The Sydney Harbour Research Program (SHRP): Expanding 
marine research capacity towards resilience of Australia’s 
urban harbours

Ian Potter Foundation (administered by the 
Sydney Institute of Marine Science)

A Mitchell You can't manage what you can't identify: Managing 
threats from exotic borers through accurate identification Sugar Research Australia 
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Grant-funded projects for research and collections administered by institutions, continued

Principal Investigator(s) 
/ Person Responsible Title of project Granting body (administered by)

C Reid
BIG 4: Biosystematics, Informatics and Genetics of the 
big 4 insect groups: training tomorrow’s researchers and 
entrepreneurs 

Marie Sklodowsa-Curie Action Grant 
(administered by University of Copenhagen / 
Natural History Museum) 

C Reid Life history, identity and damage assessment of Galip 
Weevil 

Australian Centre for International Agricultural 
Research (via University of NSW) 

C Reid Training in recognition of tropical pest species of weevils Plant Health Australia (administered by the 
Department of Agriculture & Water Resources)

J Rowley
Resolving data deficiency in two-point endemic high 
altitude Vietnamese frogs: are Leptolalax botsfordi and 
Oreolalax sterlingae Critically Endangered? 

The Mohamed bin Zayed Species Conservation 
Fund (administered by Zoological Society of 
London) 

J Rowley
Systematics and conservation status of Australian 
monsoonal Rocket Frogs (Litoria) and Ornate Burrowing 
Frogs (Platyplectrum) for bioregional planning

Department of the Environment and Energy 
(ABRS) (administered by University of Western 
Sydney)

J Rowley Amphibian conservation on the roof of Indochina
Ocean Park Conservation Foundation 
(administered by the Zoological Society, 
London)

J Rowley Saving Australia’s frogs AMP Tomorrow Makers Fund (administered by J 
Rowley)

J Rowley Amphibian diversity and conservation in Bangladesh Endeavour Executive Fellowship (administered 
by AHM Ali Reza of Delta State University, USA)

J Rowley, R Major Reintroduction of locally extinct mammals - the landscape 
ecosystem approach 

NSW Environmental Trust (administered by 
University of NSW) 

C Slatyer 3D imaging of type specimens Australian National University

R Torrence Re-assembling the MacGregor national collection from 
Papua New Guinea Australian Research Council 

R Torrence Centre of Excellence for Australian Biodiversity and 
Heritage 

Australian Research Council (administered by 
University of Wollongong

R Torrence, V Finney Reconstructing museum specimen data through the 
pathways of global commerce

Australian Research Council (administered by 
the University of Sydney - Macleay Museum)

J Rowley
Resolving data deficiency in two-point endemic high 
altitude Vietnamese frogs: are Leptolalax botsfordi and 
Oreolalax sterlingae Critically Endangered?

The Mohamed bin Zayed Species Conservation 
Fund (administered by Zoological Society of 
London)

J Rowley, R Major Reintroduction of locally extinct mammals - the landscape 
ecosystem approach

NSW Environmental Trust (administered by 
University of NSW)

C Slatyer Research Voyage to the Great Australian Bight on RV 
Investigator CSIRO

R Torrence Re-assembling the MacGregor national collection from 
Papua New Guinea Australian Research Council

R Torrence Centre of Excellence for Australian Biodiversity and 
Heritage

Australian Research Council (administered by 
University of Wollongong)
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Table H.3  
Grants received by the Engagement, Exhibitions & Cultural Connection division in 2017-18. 

Principal Investigator(s) 
/ Person Responsible Title of project Granting body (administered by)

Vanessa Finney Sampling the abyss: latitudinal biodiversity patterns along 
the base of Australia's eastern continental margins CSIRO

Publication subsidy for Transformations, Scott sisters book 
writing and publication Gordon Darling Foundation

Michael Mel and Yvonne 
Carrillo-Huffman Bilas Papua New Guinea body ornaments acquisition Australian Museum Foundation 

Vanessa Finney Baya ngara – uncovering Indigenous knowledge in the AM 
Research Library Australian Museum Foundation 

Ellie Downing Australian Museum Science Festival City of Sydney

Matt Ravier Mahn / Weave Australian Museum Foundation

Vanessa Finney Publication subsidy for scientific photography exhibition 
catalogue writing and publication Australian Museum Foundation

Vanessa Finney Merchants and Museums – museum specimens and the 
pathways of global commerce Australian Research Council

Jenny Newell Hawaiian Arts Residency: Bernice Akamine Australian Museum Foundation: Patricia 
Porritt Fund

Jenny Newell and Logan 
Metcalfe Darling Travel Grant Global for Hawaiian consultations Gordon Darling Foundation 

Thelma Thomas Pacific and Indigenous Youth Reconnection Project Lansdowne Trust
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Appendix I 
Publications

Highlights

123 new species were described including:

 · 31 insects

 · 24 crustaceans

 · 23 molluscs

 · 21 polychaete sea worms

 · 17 fish

 · 3 mammals

 · 2 frogs

 · 1 Lizard

 · 1 Bird

Australian Museum staff, Senior Fellows and Research 
Associates published 187 papers in international and 
national peer-reviewed scientific journals and books, 
largely based on the museum’s natural history collections. 
Highlights include the publication of a new fossil species 
of quail-thrush from approximately 18 million years ago. 
Cinclosoma elachum is the oldest known quail-thrush in 
the world. 

The first comprehensive genetic study of tree-kangaroos 
has revealed the presence of at least three additional 
species hiding in the forests of New Guinea while hiding in 
plain sight in museum collections for over 100 years. These 
are the Golden-mantled Tree-kangaroo (Dendrolagus. 
pulcherrimus) from the northern coastal ranges, and the 
Ifola (D. notatus), and Seri’s Tree-kangaroo (D. stellarum) 
from the Central Ranges.

Publications

The Australian Museum published three publications 
during 2017-18; Explore Summer 2017/18, Explore Winter 
2018 and The Year In Review 2017.

 · Sterling, E., T. Ticktin, …J. Newell, et al., “Culturally 
Grounded Indicators of Resilience in Social-Ecological 
Systems”, Environment and Society: Advances in 
Research, 8 (2017): 63-95.

 · Sterling, E., C.Filardi,… J. Newell, et al., “Biocultural 
Approaches to well-being and Sustainability Indicators 
across Scales”, Perspective, Nature: Ecology & Evolution, 
2017. www.nature.com/natecolevol

 · J. Newell and M. Ham, “Holding Back the Tide”, Explore 
magazine, Summer 2017/18, pp14-16.

 · J. Newell, “The Museums and Climate Change Network 
(MCCN)”, INSITE Magazine, Museums Australia), Aug/Sept 
2017, p.3. https://mavic.asn.au/insite/editions?ed=12711
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Appendix J 
Overseas travel

Officer Destination/Dates Purpose

Michael Mel Germany 
27/06/2017 – 03/07/2017

Attend & speak at the European Society of Oceanists Conference in 
Munich

Kim McKay Hong Kong & Beijing 
25/06/20017 – 01/07/2017 Present at Museum Summit and meet with museums in Beijing

Jacinta Spurrett Hong Kong & Beijing 
25/06/2017 – 01/07/2017

Attend Museum Summit and meet with museums in Beijing to explore 
tourism opportunities.

Robin Torrence Papua New Guinea 
12/07/2017 – 30/07/2017 Research at the National Museum of PNG

Rebecca Johnson Solomon Islands 
18/08/2017 – 24/08/2017 Conservation & community engagement in Malaita.

Stephen Keable Fiji, Tonga, New Zealand 
06/08/2017 – 06/09/2017 South West Pacific Expedition

Amanda Reid Fiji, Noumea, New Caledonia 
25/07/2017 – 08/08/2017 South West Pacific Expedition

Mark McGrouther Fiji, Noumea, New Caledonia 
25/07/2017 – 08/08/2017 South West Pacific Expedition

Sally Reader Fiji, Noumea, New Caledonia 
25/07/2017 – 08/08/2017 South West Pacific Expedition

Elena Kupriyanova Fiji, Noumea, New Caledonia 
25/07/2017 – 08/08/2017 South West Pacific Expedition

Michael Mel PNG 
11/10/2017 – 15/10/2017

Attend PNG National Museum & Art Gallery trust meeting & host 
Military Heritage Workshop

Jodi Rowley Vietnam 
01/09/2017 – 15/09/2017 Collaborative research & conservation work

Timothy Cutajar Vietnam 
01/09/2017 – 15/09/2017 Collaborative research & conservation work

Frank Koehler Japan 
13/08/2017 – 09/09/2017 Collaborative research on non-marine gastropods

Michael Mel & Yvonne 
Carrillo-Huffman

PNG 
13/11/2017 – 05/12/2017

BILAS project to consult with communities re acquisition of body 
adornments

Shane Ahyong Singapore 
12/11/2017 – 25/11/2017 Scientific research at National University of Singapore

Francesco Criscione Paris, France 
23/11/2017 – 19/12/2017 Attend training at Natural History Museum

Michael Mel Denmark 
06/12/2017 – 11/12/2017

Present at German Expressionism, Anthropology & Colonialism 
Conference

Frank Koehler Belgium 
03/02/2018 – 10/02/2018 Participate in the MolluscaBase workshop

Table J.1.  
Overseas travel, Australian Museum 2017-18
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Officer Destination/Dates Purpose

Greta Frankham Malaysia 
03/02/2018 – 11/02/2018 Participate in a forensic wildlife research database project

Thelma Thomas Fiji 
13/02/2018 – 17/02/2018

Attend workshop on Museum Education in the Pacific – Building 
Resilience

Jenny Newell Fiji 
13/02/2018 – 17/02/2018

Attend workshop on Museum Education in the Pacific – Building 
Resilience

Leah Tsang USA 
19/02/2018 – 05/03/2018 Sampling of Tissues from AMNH Rare Bird Collection

Christopher Portway Vietnam 
16/03/2018 – 23/03/2018 Research on amphibians

Dan Faith Chile & Colombia 
15/03/2018 – 31/03/2018 Research on biodiversity

Fara Pelarek Hong Kong 
16/03/2018 – 19/03/2018

Facilitate 2 days of interactive activities and science shows at the 
Croucher Science Week 2018

Ellie Downing Hong Kong 
16/03/2018 – 19/03/2018

Facilitate 2 days of interactive activities and science shows at the 
Croucher Science Week 2018

Ashleigh Harrington Hong Kong 
16/03/2018 – 19/03/2018

Facilitate 2 days of interactive activities and science shows at the 
Croucher Science Week 2018

Jenny Newell UK 
07/04/2018 – 16/04/2018 Present at Workshop

Gillian Scott USA 
06/05/2018 – 12/05/2018 Attend AAM Conference & visit key Museums in Los Angeles

Dr Robin Torrence Germany & UK 
19/05/2018 – 10/06/2018 Meeting, conference & research

Dr Michael Mel PNG 
14/05/2018 – 02/06/2018 Bilas project

Yvonne Carrillo-Huffman PNG 
14/05/2018 – 02/06/2018 Bilas project

Elliott Cole Canada & USA 
26/05/2018 – 15/06/2018

Install of Spiders at Royal Ontario Museum Canada & upkeep audit of 
Tyrranosaurs in USA

Dr Shane Ahyong Austria 
09/06/2018 – 14/06/2018 Participate in research workshop

Overseas travel, continued
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Appendix K 
Recognising staff 
achievements

Honours 

Dr David Alquezar was recognised as an Honorary 
Associate at the School of Life and Environmental 
Sciences, the Faculty of Sciences, the University of Sydney.

Dr Rebecca Johnson was named as one of Science  
and Technology Australia’s ’30 Superstars of STEM’,  
a prestigious honour aimed at recognising successful 
females in science, technology, engineering and 
mathematics fields. She was also named a Vogue  
Game Changer 2018 in the tech and business category.

Dr Richard Major was appointed an Honorary Fellow with 
the Faculty of Science, Medicine and Health at University 
of Wollongong.

Ross Pogson, Mineralogy Collection Manager, and Dr Lin 
Sutherland, AM Research Associate, were both recognised 
for their respective 30 and 40 years of service to the 
Geological Society of Australia.

Dr Jodi Rowley was recognized as an AMP Tomorrow 
Maker, awarded to people who plan to and a have desire  
to make a difference.

AM Research Associate, Geoff Williams OAM, AM, was 
named a Member of the Order of Australia on the 2018 
Queen’s Birthday Honours List.

Leadership

Dr Shane Ahyong was elected to the International 
Commission on Zoological Nomenclature (ICZN). He was 
also elected to the Steering Committee of the World 
Register of Marine Species.

Dr Rebecca Johnson was invited to become a member 
of the Macquarie University Faculty of Science Advisory 
Council and a member of the ANU Collections Advisory 
Group. She was also re-elected President of the Australian 
and New Zealand Forensic Science Society, NSW Branch 
and as Director of Membership & Outreach, Society for 
Wildlife Forensic Science. Dr Johnson was invited to 
become member of the NSW government Koala Advisory 
Committee chaired by NSW Chief Scientist and Scientific 
Expert on 2018 NSW Koala strategy.

Ross Pogson was the Australian Museum representative 
on the ‘Committee for Co-ordination of Government 
Geological Programs’ for the Geological Society of 
Australia.

Cameron Slatyer was appointed to the Fair Value Working 
Group of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

Science

Dr Shane Ahyong was part of the first phylum-wide 
study of the Crustacea to examine whether diet affects 
evolutionary success. Because plant matter is very difficult 
for most animals to digest, the ability to use plants as food 
can be a great evolutionary advantage. By studying the 
entire evolutionary tree of the crustaceans and identifying 
the branches on which herbivory evolved, lineages 
adapted to herbivory were, on average, 21 times more 
diverse, suggesting that in crustaceans, a vegetarian diet 
promotes evolutionary success.

New Ichthyology Curator, Dr Joseph DiBattista, a 
joint appointment between Curtin University and the 
Australian Museum, secured a grant for surveys of aquatic 
biodiversity in the Rio Cruces Ramsar Sanctuary through 
environmental DNA with the Austral University of Chile and 
Curtin University for $174,000.

Dr Jackie Nguyen joined the Birds 10,000 Genome (B10K) 
Project Consortium, a team of international researchers 
working together to generate genome sequences from 
all ~10,500 species of living birds. She is contributing 
her expertise on fossil passerines to the phylogenomic 
analyses, which will use a combination of genomes and 
fossils to produce a precisely-dated genomic tree of life 
for all living birds.

2017 marked 25 years of global research and applications 
on phylogenetic diversity – a biodiversity framework linked 
to the tree of life. Following Dr Dan Faith’s 1992 paper, 
there have been about 5000 papers in Web of Science 
with the key term “phylogenetic diversity.” The 1992 
paper remains the most-cited paper ever in Biological 
Conservation from the more than 7000 papers in that 
journal spanning more than 40+ years.
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Staff recognition awards

Career development and employee engagement are 
key focus areas for the PMES action plan. The Staff 
Recognition Awards Program has been designed to 
formally recognise and celebrate the outstanding 
contributions of employees to the achievement of the 
mission and vision of the Australian Museum. The program 
also represents the AM’s commitment to its investment in 
development opportunities for staff as well as promoting 
employee engagement.

The program encourages employees to vote for a 
deserving staff member and encourages staff morale. 
Each month a staff member is nominated by fellow 
colleagues and monthly winners also have the chance 
to win the annual award which grants one winner a 
scholarship opportunity and one runners up the chance 
to undertake one week’s work experience at the Australian 
Museum’s Lizard Island Research Station. 

Dr Anja Divljan, Mammalogy Research Assistant, Terrestrial 
Vertebrates, won the 2017 staff recognition awards and 
has elected to travel overseas to undertake training in fluid 
preservation. The runner up, Laura McBride, First Nations 
curator, will travel to the Lizard Island Research Station to 
undertake work experience.
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Appendix L 
Fellowships  
& postgraduate awards

Researchers from around the world visit the Australian 
Museum and go to Lizard Island Research Station on 
the Great Barrier Reef to study collections, undertake 
research and collaborate with AM researchers.  

Each year, the AM awards visiting fellowships with the 
generous support of various benefactors.

Table L.1  
Australian Museum visiting fellowships and postgraduate awards for 2017-18

Fellowship Name Institution Project

AMRI Visiting Postgraduate 
Award

Joshua Jenkins Shaw 
(PhD Candidate)

University of 
Copenhagen, Denmark

Taxonomy and Phylogeny of Amblyopinina Rove Beetles 
(Coleoptera: Staphylinidae)

AMRI Visiting Collections 
Fellowship Dr Keith Bayless California Academy of 

Science, USA
Revision of Auster, the most diverse genus of Australian 
Fern Flies (Diptera: Teratomyzidae)

AMRI Visiting Collections 
Fellowship Dr Laura Alencar University of Sao 

Paulo, Brazil
Spatial and temporal dynamics of species coexistence: a 
global approach using snakes and lizards as models

AMRI Visiting Research 
Fellowship Benjamin Tapley Zoological Society of 

London, UK
Discovering the diversity and conservation status of the 
Horned Frogs of the Hoang Lien Range, Vietnam

AMRI Visiting Research 
Fellowship Xie Guanglong Nanchang University, 

P.R. China

Testing systematic and biogeographic paradigms for 
minute Australian land snails (Pupillidae) with molecular 
tools

Peter Rankin Trust Fund 
for Herpetology Nicholas Wu University of 

Queensland
Physiological factors influencing the pathogenicity of 
chytrid fungus in frogs

Leo Fleischmann Visiting 
Fellowship in Pacific 
Islands Arts and Material 
Culture

Dr James Rhoads University of Western 
Australia Papuan Trade and Group Social Identity

2018 Ian Potter Doctoral 
Fellowship Viviana Brambilla University of St 

Andrews, Scotland The role of niche construction after coral reef recovery

2018 Lizard Island Doctoral 
Fellowship

Claudio Alexandre 
Tabalo Brandao

University of Aveiro, 
Portugal

Chasing Symbiodinium: the endolithic niche of 
Symbiodinium on Lizard Island

2018 Lizard Island Doctoral 
Fellowship

Jose Ricardo Maceiras 
de Paula

Universidade de 
Lisboa, Portugal

Cleaning interactions in a changing world: Bio-ecological 
responses of cleaning mutualisms to ocean warming and 
acidification

2018 Lizard Island Doctoral 
Fellowship Robert Streit James Cook University Exploring space use and density of feeding in 

herbivorous reef fishes as a new facet of reef resilience

2018 Lizard Island Doctoral 
Fellowship Zegni Triki University of 

Neuchatel, Switzerland
Linking cognition and brain physiology to marine 
cleaning mutualism

2018 Yulgilbar Foundation 
Postdoctoral Fellowship Dr Tyler Cyronak Scripps Institution of 

Oceanography, USA
Assessing the effects of coral bleaching on reef 
metabolic performance at Lizard Island

2018 Isobel Bennett 
Marine Biology 
Postdoctoral Fellowship

Dr Kristen Anderson 
King

ARC centre of 
Excellence for Coral 
Reef Studies & the 
Australian Institute of 
Marine Science

Recovery of coral growth rates and reef carbonate 
budget after sever bleaching events at Lizard Island
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Fellowship Name Institution Project

2018 Lizard Island 
Postdoctoral Fellowship

Dr Chiara Pisapia & Dr 
Steve Doo

California State 
University Northridge, 
USA

Assessing recovery of Lizard Island Reef community 
structure and function following multiple successive 
stress events

2018 Lizard Island Crown-
of-Thorns Research Grant

Professor Maria Byrne 
& Associate Professor 
Jonathan Allen

University of Sydney
College of William and 
Mary, Virginia, USA

Assessing the causes and prevalence of cloning in larval 
Crown-of-Thorns Seastars: implications for estimating 
and modelling dispersal potential

2018 Lizard Island Crown-
of-Thorns Research Grant

Professor Maria Byrne 
& Dr Karen Chan

University of Sydney 
& The Hong Kong 
University of Science & 
Technology

Swimming behaviors of larval Crown-of-Thorns-Seastars: 
Implications for distribution and dispersal modelling

2018 Lizard Island Crown-
of-Thorns Research Grant Dr Frederieke Kroon Australian Institute of 

Marine Science

Australian Institute of Marine Science
Informing CoTS control through understanding CoTS 
predation pressure by fish and fisheries species

2018 Lizard Island Rossi 
Foundation Plastics Grant Dr Bridie Allan Institute of Marine 

Science, Norway
The effect of micro-plastic pollution on phenotypic 
determinates of selective mortality in coral reef fish

2018 Lizard Island Rossi 
Foundation Plastics Grant Marina Santana James Cook University, 

Townsville
Assessing the ecological risks of plastic pollution to coral 
reef environments.

Fellowships & Postgraduates, continued
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Appendix M 
Heritage management

The AM has a responsibility to identify and manage items 
of heritage which it owns, cares for or controls. Under 
Section 170A of the Heritage Act 1977, the AM must provide 
a statement on the condition of items on its register in the 
Annual Report.

The entire site, bordered by College, William and Yurong 
Streets, is included on the State Heritage Register (No. 
805). The AM is also listed on the Australian Heritage 
Database (formerly the Register of the National Estate) and 
in Schedule 5 of the Sydney Heritage Local Environmental 
Plan 2012, and classified by the National Trust of Australia 
(NSW). The AM has several buildings that have been 
assessed as exceptional or high significance. They are:

 · Lewis Wing

 · Barnet Wing

 · Vernon Wing (including the Hallstrom Theatre)

 · William Street (Parkes-Farmer) Wing

 · Former National School Building

 · Former Infants School building

These buildings are maintained in good condition. The 
William Street (Parkes-Farmer) wing has been assessed 
as medium significance, and is in good condition. Other 
buildings on the site which have had their heritage values 
assessed are of low significance. They are in good to fair 
condition, and include:

 · The Child Welfare building (completed c1952) 

 · The new Spirit House (completed in 1969)

 · The Still Addition (completed in 1988)

 · The Australian Museum Research Institute building 
(completed in 2008)

In 2015 Orwell and Peter Phillips completed the 
Conservation Management Plan (CMP) to complement the 
site master plan and inform the design of the new William 
Street entrance.

In 2016, the Commonwealth Government (Department 
of Environment and Energy) has proposed a National 
Heritage Listing for the Governor’s Domain and Civic 
precinct, which includes many of Australia’s earliest public 
parks, gardens and squares along Macquarie Street, Bridge 
Street and College Street. 

The Department of Premier and Cabinet coordinated  
a whole-of-government response to the proposal.

Throughout 2017 and 2018, Peter Phillips (Orwell and 
Peter Phillips) has provided input to and oversight of the 
development of Museum’s Master Plan.

Mr Phillips also provided oversight of the repair and 
reinstatement of the original ceilings on Level 2 of the 
Barnet Wing, following the spontaneous collapse of part  
of the celling in January 2018.
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Appendix N 
Workforce

The Australian Museum employs 295 staff, with a full 
time equivalent (FTE) of 202 staff. Growth in capital and 
research funded projects contributed to the increase in 
2017-18. 

Diversity is a key component of the report and has been 
given extra focus with the introduction of the Premier’s 
Priority on leadership diversity, setting the target of 
gender equality and doubling the number of Aboriginal 
senior leaders by 2025. 

The proportion of women in senior leadership has risen 
to 66%, representing the AM’s commitment to raising the 
profile of female leaders across the AM and providing 
a platform to support and encourage other women in 
the organisation and more broadly, across the Cultural 
Institutions. 

Challenges were in understanding and measuring the level 
of diversity. Workforce Profile data on diversity groups is 
collected on a voluntary basis, which requires employees 
to self-identify. This often leads to under-reporting as 
some employees may feel identifying with a diversity 
group may not be relevant to their role. With the guidance 
of Department of Planning and Environment, the AM’s 
priority was to promote diversity and inclusion by using 
more engaging methods to encourage staff to declare 
their understanding. The AM promoted diversity and 
inclusion by hosting workshops and training for all  
AM staff.

To continue to grow inclusive workplaces and to become a 
more attractive employer for people with disability, work 
was undertaken to develop disability awareness training 
for AM employees and managers. People and Culture 
developed a reasonable adjustments policy and guideline 
which streamlined the process of requesting adjustments. 
The team also worked closely on the Accessibility and 
Inclusion Action Plan to deliver key objectives for the 2017-
2018 year. The team continue to deliver these objectives 
for the coming financial year.
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Appendix N, continued

Table N.1  
Staff profile

Staff headcount in classifications 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

Administrative and Clerical Staff 190 222 196 215

Conservators 9 9 10 10

Exhibition Project Officers 27 25 21 18

Librarians and archivists 6 5 4 4

Preparators 4 4 4 3

Research Scientists 13 12 12 10

Scientific Officers 41 34 26 26

Senior Executive Staff 6 5 6 7

Technical Officers 59 61 46 50

Total 354 377 325 343

Staff (annual full time equivalent) 220 190 183 202

Table N .2  
Senior Executives as at the end of the financial year

2016-17 2017-18

Band Female Male Average remuneration Female Male Average remuneration 

SE Band 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

SE Band 3 0 0 0 1 0 420,250

SE Band 2 1 0 278,153 0 0 0

SE Band 1 3 2 208,682 3 2 215,936

Totals 4 2 4 2

6 6

Note: For 2017-18, totalled 8.7% employee related expenditure was relating to senior executives. (2016-17: 5.1%)
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Table N.3  
Annual trends in the representation of workforce diversity groups

Workforce diversity group Benchmark 
(%)

2015-16 
(%)

2015-16 
 (%)

2016-17 
 (%)

Women 50.0% 57.9% 58.9% 57.8%

Aboriginal people and  
Torres Strait Islanders 3.3% 5.4% 3.2% 4.2%

People whose first language 
spoken as a child was not English 23.2% 18.4% 10.5% 17.7%

People with a disability 5.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.8%

People with a disability requiring  
work-related adjustment N/A 0.0% 1.1% 0.0%

Note 1: The benchmark of 50% for representation of women across the sector is intended to reflect the gender composition of the NSW community.

Note 2: The NSW Public Sector Aboriginal Employment Strategy 2014 – 17 introduced an aspirational target of 1.8% by 2021 for each of the sector’s salary 
bands. If the aspirational target of 1.8% is achieved in salary bands not currently at or above 1.8%, the cumulative representation of Aboriginal employees  
in the sector is expected to reach 3.3%.

Note 3: A benchmark from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Census of Population and Housing has been included for People whose First Language 
Spoken as a Child was not English. The ABS Census does not provide information about first language, but does provide information about country of birth. 
The benchmark of 23.2% is the percentage of the NSW general population born in a country where English is not the predominant language.

Note 4: In December 2017 the NSW Government announced the target of doubling the representation of people with disability in the NSW public  
sector from an estimated 2.7% to 5.6% by 2027. More information can be found at: Jobs for People with Disability: A plan for the NSW public sector.  
The benchmark for ‘People with Disability Requiring Work-Related Adjustment’ was not updated.

Table N.4  
Trends in the Distribution of Workforce Diversity Groups

Workforce diversity group Benchmark 
(%)

2015-16 
(%)

2015-16 
 (%)

2016-17 
 (%)

Women 100 93 96 97

Aboriginal people and  
Torres Strait Islanders 100 N/A N/A N/A

People whose first language 
spoken as a child was not English 100 88 92 94

People with a disability 100 N/A N/A N/A

People with a disability requiring  
work-related adjustment 100 N/A N/A N/A

Note 1: A Distribution Index score of 100 indicates that the distribution of members of the Workforce Diversity group across salary bands is equivalent to that 
of the rest of the workforce. A score less than 100 means that members of the Workforce Diversity group tend to be more concentrated at lower salary bands 
than is the case for other staff. The more pronounced this tendency is, the lower the score will be. In some cases, the index may be more than 100, indicating 
that members of the Workforce Diversity group tend to be more concentrated at higher salary bands than is the case for other staff.

Note 2: The Distribution Index is not calculated when the number of employees in the Workforce Diversity group is less than 20 or when the number of other 
employees is less than 20.
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Appendix O 
Honorary appointments

The Australian Museum has a long history of making honorary appointments to recognise individuals who have contributed 
to the advancement of the museum.

The following people held an honorary appointment at 30 June 2018

Honorary Associates

His Imperial Majesty 
Emperor Akihito of Japan

His Imperial Highness 
Prince Akishino 

Dr Ken Aplin

Dr Hal Cogger, John Evans 
Memorial Fellow

Professor Tim Flannery

Dr Desmond Griffin AM, 
Gerard Krefft Memorial 
Fellow

Mr Frank Howarth PSM

Dr Warren Somerville AM

Professor Frank Talbot AM

Senior Fellows

Dr Val Attenbrow

Mr Desmond Beechey

Dr Penny Berents

Dr Daniel Bickel

Dr Walter Boles

Dr Michael Gray

Dr Douglass Hoese

Dr Pat Hutchings

Dr Alan Jones

Mr Robert Jones

Dr Kate Khan

Dr Brian Lassig

Dr Jeff Leis

Dr Jim Lowry

Dr David McAlpine

Dr Max Moulds

Ms Anna Murray

Dr John Paxton

Dr Winston Ponder

Dr Harry Recher

Dr Alex Ritchie

Dr Frank Rowe

Dr Bill Rudman

Dr Ross Sadlier

Dr Jim Specht

Dr Roger Springthorpe

Dr Lin Sutherland

Research Associates

Dr Marion Anstis

Dr Larry Barron

Dr Michael Batley

Mr Robert Beattie

Professor Katherine Belov

Dr Maria Capa

Prof Gerry Cassis

Dr Renee Catullo

Dr Anne Clarke

Stephanie Clarke

Mr David Colchester

Dr Kevin Conway

Dr Georgina Cooke

Ms Tessa Corkill

Mr Roger de Keyser

Dr Malte Ebach

Mr Brian England

Dr Patrick Faulkner

Dr Judith Field

Dr James Flexner

Mr Joseph Forshaw

Emeritus Professor Richard 
Frankham

Dr Richard Fullagar

Dr Anthony Gill

Dr John Gollan

Dr Ian Graham

Mr Ken Graham

Dr Peter Grave

Mr Owen Griffiths

Professor Kristofer Helgen

Dr Peter Hiscock

Mr Kirk Huffman

Dr Isabel Hyman

Dr Stephen Jackson

Dr Bruce Jenkins

Ms Patricia Kailola

Mr Vince Kessner

Dr Nina Kononenko

Mr Robert Lachlan

Dr Rafael Lemaitre

Dr Francis Lemckert

Professor Nathan Lo

Mr Wayne Longmore

John Macdonald

Dr John Martin

Prof Peter Matthews

Mr Katsusuke Meguro

Dr Tony Miskiewicz

Dr Christian Moeseneder

Dr Hiroyuki Motomura

Dr Chris Muller

Dr Anne Musser

Dr Armstrong Osborne

Dr Hannelore Paxton

Mr Rohan Pethiyadoga

Dr David Pollard

Dr Sally Potter

Dr Jan Yde Poulsen

Dr Michele Schiffer

Dr Richard Schodde

Dr Glenn Shea

Mr Michael Shea

Mr Graeme Smith

Mr Phil Spark

Dr John Stanisic

Dr Jeffrey Stilwell

Dr Des Strusz

Dr Pamela Swadling

Mr Gerry Swan

Dr Ichiro Takeuchi

John Tann

Mr Gunther Theischinger

Dr Brian Timms

Dane Trembath

Dr Eren Turak

Dr Geoff Williams OAM, AM

Dr Gavin Young
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Appendix P 
Key acquisitions  
& donations to the collections

Natural Science Collections

Over 70,147 specimens were added to the natural science 
collections in 2017-18, including donations of 21,781 
specimens. Natural sciences obtained specimens from 
around the world covering everything from giant crystals 
to bats.

Mary Holt generously supported a collecting field trip to 
Coolah Tops in central western NSW. An elevated volcanic 
Plateau, Coolah Tops has been poorly collected and 
the museum made a small but significant collection of 
mammals, birds, reptiles and fish. 

With the support of the Australian Museum Foundation, 
the museum has acquired an outstanding specimen of 
butterfly twin calcite. This is possibly the largest specimen 
in the world, at nearly 30cm across, from a now-destroyed 
cavity in a Western Australian mine.

This year, the museum was honoured to receive a donation 
of spectacular butterflies from Mr John Landy AC, CVO, 
MBE. Mr Landy’s second donation comprises 713 butterfly 
specimens from Papua New Guinea and islands of the 
Indonesian Archipelago.

A significant donation of Blackwater Fish Fossils was 
received. Comprising 123 slabs, the site is a nationally 
important one for fish from the Permian period. 

The Malacology Collection accepted a donation of 
the Foster James Springsteen Collection comprising 
approximately 2200 lots of shells collected by the 
internationally renowned collection Springsteen, with a 
focus on the Philippines.

The museum received an important donation from 
the Commonwealth Department of Environment and 
Energy of 40 seized objects from the illegal wildlife trade 
including primate skulls and the skulls of Barbirusa, also 
known as deer-pigs, from Sulawesi. These will be used by 
the Australian Centre for Wildlife Genomics and other 
museum staff to assist Australia’s border security.

Engagement, Exhibitions & Cultural Connection

The AM is grateful and pleased to receive donations of 
cultural significance and natural science specimens where 
these are accompanied by label data, including place 
of origin, date collected and the name of the collector. 
Significant acquisitions are listed below.

Cultural Collections 

Archives, Library & Rare Books

 · Large collection of egg storage boxes from the Macleay 
Museum, University of Sydney. The labels indicate that 
the boxes were previously used and owned by the AM’s 
ornithology collection. 

 · ‘Clove Pinks’ watercolour by Helena Scott, 1860. 

 · Collection of early contact slides and negatives taken 
by Ed Slater on an Australian Museum fieldtrip to the 
Western Highlands of Papua New Guinea in 1954, 
donated by Mr Slater’s family. 

Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander Collection

 · Gadigal shield made by Uncle Charles (Chicka) Madden 
2018.

 · Stone axe found in Merimbula NSW, donated by Robert 
Jennings.

 · Three Sarah Midgley Budgerree dolls, donated by Josie 
Amant.

Pacific & International Collection

 · Mortar from the Highlands of Papua New Guinea, 
donation from Mr Trevor Shearston, 7 June 2018. 

 · Ahu Ula replica cape, commissioned as a replacement 
for the Hawaiin Cook cape display in the Westpac Long 
Gallery.
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Appendix Q 
Benefactors & sponsors

Australian Museum Trust Donations

The AM Trust received $280,044 in donations including 
$100,000 towards the Treasures campaign and $168,094 
from trusts and foundations. 

Australian Museum Foundation

The Australian Museum Foundation (AMF) is dedicated 
to raising funds to support projects across the AM, from 
research and collections to outreach and education 
programs. Donations to the AMF increased by 7.4%, 
totalling $728,071. Three fundraising appeals were 
conducted: 

 · Treasures campaign supporting the Westpac Long 
Gallery 

 · the AMF Annual Gala Dinner, ‘The Night at the Museum’ 
supporting the AM’s acquisition fund and

 · an end of financial year public appeal. 

The AMF also launched a new donor program, Guardians, 
which encourages donors to engage in an exciting program 
of bespoke events at the AM.

The AMF Trustees in 2017-18 were:

Diccon Loxton (Chairman)

Fiona Sinclair (Deputy Chair)

Natalia Bradshaw

Warwick Evans

Virginia Judge

Alasdair MacLeod

Kim McKay AO

John Pearson

David Rickards

Albert Wong AM

Shauna Jarrett (appointed 27 February 2018)

Michael Chaaya (resigned 27 February 2018)

Brian Sherman AM (resigned 3 April 2018)

Jeremy Spinak (resigned 20 June 2018)

Emeritus Governor

Brian Sherman AM

Grants made by the Australian Museum Foundation 

A total of $1,474,005 in grants was disbursed to the AM to 
fund seven projects in 2017-18. These included:

 · A pilot project capturing high resolution 3D 
visualisations, imagery, text descriptions, and genetic 
sequences for a range of important AM specimens 
(including types and extinct species) and make them 
accessible online for researchers and students

 · Uncovering treasures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander history in the AM Library research project

 · Westpac Long Gallery restoration

 · Lord Howe Island expedition – exploring the genetic 
diversity of the Lord Howe Island woodhen

Other projects supported by the AM Foundation through 
the Patricia Porritt Collection Acquisition Fund included:

 · Bilas: adornment & identity in Papua New Guinea 
acquisition project

 · mahn - the creation of a major sculptural installation 
dedicated to Indigenous fisherwomen. The installation 
will be accompanied by a film and installed in the First 
Australians Gallery later in 2018.

 · Arts and research residency with Hawaiian artist, 
Bernice Akamine

Lizard Island Reef Research Foundation

The Lizard Island Reef Research Foundation (LIRRF) is 
dedicated to raising funds for scientific research at the 
AM’s Lizard Island Research Station. 

Trustees in 2017-18 were:

David Shannon, Chair

David Armstrong

Greer Banyer (appointed 25 April 2018)

Dr Penny Berents

Jim Bildner (resigned 25 April 2018) 

Ken Coles AM

Belinda Gibson

Dr Ronnie Harding

Kate Hayward

Chris Joscelyne

Vivian King

James Kirby

Professor Lynne Madden

Kim McKay AO

Heather Power

Robert Purves AM

At 30 June 2017
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Graham Sherry OAM

Charlie Shuetrim AM

Helen Wellings

Benefactors and 
Partners 

The AM gratefully 
acknowledges the 
generosity of all 
benefactors and partners 
and thanks them for their 
diverse contributions to 
exhibitions, programs, 
education, outreach and 
scientific research. 

Patrons

Ann Macintosh Trust

Chris & Gina Grubb

Diccon & Elizabeth Loxton

Alasdair & Prue MacLeod

Memocorp Australia Pty Ltd

Helen Molesworth

The Paradice Family 
Foundation

Brian Sherman AM & Dr 
Gene Sherman AM

Benefactors 

Jennifer Crivelli

Graeme Wood Foundation

Mary Holt &  
the late Dr John Holt

President’s Circle

Claude & Maryanne 
Gauchat

Bill & Alison Hayward

The Horizon Foundation

Judy Lee

Robert Rich

Dick & Pip Smith 
Foundation 

Treasures Circle 

Robert Albert AO

David & Megan Armstrong

Ben Barham & Gretel 
Packer

The Calvert-Jones 
Foundation

The Carrawa Foundation

Paul Connor

Jennifer Crivelli

Warwick Evans

Lily & Tina Gao & the New 
Business China Association

Claude & Maryanne 
Gauchat

Belinda Gibson & Jim 
Murphy

Peter & Judy Gregg

Chris & Gina Grubb

The Hartzer /Trevor-Jones 
Family

Prof Ian Hickie

Dr Janice Hirshorn & Dr 
George Jacobs

The John & Frances Ingham 
Foundation

Warwick & Ann Johnson

The John Spencer 
Dickinson Family

Virginia Judge & daughters 
Cecily, Theresa, Rebecca & 
Dr Patrick Tooth

Keith & Maureen Kerridge

Jim Lennon in Honour of 
Jean Lennon

Lindblad Expeditions

Catherine Livingstone AO & 
Michael Satterthwaite

Diccon & Elizabeth Loxton

Alasdair & Prue MacLeod

The Macquarie Group 
Foundation

Memocorp Australia Pty Ltd

The Moore Family

Jacqui & John Mullen

William Murray & Gretel 
Packer

The Nelson Family

Francesca Packer Barham & 
Gretel Packer

The Paradice Family 
Foundation

The Patterson Pearce 
Foundation

The Purcell Family 
Endowment Fund in Honour 
of Mrs Lorna McClelland

Robert Purves AM

Billie Rose & Warwick Evans

Professor Jan Scott & 
her friends Jack, Sissi, 
Coquohalla & Otis

Albert Y Wong AM & Sophie 
Wong

Fengjun Zhu 

Director’s Club 

Pauline & Alan Campbell

Margot & Stephanie 
Chinneck

Bruce Jenkins

Kim McKay AO

Sherman Foundation

Vonwiller Foundation

Anonymous

Guardians 

Bill & Annette Blinco

Natalia Bradshaw

Phillip Cornwell

Fivex Pty Ltd

Susan Foster

Dr Elie Hammam

Peter Homel & Louise 
Taggart

Howard H W

Prof Rebecca Johnson

Eugenia Langley

Leathan Family

Helen McCombie

Bill Manos

Suzanne G Meli

Eveline Milne

Drs Jean & Evan Siegel

Fiona Sinclair

Christopher & Fiona Still

John Stitt

Christina Stitt-Ditfurth

Vera Vargassoff

Wendy Walker

Dr Tony & Mrs Doffy White

Custodians 

Antoinette Albert

James & Belinda Allen

Ken & Roddy Bell

Christine Bishop

Sir Ron Brierley

John Buttle

Rosemary Campbell

Trevor Danos AM

Hugh Dixson

The Graham & Charlene 
Bradley Endowment

Edward Griffin

John Leece AM

Howard Lewis

Lily W Mung Endowment

The Hon Justice Jane 
Mathews AO

Nick & Caroline Minogue

Alice Arnott Oppen OAM

John Pearson & Mark Clark

David Robb

Dr Jane & Neville Rowden

David & Daniela Shannon

Mrs Diana Southwell-Keely
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Ross Steele AM

Tehmi Sukhla

Anne Sullivan

Robin Torrence

Sara Watts

Wavish Family Foundation

Stephen Wilson

Supporters 

Allens

Lauren Atmore

C S Barnes

Dinah Beeston

Marco Belgiorno-Zegna AM

Ken & Roddy Bell

John Benaud

Jane Bridge

Elizabeth Cameron

Chikako Carter

Michael & Chrissie Crowley

Margaret & Peter Donovan

Ronald & Suellen Donovan

Roma Gillam

Ronnie Harding

Nicholas Hill

Anne Jaumees

Warwick Klabe

Ross McNair & Robin 
Richardson

Ros Madden

Michael & Mary Whelan 
Trust

Bradd Morelli

David Norman

John Richardson

Frank & Judith Robertson

Jacinta Spurrett

Tom Story

Francis Walsh

Darren Yong & Connie 
Chaird

Michel Zwecker

Anonymous

Anonymous

Anonymous

Grants 

Gordon Darling Foundation

Lansdowne Foundation

The Lionel & Yvonne 
Spencer Trust

Bequests

Estate of the late Clarence 
E Chadwick

Estate of the late Eileen Silk

Estate of the late 
Gwendoline A West

Estate of the late 
Jacqueline Heather Field

Estate of the late Jean 
Marjorie Edgecombe

Estate of the late Jessie 
Campbell Wise

Estate of the late Merrill Pye

Estate of the late Patricia M 
Porritt

Estate of the late Phillip 
Jack

Estate of the late William S 
Tatlow

Australian Museum 
Foundation – Night at the 
Museum Partners and 
Supporters 

Abbey’s Bookshop

Adventure World

Archie Rose Distilling Co.

Australian Geographic

Bellwether Wines

Natalia Bradshaw

Bunda Fine Jewels 

John Buttle

Café Sydney

Christie’s Auctions & Private 
Sales

Create Consultants

Jennifer Crivelli

Lucy Dougall

Delaware North Companies 
Parks and Resorts

Karen Eck

Event Projects

Gaia Retreat & Spa

Jenny Garber

Garmin

Giorgio Armani

Green and Gold Printing

Hermès

Marguerite Julian

Therese Leuver

Lindblad Expeditions

Helen McCombie

Mainie

Merivale

Julie-Ann Morrison

Naomi Hamilton 
Photography

National Geographic

Oatley Fine Wine Merchants

Pocketwatch Wines

Royal Botanic Garden 
Sydney

sass & bide

Fiona Sinclair

The Sydney Boulevarde 
Hotel

Sydney Film Festival

Sydney Living Museums

Sydney Opera House

Sydney Theatre Company

Taronga Zoo

Victoria Tulloch

Tulloch Wines

Urban Winery Project

Valiant Hire

Helen Wellings

Westpac
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Partnerships and Sponsors 

The AM worked with over 40 partners during 2017-18 to 
support a wide range of programs and exhibitions. This 
included Mammoths: Giants of the Ice Age, 200 Treasures 
of the Australian Museum in the Westpac Long Gallery, 
Australian Nature Photographer of the Year, SuperCroc 
on tour and FrogID. Highlights for Partnerships included 
the delivery of the Westpac Long Gallery as well as the 
associated events, campaigns and partnership activations, 
resulting in outstanding return for Westpac. The combined 
value of financial and in-kind support from AM partners 
totalled $4.1 million. 

Australian Museum Principal Partner

Westpac 

Australian Museum Corporate Partners 

303 MullenLowe

3M

4 Pines Brewing Company

Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation 
(ANSTO) 

Archie Rose Distilling Co

Bunnings

City of Sydney

Department of Family Services

Destination NSW

Digital Camera Warehouse

Fyna Foods

Google AdWords

Guardian Global Systems

IAS Fine Art Logistics

IBM Australia

JCDecaux

Kent Street Studio

National Geographic Channel

News Corp Australia 

Oatley Fine Wine Merchants

Schwartz Media

Stockland

Valiant Hire

Australian Museum Eureka Prizes Partners and 
Supporters

3M 

4 Pines Brewing Company

Abbey’s Bookshop

Australian Infectious Diseases Research Centre at The 
University of Queensland 

Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation 
(ANSTO) 

City of Sydney 

CSIRO 

Defence Science and Technology Group 

Department of Industry, Innovation and Science 

Fourth Wall 

Johnson & Johnson 

Macquarie University 

New Scientist

NSW Office of Environment and Heritage 

Oatley Fine Wine Merchants

Restaurant Associates

University of Sydney 

University of Technology Sydney 

UNSW

Australian Museum Supporters 

Australian Government’s Australian Biological Resources 
Study (ABRS)

Australian Government’s - Director of National Parks Bush 
Blitz Programme

BioPlatforms Australia

Birds Australia

City of Sydney

Code Club Australia

CSIRO

Curtin University

Department of Foreign Affairs & Trade

Department of Industry & Science – Inspiring Australia

Education Perfect

Fondation Segré

Jenolan Caves

Lizard Island Reef Research Foundation
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Lord Howe Island Board

Macquarie University

NSW Environmental Trust

NSW Government

NSW Office of Environment & Heritage

Office of the NSW Chief Scientist & Engineer

Sugar Research Australia

Sydney Grammar School

Sydney Water

University of New South Wales

University of Sydney

University of Technology Sydney

University of Western Sydney

Zoo & Aquarium Association

University of Wollongong
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Appendix R 
Consultants 

Appendix S 
Consumer Feedback 

In accordance with NSW Government guidelines, projects 
for which consultants received more than $50,000 are 
listed individually. Those involving $50,000 or less are 
grouped under a total figure. 

Consultancies above $50,000

Building infrastructure consultants were used on the  
AM Master Plan project including:

 · ADP Consulting Pty Ltd: $77,100 

 · Art of Fact Pty Ltd: $69,100

 · Ethos Urban Pty Ltd: $54,600

 · Greg Murphy: $209,000

 · Hames Sharley (NSW) Pty Ltd: $324,000

Other consultants over $50,000: 

 · Jones Lang LaSalle - consultants used on the valuation 
of the AM collection: $143,000

 · Interaction Consortium - consultant used on the AM 
Website redevelopment/migration project: $465,000

 · Capital C Pty Ltd: $187,668

21 consultancies of $50,000 or less totalling $357,208 
were engaged in the following areas: 

 · PR/Marketing (2)

 · Tourism (2)

 · Legal and professional services (7)

 · Website re-development (2)

 · Master Plan (8)

The Australian Museum collects consumer feedback 
responses in a variety of ways:

 · Onsite feedback 

 · Electronic feedback

 · AM social media commentary (Instagram,  
Facebook, Twitter) 

 · External electronic consumer feedback 

Consumer feedback is collated into a monthly report 
which is shared with relevant AM staff and consultants 
to improve customer service. Any issues which can be 
rectified are done so as soon as possible. All consumers 
which provide contact information and seek a response 
are responded to within 72 hours. If the issue is complex a 
timeframe for a formal response is provided. 

Consumer Feedback Summary

In financial year 2017-18 the AM collected 533 pieces of 
consumer feedback. Of this, 374 were positive (70%) and 
162 sought improvements (30%).

Table S.1  
Summary of consumer feedback 2017-18

 Month Positive Negative TOTAL

Jul-17 44 22 66

Aug-17 34 17 51

Sep-17 22 10 32

Oct-17 41 20 61

Nov-17 43 12 55

Dec-17 37 25 62

Jan-18 49 23 72

Feb-18 13 7 20

Mar-18 33 5 38

Apr-18 6 8 14

May-18 10 5 15

Jun-18 39 8 47

TOTAL 371 162 533
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The majority of positive feedback included general 
comments about the customer experience or related 
to exhibition and programming content. The majority of 
negative feedback was related to admission charges.

Other Trends

Many comments indicate that visitors are satisfied with the 
level of interactive content provided at the AM, however 
there are some consumer responses which highlight a 
need for more interactive content for both children and 
adults. 

Comments regarding the No. 1 William Café on level 4 
also trend in visitor feedback. Many comments praise the 
standards and panoramic views that the café provides, 
while others suggest improvements to service during busy 
school holiday periods and give feedback on the menu 
selection.
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 · 68 Digivol Lab volunteers continued digitising collections 
including completing imaging of the Malacology 
collection. The John Landy collection of butterflies was 
imaged using a high-resolution camera.

 · 224 Streamwatch volunteers, an increase this year of 36 
volunteers, monitored 114 sites across greater Sydney. 
The 53 groups conducted 476 water quality monitoring 
visits supported by AM staff and other stakeholders. 
Volunteers include TAFE and university students and 
graduates, teachers, environmental professionals, 
retirees, residents, local council staff and Bush Care 
groups. With more than 25 years of water quality data 
collected by Streamwatch volunteers, Streamwatch 
Program Co-Ordinator Greg McDonald authored the 
Streamwatch Indications for New Guidelines report 
SING 2017. The report is to provide citizen scientists 
and others, with locally relevant, expected bandwidths 
of values for several water quality parameters rather 
than a set of triggers as delineated in the more generic 
guidelines. 

 · In addition some AM staff also choose to volunteer their 
time and expertise at after-hours events including the 
AM Eureka Prizes and the AM Foundation Gala Dinner.

Table T.1  

Summary of volunteer groups 2017-18

Division Number Unit

Engagement, 
Exhibitions 
and Cultural 
Connection

385

Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Collection, Pacific 
& International Collections, 
Visitor Experience & 
Education, Archives, Rare 
Books and Library Collection, 
Programming

Australian Museum 
Research Institute 369

Life Science, Digital 
Collections & Citizen 
Science, Materials 
Conservation

Australian Museum 
Research Institute 14 Lizard Island Research 

Station

Australian Museum 
Research Institute 
online volunteers

3,258 DigiVol Online

Marketing 
Communications & 
Partnerships

1 Marketing & Memberships

Note: A small number of volunteers volunteered in more than one 
department. Totals also include volunteers who retired from volunteering 
in 2017-18.

Appendix T 
Museum Volunteers 

The Australian Museum is enormously grateful to the many 
volunteers who generously give their time and provide 
skills to the many programs across the organization. A 
total of 701 volunteers have supported staff, visitors and 
community onsite and offsite in 2017-18 contributing more 
than 80,000 hours of service. 

In addition, 3,258 DigiVol Online volunteers completed 
more than 420,000 data transcription tasks in 2017-18. 
A further 1,143 new DigiVol Online volunteers joined the 
web-based program this year. 

In December 2017, Director and CEO Kim McKay and 
other senior staff thanked volunteers for their generous 
contribution with an annual volunteer event that 
included special recognition for Karin Brown (10 years, 
Science Engagement and Events); Les Bassett and Denise 
Playoust (both 15 years, Front of House); Angela Low (15 
years, Marine Invertebrates); Rosemary Pryor (15 years, 
Malacology); Jean Wiener (20 years, Entomology) and Ray 
Biddle (30 years, front-of-house). Ray was also awarded 
a Medal of the Order of Australia (OAM) in the Queen’s 
Birthday 2018 Honours List recognising his service to 
the community through a range of roles including his 
volunteering at the AM.

Volunteers are mostly long-term (more than one year) and 
attend regularly (one day a week). Increasing numbers of 
volunteers are assisting on one-off or short term events 
and programs such as Sydney Science Festival and Murder 
at the Museum. Lizard Island Research Station also hosted 
14 volunteers this year. Volunteer activities included:

 · 461 onsite volunteers provided more than 80,000 hours 
of service in 2017-18.

 · 116 Events volunteers gained skills and experience 
assisting Programming staff and visitors at after hours 
and one-off visitor events including Jurassic Lounge, 
Night Talks, Culture Up Late, Seniors Day, Australian 
Museum Free Weekend and Murder at the Museum.

 · 72 short-term volunteers assisted staff with schools and 
families during the Australian Museum Science Festival 
in August 2018. These volunteers were invited to join the 
Events volunteer program.

 · 60 Front-of-house volunteers connected with visitors 
offering general information, orientation tours 
and ‘hands on’ experiences using real objects and 
specimens in the public galleries. Volunteers received 
training to enable them to assist visitors in the Westpac 
Long Gallery.
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Appendix U 
Accessibility and Inclusion 
Action Plan 

The AM launched its new Accessibility and Inclusion Action 
Plan (AIAP) in January 2018. The AIAP is committed to 
best practice and strives to position the AM as a leader 
in the Australian and International Arts communities by 
implementing the following actions:

 · Access solutions will adhere to the principles of social 
equity, inclusion and dignity.

 · Access requirements will be embedded in the planning 
stage of new initiatives.

 · Initiatives will comply with relevant disability and access 
standards, and aim to go beyond compliance.

 · Consultation with individuals with disability will be 
undertaken for all future key initiatives.

 · Access solutions will be addressed while respecting the 
AM’s heritage obligations.

The AM’s new Accessibility and Inclusion Action Plan 2018-
21 (AIAP) builds on the former Disability Inclusion Action 
Plan (2015-17), shifting the focus to social and physical 
inclusion rather than disability. In the first year of the 
Accessibility and Inclusion Action Plan, the following has 
been achieved: 

 · Developed an accessibility map in consultation with the 
Advisory Panel 

 · Increased audio tours as well as audio descriptive tours 
on the AM app 

 · Hosted and presented at ‘Accessing the Arts Group’ run 
by Accessible Arts 

 · Consultation on all significant projects with the Advisory 
Panel including the Master Plan and new exhibitions 

 · Programming and curating accessible/inclusive events

 · Giant Steps school attended the AM after site visits from 
the education team 

 · Science Festival’s Accessibility Guide was developed in 
consultation with the Advisory Panel

The AM’s Advisory Panel continues to meet every 2-3 
months to support and oversee the success of the AM’s 
AIAP actions. 
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Appendix V 
Sustainable Practices 

Waste Reduction and Recyling

The AM’s recycling and waste systems aim is to reduce 
waste in both public and non-public areas. The AM has 
eight recycling waste streams including: fluorescent 
lights, print cartridges, batteries, mobile phones, soft 
plastic, organics, cardboard and paper, plastic/glass and 
aluminium as well as general waste. 

An independent audit was conducted of the AM waste 
stream to identify and encourage improved diversion from 
landfill. The audit was also used to inform the Green Star 
Waste from Operations Management Plan and Green Star 
Waste from Refurbishment Management Plan. 

The overall waste for 2017-18 (not including liquid waste) 
was 85.74 tonnes. Of this total, 42.86 tonnes was diverted 
from landfill for recycling or reuse, resulting in a total of 
41 tonnes of Co2 being diverted from release into the 
atmosphere. 

Energy Management

The Australian Museum (AM) Carbon Footprint is the 
baseline measurement for emissions at the AM. From this 
report, a pathway has been developed moving towards the 
AM’s 2020 goals of carbon neutrality. 

The AM’s Carbon Footprint total for the 2016 annual 
report was conducted under the NoCO2 Program 
and was 13,186.87 tCO2e. NoCO2 calculates embeded 
emissions and is beyond what the national standard 
requires. The reworked version of the Carbon Footprint 
for 2016 to provide the operational carbon emission was 
4,700.86 Tonnes of CO2e. For 2017 the Carbon Footprint 
was calculated in alignment with the National Carbon 
Offsetting Standards and so is slightly higher as new 
emission boundaries were reached. The total Carbon 
footprint for 2017 -18 is 5,302.6 tCO2e. 

Energy Management projects undertaken in the last year 
include: 

 · HVAC (Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning) system 
has been upgraded with new air handling units in 
the Lewis Wing and Demountable Building to ensure 
optimum energy efficiency.

 · The Museum continues to manage the air conditioning 
of its collections at peak optimum performance, 
allowing for a set amount of temperature and humidity 
drift as the air handling units are shut down for periods.

Table V.1 
Energy usage at the Australian Museum, 2015-2018

Year 2015-16 2016-2017 2017-2018

Energy use 
(kWh) 3,915,544 3,735,193 3,828,094

Gas (MJ) 7,957,671 6,446,829 7,008,605
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Appendix W 
Accounts payable 
performance 

TIn accordance with Treasury Circular TC 11/21 and 
Schedule 1 of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) 
Regulation 2015 the following tables provide details 
relating to the AM’s accounts payable for the financial year. 

Table W.1  
Ageing of accounts payable at end of each quarter ($ thousand)

Quarter Current
0-30 days 

overdue
31-60 days 

overdue
61-90 days 

overdue
90+ days 
overdue

All suppliers

Sep 2017   5,807 663 207 10 47

Dec 2017 5,404 1,299 172 50 168

Mar 2018 3,945 1,060 212 48 72

Jun 2018 5,065 477 162 86 91

Small business suppliers

Sep 2017 1 - -

Dec 2017 2 - - -

Mar 2018 4 - - -

Jun 2018 3 - - -
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Table W.2  
Accounts payable performance by quarter

Measure Sep 2017 Dec 2017 Mar 2018 Jun 2018 Total

All suppliers

Number of accounts due for payment (#) 1,375 1,591 1,477 1,658 6,101

Number of accounts paid on time (#) 1,216 1,299 1,176 1,446 5,137

Actual percentage of accounts paid on time (% based on 
number of accounts) 88% 82% 80% 87% 84%

Dollar amount of accounts due for payment (k$) 6,734 7,093 5,337 5,881 25,045

Dollar amount of accounts paid on time (k$) 5,807 5,404 3,945 5,065 20,221

Actual percentage of accounts paid on time (% based on $) 86% 76% 74% 86% 81%

Number of payments for interest on overdue accounts (#) - - - - -

Interest paid on overdue accounts (k$) - - - - -

Small business suppliers

Number of accounts due for payment to small businesses (#) 1 3 4 8 16

Number of accounts due to small businesses paid on time (#) - 3 4 6 13

Actual percentage of small business accounts paid on time 
(% based on number of accounts) 0% 100% 100% 75% 81%

Dollar amount of accounts due for payment to small busi-
nesses (k$) 1 2 4 3 10

Dollar amount of accounts due to small businesses paid on 
time (k$) - 2 4 2 8

Actual percentage of small business accounts paid on time 
(% based on $) 0% 100% 100% 71% 84%

Number of payments to small business for interest on over-
due accounts (#)   -   -   -   -   - 

Interest paid to small businesses on late accounts (k$)   -   -   -   -   - 






